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AUDIT REPORT ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ISSUED BY AN INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

(Translation of a report and financial statements originally issued in Spanish. In the event of discrepancy, the
Spanish-language version prevails. See note 52.)

To the shareholders of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A.:

Report on the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. (hereinafter, the
“Bank™), which comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2022, the income statement, the
statement of recognized income and expenses, the statement of total changes in equity, the
statement of cash flows, and the notes thereto for the year then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view, in all material
respects, of the equity and financial position of the Bank as at December 31, 2022 and of its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the applicable regulatory
framework for financial information in Spain (identified in Note 1.2 to the accompanying financial
statements) and, specifically, the accounting principles and criteria contained therein.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with prevailing audit regulations in Spain. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the ethical requirements, including those related
to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Spain as required by
prevailing audit regulations. In this regard, we have not provided non-audit services nor have any
situations or circumstances arisen that might have compromised our mandatory independence in a
manner prohibited by the aforementioned requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our audit opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Estimate of impairment losses due to credit risk on the portfolio of loans and advances to
customers at amortized cost

Description

The Bank's portfolio of loans and advances to customers at amortized cost presented
a balance of Euros 212,297 million at December 31, 2022, net of valuation
adjustments. Valuation adjustments included Euros 4,824 million of provisions for
impairment losses due to credit risk, as disclosed in notes 5 and 12 to the
accompanying financial statements. Estimating provisions for impairment on the
portfolio of loans and advances to customers at amortized cost is important and
complex. It considers a number of variables, such as classification of the financial
assets, the use of measurement methods and models, and the estimate of
assumptions used in the calculation. Allowances and provisions are calculated on
both an individual and collective basis. This calculation requires high degree of
judgment by management according to the principles and policies applied by the
Bank, as described in notes 2 and 5 to the accompanying financial statements.

For the purpose of estimating impairment of financial assets classified as loans and
advances to customers measured at amortized cost are classified into three
categories or stages according to whether a significant increase in credit risk since
their initial recognition has been identified (stage 2), whether the financial assets are
credit-impaired (stage 3), or whether neither of these circumstances has arisen
(stage 1). Establishing this classification is a relevant process for the Bank as the
calculation of allowances and provisions for credit risk varies depending on the stage
in which the financial asset has been included.

Individual estimates of impairment losses consider the borrower's payment capacity
based on estimates of its future business performance and the market value of the
collateral provided for credit transactions.

Meanwhile, collective estimates of impairment losses are performed by means of
internal models that use large databases, different macroeconomic scenarios, and
present, past and future information. Estimating impairment losses is a highly
automated and complex process that relies on segmentation criteria for exposures
and the use of judgment in determining exposure at default (EAD) and the parameters
of expected loss: probability of default (PD) and loss given default (LGD). The Bank
periodically recalibrates and performs contrast tests on its internal models and
analyzes sensitivity to macroeconomic scenarios with a view to improving their
predictive power on the basis of actual past experience.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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Our
response

Additionally, as described in note 5 of the accompanying financial statements, the
Bank is exposed to risks derived from the macroeconomic, geopolitical environment
or associated with pandemics such as COVID-19, which have increased with the
outbreak of the conflict between Russia and Ukraine and increase the uncertainty
around the variables considered by the Bank in the quantification of impairment
losses. Consequently, as described in note 5, the Bank periodically reviews the effect
of these situations on its estimate and, where appropriate, makes temporary
adjustments to the results of the internal models to reflect the effects of the factors
described above and that may not be identified in the general process of collective
estimation of impairment losses.

Given the importance for the Bank of the portfolio of loans and advances to
customers at amortized cost and, thus, the related allowances and provisions, the
complexity and high degree of judgment used in classifying exposures and calculating
those allowances and provisions, we determined the estimate of impairment losses
due to credit risk on this portfolio to be a key audit matter.

Our audit approach in relation to this matter included understanding the processes
put in place by management to estimate impairment of loans and advances to
customers at amortized cost due to credit risk, evaluating the design and
implementation of the relevant controls established in those processes and verifying
their operating effectiveness, and performing tests of detail on that estimate, to
which end we involved our credit risk specialists. We focused on evaluating the
methodology applied by the Bank to calculate expected losses, the data and
assumptions used in determining the expected loss parameters, the macroeconomic
variables used, and the gualitative and quantitative criteria used to adjust the
collective allowances and provisions arising from the internal models and the
mathematical accuracy of the calculations.

Our procedures related to the assessment of the design and implementation of the
relevant controls and verification of their operating effectiveness focused primarily
on:

Credit risk management framework, including the design and approval of
accounting policies, and of the methodologies and models for estimating
expected loss.

Classification of transactions into stages based on credit risk, whether or not
there has been an increase in credit risk since their initial recognition or whether
they are credit-impaired based on criteria defined by the Bank.

The methods and assumptions used to estimate EAD, PD and LGD and to
determine the macroeconomic variables and the integrity, accuracy and
updating of the databases used to calculate expected loss.

The control framework on internal models for the collective estimate of
impairment losses and the variables used to estimate impairment losses
calculated individually.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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The governance framework on additional adjustments to impairment losses
identified in the general process and, where applicable, adaptation of the
estimate accordingly, considering uncertainties in markets deriving from
macroeconomic scenarios and other geopolitical issues.

Activities by the Internal Validation Unit in relation to the recalibration and
contrast testing of the models for estimating collective impairment losses.

Our tests of detail on the estimated impairment losses included the following:

We assessed the suitability of accounting policies applied by the Bank in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

We performed a test of detail on the integrity, accuracy and updating of the
databases used by the Bank in determining the stage of exposures and the
estimate of expected loss parameters (e.q., days past due, existence of
refinancing operations or value of collateral and guarantees and, with the
involvement of our economic research specialists, the estimate of
macroeconomic variables). We also performed tests of detail on a sample of
transactions to assess the correctness of their classification and segmentation
for purposes of estimating impairment.

We assessed the suitability of the discounted cash flow models used by the Bank
for estimating impairment losses on an individual basis. We also reviewed a
sample of transactions to assess the correctness of their classification and the
assumptions used by management to identify and quantify impairment losses,
including the borrower's financial position, forecasts of future cash flows and,
where applicable, the value of collateral and guarantees, as well as the discount
rates applied. We evaluated, during our analysis, how management factored the
aid initiatives promoted by the governments of the various countries in which the
Bank operates into these borrowers' cash flow projections.

We evaluated, with the assistance of our credit risk specialists, the approach and
methodology used by the Bank for collectively estimating impairment losses by
analyzing a sample of internal models. We also assessed the operation of the
expected loss calculation engine by recalculating impairment losses on a
collective basis for a sample of credit portfolios.

We assessed the suitability of making additional adjustments to the impairment
losses identified in the general process and evaluated the correctness of the data
and assumptions used by the Bank in its calculation.

In addition, we assessed whether the detailed disclosures in the notes to the financial
statements were prepared in conformity with the criteria provided in the financial
reporting framework applicable to the Bank.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Description

At December 31, 2022, the Bank had financial assets and financial liabilities
recognized at fair value that had been measured using valuation techniques as no
guoted price in an active market was available. Therefore, they were classified, for
measurement purposes, in levels 2 or 3, as disclosed in note 6 to the accompanying
financial statements.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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In the absence of a quoted price in an active market, determining the fair value of
financial instruments requires an estimate using valuation techniques that may take
into consideration market data that are neither directly nor indirectly observable, or
complex pricing models which involves a high degree of judgment by management.
Therefore, we determined the estimate of fair value using this valuation method to be
a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures focused on assessing the models and valuation methods used
by the Bank to estimate fair value of financial instruments for which there is no
quoted price in active markets. To do so, we obtained an understanding of the
process followed by management to measure these financial instruments, assessed
the design and implementation of the relevant controls established by the Bank in
that process, and verified the operating effectiveness of those controls. We also
performed tests of detail on the estimates made by the Bank, with the involvement of
our financial instrument valuation specialists.

Our procedures related to the assessment of the design and implementation of the
relevant controls of the process and verification of their operating effectiveness
focused primarily on:

Risk management framework and controls related to operations in financial
markets.

The design and approval of accounting policies, and of the methodologies and
models for measuring fair value of financial instruments, and its effect on the
fair value hierarchy.

Analysis of the integrity, accuracy and updating of the data used for measuring
financial instruments, and of the control and management process in place with
regard to existing databases.

Our procedures as regards the tests of detail performed were as follows:

We assessed the reasonableness of the most significant valuation models used
by the Bank, and of the significant assumptions applied, particularly inputs not
directly observable in the market, such as interest rates, issuer credit risk,
volatility and correlations between these factors.

For a sample of financial instruments for which there is no quoted price in active
markets measured at fair value, we assessed the correctness of their
classification for measurement purposes, the appropriateness of the valuation
criteria applied and the reasonableness of their valuation by contrasting this
with a valuation performed independently by our specialists.

In addition, we assessed whether the detailed disclosures in the notes to the financial
statements were prepared in conformity with the criteria provided in the financial
reporting framework applicable to the Bank.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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Tender offer and assessment of the impairment of the investment in Tirkiye Garanti Bankasi A.S.

Description

Our
response

As described in note 14 to the accompanying financial statements, on May 18, 2022,
the Bank announced the end of the acceptance period for the voluntary takeover bid,
announced on November 15, 2021, for the shares it did not control in Tlrkiye Garanti
Bankas! A.S. ("Garanti BBVA") with the acquisition of a 36.12% stake in Garanti
BBVA.

The total amount paid by the Bank was approximately 22,758 million Turkish lira
(approximately Euros 1.39 billion), including transaction costs and net of dividends
received in proportion to the interest acquired.

The Bank holds the investment in Garanti BBV A valued at historical cost, evaluating
the recoverability of the investment at each closing and accounting for the
corresponding impairment. As of December 31, 2022, after analyzing the available
evidence, the Bank has recorded an impairment recovery amounting to Euro 647
million. This analysis has been based on the estimate of the recoverable value of the
cash-generating unit to which Garanti BBVA is assigned, and has entailed the use of
judgment by the Bank's Management in determining the hypotheses to be considered
in said valuation such as the cost of capital and the perpetual growth rate.

Our audit approach for this transaction and the valuation of the investment included
understanding the processes utilized by Management for the aforementioned
valuation estimate, assessing the design and implementation of the relevant controls
established for these processes, and verifying their operating effectiveness, as well
as performing tests of detail on the estimate. For this purpose, we involved our
valuation specialists, focusing on the evaluation of the methodology applied by the
Bank, and the data and assumptions used.

Our procedures relating to assessing the design and implementation of the relevant
controls and verifying the operating their effectiveness, included the following:

Assessing the design and application of the governance framework and the
Bank's accounting policies.

Examining the key controls related to the process of valuing the group
investments and, in particular the investment in Garanti BBVA.

The tests of detail primarily included:

Reviewing the documentation related to the tender offer and checking that the
transaction was properly recorded.

Reviewing the business plan prepared by Garanti BBVA and the main financial
projections used by management to calculate recoverable cash flows in the
Turkish cash-generating unit.

Involving our valuation specialists in assessing the reasonableness of the
methodology used and the adequacy of the related valuation model, as well in
reviewing the financial assumptions used in.

Verifying the arithmetical accuracy of the calculations made in the valuation
model.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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In addition, we assessed whether the detailed disclosures in the notes to the financial
statements were prepared in conformity with the criteria provided in the financial
reporting framework applicable to the Bank.

Risks associated with information technology

Description

Our
response

Other matters

The continuity of the Bank's business operations is highly dependent upon its IT
infrastructure. In this respect, the Bank has a complex technological operating
environment, with large data processing centers in Spain providing support to the
various countries in which the Bank operates, as well as local data processing
centers. This technological environment must reliably and efficiently satisfy business
requirements and ensure that the Bank's financial information is processed correctly.

In this environment, it is essential to assess issues such as the organization and risk
management framework of the Technology area, which must ensure appropriate
management of technological risks that could impact on information systems, as well
as controls on physical and logical security and managing, developing and exploiting
systems, databases and applications used in the financial reporting process. We have
therefore determined the risks associated with information technology to be a key
audit matter.

Within the context of our audit, we obtained an understanding, with the assistance of
our specialists in information technology, of the information flows and the internal
control environment of the Bank regarding the operating systems, databases and
applications involved in the financial reporting process. Our audit procedures
included, among others:

Evaluating the risk management framework related to technological risks.

Testing access controls, change management and logical security to key
operating systems, databases and applications for generating financial
information.

Testing controls over maintenance, development and use of applications and
systems that are relevant to processing financial information.

Testing automated controls operating in relevant processes used in generating
financial information.

Evaluating the design, degree of implementation and operation of the changes
made by Management to strengthen access controls in the environment of
certain applications, as well as testing compensating controls or other
mitigating factors established by Management.

On February 11, 2022, other auditors issued their audit report on the 2021 financial statements, in
which they expressed an unqualified opinion.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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Other information: management report

Other information refers exclusively to the 2022 management report, the preparation of which is the
responsibility of the Bank's directors and is not an integral part of the financial statements.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the management report. Our
responsibility for the management report, in conformity with prevailing audit regulations in Spain,
entails:

a. Checking only that the non-financial statement and certain information included in the
Corporate Governance Report and in the Board Remuneration Report, to which the Audit Law
refers, was provided as stipulated by applicable regulations and, if not, disclose this fact.

b. Assessing and reporting on the consistency of the remaining information included in the
management report with the financial statements, based on the knowledge of the entity
obtained during the audit, in addition to evaluating and reporting on whether the content and
presentation of this part of the management report are in conformity with applicable
regulations. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are material
misstatements, we are required to disclose this fact.

Based on the work performed, as described above, we have verified that the information referred to
in paragraph a) above is provided as stipulated by applicable regulations and that the remaining
information contained in the management report is consistent with that provided in the 2022
financial statements and its content and presentation are in conformity with applicable regulations.

Responsibilities of the directors and the audit committee for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the accompanying financial statements so that
they give a true and fair view of the equity, financial position and results of the Bank, in accordance
with the regulatory framework for financial information applicable to the Bank in Spain, identified in
Note 2 to the accompanying financial statements, and for such internal control as they determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Bank's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Bank or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Bank's financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with prevailing audit regulations in Spain will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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As part of an audit in accordance with prevailing audit regulations in Spain, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Bank's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the director's use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Bank's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Bank to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the audit committee of the Bank regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the audit committee of the Bank with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements, including those related to independence, and to communicate with
them all matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee of the Bank, we determine those matters
that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter.

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

European single electronic format

We have examined the digital file of the European single electronic format (ESEF) of Banco Bilbao
Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. for the 2022 financial year, consisting of an XHTML file containing the
financial statements for the year, which will form part of the annual financial report.

The directors of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. are responsible for submitting the annual
financial report for the 2022 financial year, in accordance with the formatting requirements set out in
Delegated Regulation EU 2019/815 of 17 December 2018 of the European Commission (hereinafter
referred to as the ESEF Regulation). In this regard, the Corporate Governance Report and the Board
remuneration report have been incorporated by reference in the management report.

Our responsibility consists of examining the digital file prepared by the directors of the Bank, in
accordance with prevailing audit regulations in Spain. These standards require that we plan and
perform our audit procedures to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the contents of the
financial statements included in the aforementioned digital file correspond in their entirety to those
of the financial statements that we have audited, and whether the financial statements and the
aforementioned file have been formatted, in all material respects, in accordance with the ESEF
Regulation.

In our opinion, the digital file examined corresponds in its entirety to the audited financial
statements, which are presented, in all material respects, in accordance with the ESEF Regulation.

Additional report to the Audit Committee

The opinion expressed in this audit report is consistent with the additional report we issued to the
Audit Committee on February 13, 2023.

Term of engagement

The ordinary general shareholders' meeting held on March 18, 2022 appointed us as auditors for 3
years, commencing on January 1, 2022.

ERNST & YOUNG, S.L.
(Registered in the Official Register of
Auditors under No. S0530)

(Signed in the original version in Spanish)

José Carlos Hernandez Barrasus
(Registered in the Official Register of
Auditors under No. 17469)

February 13, 2023

A member firm of Emst & Young Global Limited
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Translation of Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and as amended thereafter,
which adapts the EU-IFRS for banks (see notes 1 to 51). In the event of a discrepancy, the original Spanish-language version prevails.

BBVA

BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A.

Balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021

ASSETS (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021 ™M
CASH, CASH BALANCES AT CENTRAL BANKS AND OTHER DEMAND DEPOSITS 7 52,973 38,821
FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD FOR TRADING 8 91,391 105,391
Derivatives 35,023 28,389
Equity instruments 3,361 15,146
Debt securities 1,318 11,546
Loans and advances to central banks 1,632 3,467
Loans and advances to credit institutions 23,969 31,300
Loans and advances to customers 16,089 15,543
NON-TRADING FINANCIAL ASSETS MANDATORILY AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 9 546 437
Equity instruments 438 172
Debt securities 107 125
Loans and advances to customers — 140
FINANCIAL ASSETS DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 10 - -
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME n 24,854 28,205
Equity instruments 977 1,103
Debt securities 23,877 27,102
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTIZED COST 12 246,950 231,276
Debt securities 25,313 22,312
Loans and advances to central banks 10 254
Loans and advances to credit institutions 9,329 8,371
Loans and advances to customers 212,297 200,339
DERIVATIVES - HEDGE ACCOUNTING 13 1,169 841
FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF THE HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES OF INTEREST RATE RISK 13 (148) 5
INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES 14 21,960 17,504
Subsidiaries 21,644 17,226
Joint ventures 36 54
Associates 280 225
TANGIBLE ASSETS 15 3,531 3,482
Properties, plant and equipment 3,432 3,396
For own use 3,432 3,396
Other assets leased out under an operating lease — —
Investment properties 99 87
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 855 841
Goodwill — —
Other intangible assets 855 841
TAX ASSETS 17 12,479 12,294
Current tax assets 1,629 546
Deferred tax assets 10,850 11,748
OTHER ASSETS 18 1,677 2,296
Insurance contracts linked to pensions 22 1,337 1,882
Inventories — —
Other 340 414
NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 19 651 885
m Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1.3).

The Notes and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheets as of December 31, 2022.
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Translation of Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and as amended thereafter,
which adapts the EU-IFRS for banks (see notes 1 to 51). In the event of a discrepancy, the original Spanish-language version prevails.

BBVA

BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A.

Balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021 ™M
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES HELD FOR TRADING 8 80,853 77,859
Derivatives 30,954 27,054
Short positions 11,408 13,148
Deposits from central banks 2,161 8,946
Deposits from credit institutions 28,107 14,821
Customer deposits 8,224 13,890
Debt certificates — —
Other financial liabilities — —
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES DESIGNATED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR 10 1,859 2,238

LOSS
Deposits from central banks — —
Deposits from credit institutions — —
Customer deposits 1,859 2,238
Debt certificates — —

Other financial liabilities — —

Subordinated liabilities — —
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZED COST 20 335,941 321,848
Deposits from central banks 32,517 40,839
Deposits from credit institutions 20,200 14,936
Customer deposits 234,797 216,452
Debt certificates 38,511 37,866
Other financial liabilities 9,915 11,756

Memorandum item: Subordinated liabilities 9,106 9,912
DERIVATIVES - HEDGE ACCOUNTING 13 2,599 2,126
FAIR VALUE CHANGES OF THE HEDGED ITEMS IN PORTFOLIO HEDGES OF 13 _ _
INTEREST RATE RISK
PROVISIONS 21 3,385 4,488
Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit obligations 2,085 3,027
Other long term employee benefits 433 600
Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies 388 401
Commitments and guarantees given 280 310
Other provisions 198 150
TAX LIABILITIES 17 943 999
Current tax liabilities 190 187
Deferred tax liabilities 753 812
OTHER LIABILITIES 18 2,552 1,885
LIABILITIES INCLUDED IN DISPOSAL GROUPS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE - -
TOTAL LIABILITIES 428,133 411,443

m Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1.3).

The Notes and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as of December 31, 2022.
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BBVA

BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A.

Balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (Continued) (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021 ™M

STOCKHOLDERS' FUNDS 32,928 32,296
Capital 23 2,955 3,267
Paid up capital 2,955 3,267
Unpaid capital which has been called up — —
Share premium 24 20,856 23,599
Equity instruments issued other than capital - -
Equity component of compound financial instruments — —
Other equity instruments issued — —
Other equity 49 49
Retained earnings 25 5,453 6,436
Revaluation reserves 25 - -
Other reserves 25 (474) (1,026)
Less: treasury shares 26 (3) (574)
Profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent 4,816 1,080
Less: interim dividends 3 (724) (533)
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 27 (2,172) (1,461)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss (1,215) (1177)
Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit pension plans (32) (52)
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale — —
E?)inrq\éar\:euheearsl?vr;giiscg;eequity instruments measured at fair value through other 1 (1,256) 1.127)
Hedge ineffectiveness of fair value hedges for equity instruments measured at fair value _ _
through other comprehensive income

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other _ _

comprehensive income (hedged item)

Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other _ _

comprehensive income (hedging instrument)
Fair value changes of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss attributable to 72 P

changes in their credit risk

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss (957) (284)
Hedge of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion) — —
Foreign currency translation — —

Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges (effective portion) (492) (626)
Fair value changes of debt instruments measured at fair value through other

o (464) 342
comprehensive income 1

Hedging instruments (non-designated items) — —
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale — —

TOTAL EQUITY 30,756 30,836
TOTAL EQUITY AND TOTAL LIABILITIES 458,888 442,279
MEMORANDUM ITEM - OFF BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021 ™M
Loan commitments given 29 95,948 89,353
Financial guarantees given 29 16,305 11,662
Other commitments given 29 26,850 24,181

(1) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1.3).

The Notes and Appendices are an integral part of the balance sheet as of December 31, 2022.
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BBVA

BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A.
Income statements for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

INCOME STATEMENTS (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021

Interestincome 33 5,903 4,289
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 498 235
Financial assets at amortized cost 5,416 3,426
Other interest income an 628
Interest expense 33 (2,083) (861)
NET INTEREST INCOME 3,821 3,428
Dividend income 34 3,470 1,808
Fee and commission income 35 2,612 2,515
Fee and commission expense 36 (489) (463)
Gains (losses) on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit or loss, net 37 1 84
Financial assets at amortized cost — 23
Other financial assets and liabilities 1 61
Gains or (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 37 438 295
Reclassification of financial assets from fair value through other comprehensive income — —
Reclassification of financial assets from amortized cost — —
Other profit or loss 438 295
Gains (losses) on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss, net 37 [G))) M4
Reclassification of financial assets from fair value through other comprehensive income — —
Reclassification of financial assets from amortized cost - -
Other profit or loss (51 na
Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net 37 128 45
Gains (losses) from hedge accounting, net 37 — (36)
Exchange differences, net 37 (122) 56
Other operating income 38 339 170
Other operating expense 38 (642) (546)
GROSS INCOME 9,503 7,470
Administrative expense 39 (3,755) (3.693)
Personnel expense 2.217) (2,237)
Other administrative expense (1,538) (1,456)
Depreciation and amortization 40 (638) (639)
Provisions or reversal of provisions 41 (50) (950)
:;nopda;ifli'gcteir;tnor reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss or net gains by 42 (521) (475)
Financial assets measured at amortized cost (504) (482)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (16) 7
NET OPERATING INCOME 4,539 1714
Impairment or reversal of impairment of investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 43 642 (911)
Impairment or reversal of impairment on non-financial assets 44 7 (167)
Tangible assets 21 (164)
Intangible assets (15) 4
Other assets 1 1
Gains (losses) on derecognition of non - financial assets and subsidiaries, net — 3
Negative goodwill recognized in profit or loss — —
Gains (losses) from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations 45 (26) 107
PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 5,163 746
Tax expense or income related to profit or loss from continuing operations 17 (347) 58
PROFIT (LOSS) AFTER TAX FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 4,816 803
Profit (loss) after tax from discontinued operations - 277
PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 4,816 1,080

(1) Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1.3).

The Notes and Appendices are an integral part of the income statement for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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BBVA

BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A.

Statements of recognized income and expense for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

STATEMENTS OF RECOGNIZED INCOME AND EXPENSE (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
PROFIT RECOGNIZED IN INCOME STATEMENT 4,816 1,080
OTHER RECOGNIZED INCOME (EXPENSE) (713) (349)
ITEMS NOT SUBJECT TO RECLASSIFICATION TO INCOME STATEMENT (40) 186
Actuarial gains (losses) from defined benefit pension plans 32 4)
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale - -
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive (129) 167
income
Gains (losses) from hedge accounting of equity instruments at fair value through other _ .
comprehensive income, net
Fair value changes of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss attributable to changes in
their credit risk 100 33
Other valuation adjustments — —
Income tax related to items not subject to reclassification to income statement 43) 10)
ITEMS SUBJECT TO RECLASSIFICATION TO INCOME STATEMENT (673) (535)
Hedge of net investments in foreign operations [effective portion] - -
Foreign currency translation - —
Translation gains (losses) taken to equity — —
Transferred to profit or loss — —
Other reclassifications — —
Cash flow hedges [effective portion] 191 (705)
Valuation gains (losses) taken to equity 191 (705)
Transferred to profit or loss — —
Transferred to initial carrying amount of hedged items — —
Other reclassifications — —
Hedging instruments [non-designated elements] - -
Valuation gains (losses) taken to equity — —
Transferred to profit or loss — —
Other reclassifications — —
Debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (1,152) (14)
Valuation gains (losses) taken to equity (1,148) 49
Transferred to profit or loss 4) (63)
Other reclassifications — —
Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale - -
Income tax relating to items subject to reclassification to income statements 288 184

m Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1.3).

The Notes and Appendices are an integral part of the statement of recognized income and expense for the year ended December 31,

2022.
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BBVA

BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A.
Statements of changes in equity for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Millions of Euros)

(-) Treasury
shares
(Note 26)

Profit or
loss
attributable
to owners
of the
parent

Interim
dividends
(Note 3)

Accumulate
d other
comprehen
sive income
(Note 27)

Total

Capital Share insf:::n“:nts Other Retained  Revaluation Other
2022 (Note 23)  Premium issued other Equit earnings reserves reserves
(Note24) g ; quity (Note25)  (Note25)  (Note 25)
an capital
Balances as of January 1, 2022 (1,026)
Total income/expense recognized - - - - - - -
Other changes in equity (313) (2,743) - 1 (983) - 553

Issuances of common shares - — - — — — —
Issuances of preferred shares — — — — — — —
Issuance of other equity instruments - — — — — — —

Period or maturity of other issued equity instruments - — — - — — —
Conversion of debt on equity - — - — — — —
Common Stock reduction (313) (2,743) - — 250 — (355)
Dividend distribution — - - - (1,467) — —
Purchase of treasury shares - — — — — _
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - — — — — — (6)

Reclassification of financial liabilities to other equity
instruments — — — — — — —

Reclassification of other equity instruments to financial
liabilities — — — — — — —

Transfers between total equity entries — — — 1 547 — 2)

Increase/Reduction of equity due to business
combinations — — — _ — — _

Share based payments — — — — — — _
Other increases or (-) decreases in equity - — — — (313) — 916

(574)

3,160
(2.879)
291

4,816
(1,080)

(1,080)

(533)

(1,461)
(713)
1

4,102
(4,182)

(2,190)
(2.879)
285

Balances as of December 31, 2022 2,955

The Notes and Appendices are an integral part of the statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2022.

(724)

(2,172)
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BBVA

BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A.
Statements of changes in equity for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (continued)

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (Millions of Euros)

Profit or

Equity loss Accumulate
Capi Share . Retained  Revaluation Other (-) Treasury N Interim d other
m apital . instruments Other . attributable . .
2021 (Note 23) Premium issued other Equit earnings reserves reserves shares to owners dividends  comprehen Total
(Note 24) th N quity (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 25) (Note 26) (Note 3) sive income
an capital of the
(Note 27)
parent
Balances as of January 1, 2021 3,267 23,992 (2,182) (1,124)
Total income/expense recognized - - - - - - - - 1,080 - (349) 731

Other changes in equity - (393) - 15 (2,423) - (1,058) (565) 2,182 (533) 13  (2,763)
Issuances of common shares — — — — _

Issuances of preferred shares — — — — — — — — — — _ _
Issuance of other equity instruments — — - — — — — — — — _ _

Settlement or maturity of other equity instruments issued — - — — - — — — — — — —
Conversion of debt on equity — — — - - — — — — — — —
Common Stock reduction — - - — — — — — — — — _
Dividend distribution — (393) - - - — — — — (533) - (927)
Purchase of treasury shares - - - - - - (925) - - - (925)
Sale or cancellation of treasury shares - - — — — — (4) 360 — — — 356

Reclassification of other equity instruments to financial
liabilities — — — — — — — — — _ _ _

Reclassification of financial liabilities to other equity
instruments — — — — — — — _ — _ _ _

Transfers within total equity — — — (2) (2,064) — (129) — 2,182 — 13 —

Increase/Reduction of equity due to business
combinations — — — — — — — — — _ _ _

Share based payments - — — — — _ _
Other increases or (-) decreases in equity - - — 17 (359) — (925) - - — — (1,267)

Balances as of December 31, 2021 3,267 (1,026) (574) 1,080 ((xX)) (1,461)

m Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1.3).

The Notes and Appendices are an integral part of the statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2022.
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BBVA

BANCO BILBAO VIZCAYA ARGENTARIA, S.A.

Statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

CASH FLOWS STATEMENTS (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021
A) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (1+2+3+4+5) 46 23,057 (12,004)
1.Profit (loss) for the year 4,816 1,080
2.Adjustments to obtain the cash flow from operating activities: (629) 1,313
Depreciation and amortization 638 639
Other adjustments (1,268) 674
3.Net increase/decrease in operating assets 696 (15,123)
Financial assets held for trading 13,999 (20,093)
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (109) (26)
Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss — —
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 3,351 9,323
Financial assets at amortized cost (15,757) (5,494)
Other operating assets (788) 1,167
4.Net increase/decrease in operating liabilities 18,825 928
Financial liabilities held for trading 2,995 10,724
Other financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss (379) (1,029)
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 15,480 (9,209)
Other operating liabilities 729 443
5.Collection/Payments for income tax (651) (202)
B) CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES (1+2) 46 (2,753) 10,049
1.Investment (3,937) (502)
Tangible assets (60) (56)
Intangible assets (360) (319)
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates (3,516) (116)
Other business units — —
Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale and associated liabilities - 12)
Held-to-maturity investments — —
Other settlements related to investing activities — —
2.Divestments 1,184 10,551
Tangible assets 6 21
Intangible assets — —
Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates 852 77
Other business units — —
Non-current assets classified as held for sale and associated liabilities 326 10,453
Other collections related to investing activities — —
C) CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1 + 2) 46 (5,921) (3,028)
1. Payments (6,190) (3,540)
Dividends (shareholders remuneration) (2,190) (927)
Subordinated liabilities (881) (1,684)
Treasury share amortization (313) —
Treasury share acquisition (2,567) (929)
Other items relating to financing activities (240) —
2. Collections 270 512
Subordinated liabilities — —
Common stock increase — —
Treasury share disposal 270 356
Other items relating to financing activities — 156
D) EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES (231) (303)
E) NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D) 14,153 (5,286)
F) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 38,821 44,107
G) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR (E+F) 46 52,973 38,821
COMPONENTS OF CASH AND EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR (Millions of Euros)
Notes 2022 2021 ™M
Cash 7 972 830
Balance of cash equivalent in central banks 7 49,854 36,566
Other financial assets 7 2,147 1424
Less: Bank overdraft refundable on demand - -
TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE YEAR 52,973 38,821

(O} Presented for comparison purposes only (see Note 1.3).

The Notes and Appendices are an integral part of the statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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BBVA

Notes to the accompanying Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022.

1. Introduction, basis for the presentation of the Financial Statements, Internal
Control over Financial Reporting and other information

1.1. Introduction

Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria, S.A. (hereinafter “the Bank”, “BBVA" or “BBVA, S.A.") is a private-law entity subject to the laws and
regulations governing banking entities operating in Spain. It carries out its activity through branches and agencies across the country
and abroad.

The Bylaws and other public information are available for inspection at the Bank's registered address (Plaza San Nicoléas, 4 Bilbao) as
noted on its web site (www.bbva.com).

In addition to the activities it carries out directly, the Bank heads a group of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates which perform
a wide range of activities and which together with the Bank constitute the Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria Group (hereinafter the
“Group” or the "BBVA Group”). In addition to its own separate financial statements, the Bank is required to prepare Consolidated
Financial Statements comprising all consolidated subsidiaries of the Group.

The Bank's Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2021were approved by the shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting ("AGM") held on March 18,2022

The Bank’s Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 are pending approval by their respective AGMs. However,
the Board of Directors of the Bank believes that said financial statements will be approved without changes.

1.2. Basis for the presentation of the Financial Statements

The Bank's Financial Statements for 2022 are presented in compliance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, dated November 27, and
as amended thereafter (in the following, “Circular “4/2017), and with any other legislation governing financial reporting which is
applicable and with the format and mark-up requirements established in the EU Delegated Regulation 2019/815 of the European
Commission. The aforementioned Circular 4/2017 constitutes the development and adaptation to the Spanish credit institutions
sector of the International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU) in accordance with the provisions
of Regulation 1606/2002 of the Parliament and Council regarding the application of these rules.

The Bank's Financial Statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 were prepared by the Bank's directors (at the Board of
Directors meeting held on February 9, 2023) by applying the accounting policies and valuation criteria described in Note 2, so that
they present fairly the Bank's equity and financial position as of December 31, 2022, together with the results of its operations and
cash flows generated during the year ended on that date.

All effective accounting standards and valuation criteria with a significant effect in the Financial Statements were applied in their
preparation.

The amounts reflected in the accompanying Financial Statements are presented in millions of euros, unless it is more appropriate to
use smaller units. Some items that appear without a balance in these Financial Statements are due to how the units are expressed.
Also, in presenting amounts in millions of euros, the accounting balances have been rounded up or down. It is therefore possible that
the totals appearing in some tables are not the exact arithmetical sum of their component figures.

The percentage changes in amounts have been calculated using figures expressed in thousands of euros.
1.3. Comparative information

The comparative information included in the accompanying financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 has been
subject of certain no significant modifications with the purpose of a better comparability with the 2022 year figures.

1.4. Seasonal nature of income and expense

The nature of the most significant activities carried out by the Bank is mainly related to typical activities carried out by financial
institutions, and are not significantly affected by seasonal factors within the same year.
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1.5. Responsibility for the information and for the estimates made
The information contained in the Bank's Financial Statements is the responsibility of the Bank’s Directors.

Estimates were required to be made at times when preparing these Financial Statements in order to calculate the recorded or
disclosed amount of some assets, liabilities, income, expense and commitments. These estimates relate mainly to the following:

-  Loss allowances on certain financial assets (see Notes 5, 11,12 and 14).

—  The assumptions used to quantify certain provisions (see Note 21) and for the actuarial calculation of post-employment
benefit liabilities and commitments (see Note 22).

—  The useful life and impairment losses of tangible and intangible assets (see Notes, 15, 16 and 19).
—  Thefair value of certain unlisted financial assets and liabilities in organized markets (see Notes 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11 and 13).
— Therecoverability of deferred tax assets (see Note 17).

The great macroeconomic and geopolitical uncertainty (see Note 5.1) entails a greater complexity in developing reliable estimates and
applying judgment. Therefore, while these estimates have been made on the basis of the best available information on the matters
analyzed, as of December 31, 2022, it is possible that events may take place in the future which could make it necessary to amend
these estimations (upward or downward), which would be carried out prospectively, recognizing the effects of the change in
estimation in the corresponding income statements.

During 2022 there have been no other significant changes in the estimates made as of December 31, 2021, other than those
indicated in these Financial Statements.

1.6.  Control of the BBVA 's Financial Reporting

The description of BBVA Internal Control over Financial Reporting model is described in the management report accompanying the
consolidated Financial Statements for 2022.

1.7. Deposit guarantee fund and Resolution fund

The Bank is part of the “Fondo de Garantia de Depdsitos” (Deposit Guarantee Fund). The expense incurred by the contributions made
to this Agency in 2022 and 2021 amounted to €246 and €211 million, respectively. These amounts are registered under the heading
"Other operating expenses" of the accompanying income statements (see Note 38).

On the other hand, the contributions made to the single European resolution fund in the years 2022 and 2021 have amounted to €251
and €194 million respectively (see Note 38).

1.8. Consolidated Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the BBVA Group for the year ended December 31, 2022 have been prepared by the Group's
Directors (at the Board of Directors meeting held on February 9, 2023) in compliance with IFRS-IASB (International Financial
Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board), as well as in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the European Union (in the following “EU-IFRS™) and applicable at the close of 2021, taking
into account Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and with any other legislation governing financial reporting which are applicable and with
the format and markup requirements established in the EU Delegated Regulation 2019/815 of the European Commission

The management of the Group's operations is carried out on a consolidated basis, independently of the individual allocation of the
corresponding equity changes and their related results. Consequently, the Bank's annual Financial Statements have to be considered
within the context of the Group, due to the fact that they do not reflect the financial and equity changes that result from the
application of the consolidation policies (full consolidation or proportionate consolidation methods) or the equity method.

These changes are reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements of the BBVA Group for the year 2022, which the Bank's Board
of Directors has also prepared. Appendix | includes the Group's Consolidated Financial Statements. In accordance with the content of
these Consolidated Financial Statements prepared following the International Financial Reporting Standards adopted by the
European Union, the total amount of the BBVA Group's assets and consolidated equity at the close of 2022 amounted to €713,140

million and €50,615 million, respectively, while the consolidated net profit attributed to the parent company of this period amounted
to €6,420 million.

2. Accounting policies and valuation criteria applied

The Glossary includes the definition of some of the financial and economic terms used in Note 2 and subsequent Notes.
The accounting standards and policies and valuation criteria used in preparing these financial statements are as follows:
2.1 Investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group (for definition of control, see Glossary).
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Associates are entities in which the Group is able to exercise significant influence (for definition of significant influence, see Glossary).

Joint ventures are those entities for which there is a joint control arrangement with third parties other than the Group (for definitions
of joint arrangement, joint control and joint venture, refer to Glossary).

Valuation and impairment

Investments in the equity of group companies, joint ventures and associates are initially measured at cost, which is since the fair value
of the consideration given plus directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently, these investments are valued at cost less, if
applicable, the accumulated amount of impairment adjustments.

At least at year-end, and whenever there is objective evidence that the carrying value may not be recoverable, the corresponding
impairment test is performed to quantify the possible valuation adjustment. This valuation adjustment is calculated as the difference
between the book value and the recoverable amount, the latter being understood as the higher of its fair value at that time, less costs
to sell, and the value in use of the investment. Impairment losses and, if applicable, their reversal, are recorded as an expense or
income, respectively, in the income statement. The reversal of an impairment will be limited to the carrying amount of the investment
that would be recognized at the date of reversal if the impairment had not been recorded.

2.2 Financial instruments

Circular 4/2017 became effective as of January 1, 2018 and replace IAS 39 regarding the classification and measurement of financial
assets and liabilities, the, impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. However, the Bank has chosen to continue applying
IAS39 for accounting for hedges as permitted by the Circular itself.

2.2.1 Classification and measurement of financial assets
Classification of financial assets

Circular 4/2017 contains three main categories for financial assets classification: measured at amortized cost, measured at fair value
with changes through other comprehensive income, and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial instruments in the categories of amortized cost or fair value depends on the business model with which
the entity manages the assets and the contractual characteristics of the cash flows, commonly known as the "solely payments of
principal and interest" criterion (hereinafter the "SPPI").

The assessment of the business model should reflect the way the Bank manages groups of financial assets and does not depend on
the intention for an individual instrument.

In order to determine the business model, the following aspects are taken into account:

—  The way in which the performance of the business model (and that of the assets which comprise such business model) is
evaluated and reported to the entity's key personnel;

—  Therisks and their management, which affect the performance of the business model;
—  Theway in which business model managers are remunerated;

—  The frequency, amount and timing of sales in previous years, the reasons for such sales and expectations regarding future
sales.

In this sense, the Bank has established policies and has developed procedures to determine when the sales of financial assets
classified in the amortized cost category are considered infrequent (even when significant), or are insignificant (even when frequent),
to ensure compliance with such business model.

Furthermore, it is considered that any sales that may occur because the financial asset is close to maturity, due to an increase in
credit risk, or if necessary for liquidity needs, are compatible with the amortized cost model

Regarding the SPPI test, the analysis of the cash flows aims to determine whether the contractual cash flows of the assets correspond
only to payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding at the beginning of the transaction. Interest is
understood here as the consideration for the time value of money; and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a specific period; and for financing and structure costs, plus a profit margin.

The most significant judgments used by the Bank in evaluating compliance with the conditions of the SPPI test are the following:

—  Modified time value: in the event that a financial asset includes a periodic interest rate adjustment but the frequency of this
adjustment does not coincide with the term of the reference interest rate (for example, the interest rate reset every six
months to a one-year rate), the Group assesses, at the time of the initial recognition, this mismatch to determine whether
the contractual cash flows (undiscounted) differ significantly or not from the cash flows (undiscounted) of a benchmark
financial asset, for which there would be no change in the time value of money. The defined tolerance thresholds are 10% for
the differences in each period and 5% for the analysis accumulated throughout the financial asset life.
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- Contractual clauses: The contractual clauses that can modify the calendar or the amount of the contractual cash flows are
analyzed to verify if the contractual cash flows that would be generated during the life of the instrument due to the exercise
of those clauses are only payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. To do this, the contractual
cash flows that may be generated before and after the modification are analyzed.

The main criteria taken into account in the analysis are:

a. Early termination clauses: generally a contractual clause that permits the debtor to prepay a debt instrument
before maturity is consistent with SPPI when the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid
amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (which may include reasonable
additional compensation for the early termination of the contract).

b. Instruments with an interest rate linked to contingent events:

— Aninstrument whose interest rate is reset to a higher rate if the debtor misses a particular payment may
meet the SPPI criterion because of the relationship between missed payments and an increase in credit
risk.

— An instrument with contractual cash flows that are indexed to the debtor’'s performance — e.g. net
income or is adjusted based on a certain index or stock market value would not meet the SPPI criterion.

c. Perpetual instruments: to the extent that they can be considered instruments with continuous (multiple)
extension options, they meet the SPPI test if the contractual flows meet it. When the issuer can defer the
payment of interest, if such payment would affect their solvency, they would meet the SPPI test if the deferred
interest accrues additional interest, while if they do not, they would not meet the test.

- Non-recourse financial instruments: In the case of debt instruments that are repaid primarily with the cash flows of specific
assets or projects and the debtor has no legal responsibility, the underlying assets or cash flows are evaluated to determine
whether the contractual cash flows of the instrument are consistent with payments of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

a. If the contractual terms do not give rise to additional cash flows to payments of principal and interest on the
amount of principal outstanding or limitations to these payments, the SPPI test is met.

b. If the debt instrument effectively represents an investment in the underlying assets and its cash flows are
inconsistent with principal and interest (because they depend on the performance of a business), the SPPI
test is not met.

—  Contractually linked instruments: a look-through analysis is carried out in the case of transactions that are set through the
issuance of multiple financial instruments forming tranches that create concentrations of credit risk in which there is an
order of priority that specifies how the flows of cash generated by the underlying set of financial instruments are allocated
to the different tranches. The debt tranches of the instrument will comply with the requirement that their cash flows
represent only payment of principal and interest on the outstanding principal if:

a. The contractual terms of the tranche being assessed for classification (without looking through to the
underlying pool of financial instruments) give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding,

b. The underlying pool of financial instruments comprises instruments with cash flow that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, and

c. The exposure to credit risk in the underlying pool of financial instruments inherent in the tranche is equal to or
lower than the exposure to credit risk of the underlying pool of financial instruments (for example, the credit
rating of the tranche being assessed for classification is equal to or higher than the credit rating that would
apply to a single tranche that funded the underlying pool of financial instruments).

In any event, the contractual conditions that, at the time of the initial recognition, have a minimal effect on cash flows or depend on
the occurrence of exceptional and highly unlikely events do not prevent compliance with the conditions of the SPPI test.

Based on the above characteristics, financial assets will be classified and valued as described below.
A debt instrument will be classified in the amortized cost portfolio if the two following conditions are fulfilled:

— The financial asset is managed within a business model whose purpose is to maintain the financial assets to maturity, to
receive contractual cash flows; and

—  The contractual conditions of the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are only payments of principal and interest.
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A debt instrument will be classified in the portfolio of financial assets at fair value with changes through other comprehensive income
if the two following conditions are fulfilled:

—  Thefinancial asset is managed with a business model whose purpose combines collection of the contractual cash flows and
sale of the assets, and

—  The contractual characteristics of the instrument generate cash flows which only represent the return of the principal and
interest.

A debt instrument will be classified at fair value with changes in profit and loss provided that the entity's business model for their
management or the contractual characteristics of its cash flows do not require classification into one of the portfolios described
above.

In general, equity instruments will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. However BBVA may make an irrevocable election
at initial recognition to present subsequent changes in the fair value through “other comprehensive income”.

Financial assets will only be reclassified when BBVA decides to change the business model. In this case, all of the financial assets
assigned to this business model will be reclassified. The change of the objective of the business model should occur before the date
of the reclassification.

Measurement of financial assets

All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value, plus, those transaction costs which are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the particular instrument, with the exception of those financial assets which are classified at fair value through
profit or loss.

All changes in the value of financial assets due to the interest accrual and similar items are recorded in the headings "Interest income
and other similar income" or "Interest expense", of the income statement of the year in which the accrual occurred (see Note 33),
except in the case of trading derivatives that are not economic and accounting hedges.

The changes in fair value after the initial recognition, for reasons other than those mentioned in the preceding paragraph, are treated
as described below, according to the categories of financial assets.

“Financial assets held for trading”, “Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss” and “Financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss”

Financial assets are recorded under the heading “Financial assets held for trading” if the objective of the business model is to
generate gains by buying and selling these financial instruments or generate short-term results. The financial assets recorded in the
heading “Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss” are derived from a business model which
objective is to obtain the contractual cash flows and / or to sell those instruments but its contractual cash flows do not comply with
the requirements of the SPPI test. Financial assets are classified in “Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss”
only if it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from recognizing
or measuring such financial assets on different bases.

The assets recognized under these headings of the balance sheet are measured upon acquisition at fair value and changes in the fair
value (gains or losses and foreign exchange differences) are recognized as their net value, when applicable, under the headings
“Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net”, “Gains (losses) on non-trading financial assets mandatorily at
fair value through profit or loss, net” and “Gains (losses) on financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss, net” in the
accompanying income statement (see Note 37).

"Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income”
—  Debtinstruments

Assets recognized under this heading in the balance sheets are measured at their fair value. This category of valuation
implies the recognition of the information in the income statement as if it were an instrument valued at amortized cost,
while the instrument is valued at fair value in the balance sheet. Thus, both interest income on these instruments and the
exchange differences and impairment that arise in their case are recorded in the profit and loss account, while subsequent
changes in its fair value (gains or losses) are recognized temporarily, (by the amount net of tax effect) under the heading
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)- Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Fair value changes of
debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” in the accompanying balance sheets (see
Note 27).

The amounts recognized under the headings “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)- Items that may be
reclassified to profit or loss - Fair value changes of debt instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income” continue to form part of the Bank's equity until the corresponding asset is derecognized from the balance sheet or
until a loss allowance is recognized on the corresponding financial instrument. If these assets are sold, these amounts are
derecognized and included under the headings “Gains (losses) on derecognition of financial assets and liabilities not
measured at fair value through profit or loss, net” in the accompanying income statements (see Note 37).
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The net loss allowances in “Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” over the year are recognized
under the heading " Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets, not measured at fair value through profit or
loss net —gains by modification- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income” in the income
statements for that year (see Note 42). Interest income on these instruments is recorded in the profit and loss account (see
Note 33).Changes in foreign exchange rates are recognized under the heading “Exchange differences, net" in the
accompanying income statement (see Note 37).

- Equity instruments

At the time of initial recognition of specific investments in equity instruments, an irrevocable decision may be made to
present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. Subsequent changes in this valuation will be
recognized Accumulated other comprehensive income - Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss- Fair value
changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income" (see Note 27). Dividends
received from these investments are recorded in the heading "Dividend income" in the income statement (see Note 34).
These instruments are not subject to the impairment model.

“Financial assets at amortized cost”

The assets under this category are subsequently measured at amortized cost, after initial recognition, using the effective interest rate
method. In the case of floating rate instruments, including inflation-linked bonds, periodic restatements of cash flows to reflect
interest rate movements and incurred inflation change the effective interest rate prospectively.

Net loss allowances of assets recorded under these headings arising in each period, calculated under Circular 4/2017 model, are
recognized under the heading “Impairment or reversal of impairment on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or
loss —or net gains by modification -Financial assets measured at amortized cost” in the income statement for such year (see Note
42).

2.2.2 Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
Classification of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are classified in the following categories:
—  Financial liabilities at amortized cost;

-  Financial liabilities that are held for trading including derivatives are financial instruments which are recorded in this
category when the Bank's objective is to generate gains by buying and selling these financial instruments or generate
results in the short term;

—  Financial liabilities that are designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition under the Fair Value Option.
The Bank has the option to designate irrevocably, on the initial moment of recognition, a financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss provided that doing so results in the elimination or significant reduction of measurement or
recognition inconsistency, or if a group of financial liabilities, or a group of financial assets and financial liabilities, has to be
managed, and its performance evaluated, on a fair value basis in accordance with a documented risk management or
investment strategy.

Measurement of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recorded at fair value, less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of
instruments, except for financial instruments that are classified at fair value through profit or loss.

Variations in the value of financial liabilities due to the interest accrual and similar items are recorded in the headings “Interest and
other income” or “Interest expense”, of the income statement for the year in which the accrual occurred (see Note 33), except for
trading derivatives that are not economic and accounting hedges.

The changes in fair value after the initial recognition, for reasons other than those mentioned in the preceding paragraph, are treated
as described below, according to the categories of financial liabilities.

“Financial liabilities held for trading” and “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss”

The subsequent changes in the fair value (gains or losses) of the liabilities recognized under these headings of the balance sheets are
recognized as their net value under the headings “Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net” and “Gains
(losses) on financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss, net” in the accompanying income statements
(see Note 37). The changes in the own credit risk of the liabilities designated under the fair value option is presented in “Accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) — ltems that will not be reclassified to profit or loss — Fair value changes of financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss attributable to changes in their credit risk” (see Note 27), unless this treatment brings about or
increases an asymmetry in the income statement. Changes in fair value resulting from variations in foreign exchange rates are
recognized under the heading “"Exchange differences, net” in the accompanying income statements (see Note 37).

“Financial liabilities at amortized cost”

The liabilities under this category are subsequently measured at amortized cost, using the “effective interest rate” method.
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Hybrid financial liabilities

When a financial liability contains an embedded derivative, BBVA analyzes whether the economic characteristics and risks of the
embedded derivative and the host instrument are closely related.

If the characteristics and risks of the host and the derivative are closely related, the instrument as a whole will be classified and
measured according to the general rules for financial liabilities. If, on the other hand, the economic characteristics and risks of the
embedded derivative are not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host, its terms meet the definition of a
derivative and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss, the embedded
derivative shall be separated from the host and accounted for as a derivative separately at fair value with changes in profit and loss
and the host instrument classified and measured according to its nature.

2.2.3 "“Derivatives-Hedge Accounting” and “Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of
interest-rate risk”

BBVA uses financial derivatives as a tool for managing financial risks, mainly interest rates and exchange rates (see Note 5).
When these transactions meet certain requirements, they are considered "hedging instruments".

Hedging financial derivatives are used to hedge changes in the value of assets and liabilities, changes in cash flows, or the net
investment in a foreign business. Fair value hedging is established for fixed rate financial instruments, and cash flow hedges are used
for variable rate financial instruments. The Bank also carries out exchange risk hedging operations.

Hedging accounting follows the standard, and the effectiveness of hedges is evaluated both retrospectively and prospectively, so that
they remain within a range between 80% and 125%. The ineffectiveness of hedges, defined as the difference between the change in
value of the hedging instrument and the hedged item in each period, attributable to the hedged risk, is recognized in the income
statement. This includes both the amount of the ineffectiveness of the hedges established to manage interest rate risk in the period,
as well as the ineffectiveness of the hedges established to manage exchange risk, which is mainly attributable to the temporary value
of hedges established to manage exchange rate risk (see Notes 13 and 37).

Changes occurring subsequent to the designation of the hedging relationship in the measurement of financial instruments designated
as hedged items as well as financial instruments designated as hedge accounting instruments are recognized as follows:

— Infair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk are
recognized under the heading “Gains (losses) from hedge accounting, net” in the income statement (see Note 37), with a
corresponding offset under the headings where hedging items ("Hedging derivatives") and the hedged items are
recognized, as applicable, except for interest-rate risks hedges (which are almost all of the hedges used by the Bank) for
which the valuation changes are recognized under the headings “Interest and other income” or “Interest expense”, as
appropriate, in the accompanying income statement (see Note 33).

— In fair value hedges of interest rate risk of a portfolio of financial instruments (portfolio-hedges), the gains or losses that
arise in the measurement of the hedging instrument are recognized in the income statement with the corresponding offset
on the headings “Derivatives — Hedge accounting”, and the gains or losses that arise from the change in the fair value of the
hedged item (attributable to the hedged risk) are also recognized in the income statement (in both cases under the heading
“Gains (losses) from hedge accounting, net” (see Note 37), using, as a corresponding offset, the headings "Fair value
changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk" in the balance sheets, as applicable.

— In cash flow hedges, the gain or loss on the hedging instruments relating to the effective portion is recognized temporarily
under the heading "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - Iltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss -
Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedges” (effective portion) in the balance sheets, with a corresponding offset under the
heading “Hedging derivatives” of the Assets or Liabilities of the balance sheets as applicable. These differences are
recognized under the heading “Interest and other income " or “Interest expense” at the time when the gain or loss in the
hedged instrument affects profit or loss, when the forecast transaction is executed or at the maturity date of the hedged
item. Almost all of the cash flow hedges carried out by the Bank are for interest rate risk and inflation of financial
instruments, so their differences are recognized under the heading "Interest and other income" or "Interest expense" in the
accompanying income statement (see Note 33).

— Differences in the measurement of the hedging items corresponding to the ineffective portions of cash flow hedges are
recognized directly in the heading “Gains (losses) from hedge accounting, net” in the accompanying income statement (see
Note 37).

— Inthe hedges of net investments in foreign operations, the differences attributable to the effective portions of hedging items
are recognized temporarily under the heading "Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - ltems that may be
reclassified to profit or loss — Hedging of net investments in foreign operations (effective portion)" in the balance sheets
with a corresponding offset entry under the heading “Hedging derivatives” of the Assets or Liabilities of the balance sheets
as applicable. These differences in valuation are recognized in the income statement when the investment in a foreign
operation is disposed of or derecognized (see Note 37).

2.2.4 Loss allowances on financial assets
The “expected losses” impairment model is applied to financial assets valued at amortized cost, debt instruments valued at fair value

with changes in accumulated other comprehensive income, financial guarantee contracts and other commitments. All financial
instruments valued at fair value through profit or loss are excluded from the impairment model.
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The standard classifies financial instruments into three categories, which depend on the evolution of their credit risk from the
moment of initial recognition and which establish the calculation of the credit risk allowance.

—  Stage 1- without significant increase in credit risk

Financial assets which are not considered to have significantly increased in credit risk have loss allowances measured at an amount
equal to the expected credit loss that arises from all possible default events within 12 months following the presentation date of the
financial statements (12 month expected credit losses).

- Stage 2- significant increases in credit risk

When the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since the initial recognition, the loss allowances of that financial
instrument is calculated as the expected credit loss during the entire life of the asset. That is, they are the expected credit losses that
result from all possible default events during the expected life of the financial instrument.

- Stage 3 — Impaired

When there is objective evidence that the instrument is credit-impaired, the financial asset is transferred to this category in which the
provision for losses of that financial instrument is calculated, as in stage 2, as the expected credit loss during the entire life of the
asset.

When the recovery of any recognized amount is considered remote, such amount is written-off on the consolidated balance sheet,
without prejudice to any actions that may be taken in order to collect the amount until the rights extinguish in full either because it is
time-barred debt, the debt is forgiven, or other reasons.

The Bank has applied the following definitions:
- Credit impaired asset

An asset is credit-impaired (stage 3) if one or more events have occurred and they have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of the asset.

Historically, the definition of credit impaired asset under the Standard has been substantially aligned with the definition of default
used by the Bank for internal credit risk management, which is also the definition used for regulatory purposes. In 2021 the Bank
updated its definition of default to conform to that set forth in the European Banking Authority (hereinafter EBA) Guidelines, in
compliance with article 178 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 (CRR). The Group has consequently updated the definition of credit
impaired asset (Stage 3), considering it a change in accounting estimates, re-establishing the consistency with the definition of
default and guaranteeing the integration of both definitions in credit risk management

The determination of an asset as impaired and its classification in stage 3 is based exclusively on the risk of default, without
considering the effects of credit risk mitigating measures such as guarantees and collaterals. Specifically, the following financial
assets are classified in stage 3:

1) Impaired assets for objective reasons or delinquency: when there are unpaid amounts of principal or interest for more than 90
days.

According to Circular 4/2017, the 90-days past due default is a presumption that can be rebutted in those cases where the entity
considers, based on reasonable and supportable information, that it is appropriate to use a longer term. As of December 31, 2022, the
Group has not used terms exceeding 90 days past due.lmpaired assets for subjective reasons (other than delinquency): when
circumstances are identified that show, even in the absence of defaults, that it is not probable that the debtor will fully comply with its
financial obligations. For this purpose, the following indicators are considered, among others:

- Significant financial difficulties of the issuer or the borrower.

- Granting by the lender or lenders to the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons related to the latter's financial
difficulties, of concessions or advantages that they would not have otherwise granted.

- Breach of contractual clauses, such as events of default or default.

- Increasing probability that the borrower will go into bankruptcy or some other situation of financial reorganization.

- Disappearance of an active market for the financial asset due to financial difficulties.

- Others that may affect the committed cash flows such as the loss of the debtor's license or that it has committed fraud.

- Generalized delay in payments. In any case, this circumstance exists when, during a continuous period of 90 days prior to
the reporting date, a material amount has remained unpaid.

- Sales of credit exposures of a client with a significant economic loss will imply that the rest of its operations are considered
impaired.
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Relating to the granting of concessions due to financial difficulties, it is considered that there is an indicator of unlikeliness to pay, and
therefore the client must be considered impaired, when the refinancing or restructuring measures may result in a diminished financial
obligation caused by a forgiveness or material deferral of principal, interest or fees. Specifically, unless proven otherwise, transactions
that meet any of the following criteria will be reclassified to the category of impaired assets:

a. lIrregular repayment schedule.

b. Contractual clauses that delay the repayment of the loan through regular payments. Among others, grace periods of more
than two years for the amortization of the principal will be considered clauses with these characteristics.

c. Amounts of principal or interest written off from the balance sheet as its recovery is considered remote.

In any case, a restructuring will be considered impaired when the reduction in the net present value of the financial obligation is
greater than 1%, in accordance with the management criteria introduced during 2021.

Credit risk management for wholesale counterparties is carried out at the customer (or group) level. For this reason, the classification
of any of a client's material exposure as impaired, whether due to more than 90 days of default or due to any of the subjective criteria,
implies the classification as impaired of all the client's exposures.

Regarding retail clients, which are managed at the individual loan level, the scoring systems review their score, among other factors,
in the event of breach in any of their operations or incurring generalized delays in payments, which also triggers the necessary
recovery actions. Among them are the refinancing measures that, where appropriate, may lead to all the client's operations being
considered impaired. Furthermore, given the granularity of the retail portfolios, the differential behavior of these clients in relation to
their products and collateral provided, as well as the time necessary to find the best solution, the Bank has established as an indicator
that when a transaction of aretail client is in default in excess of 90 days or shows a general delay in payments and this represents
more than 20% of the client's total balance, all its transactions are considered impaired.

When operations by entities related to the client fall into stage 3, including both entities of the same group and those with which there
is a relationship of economic or financial dependence, the transactions of the holder will also be classified as stage 3 if after the
analysis it is concluded that there are reasonable doubts about the full payment of the loans.

The Stage 3 classification will be maintained for a cure period of 3 months from the disappearance of all indicators of impairment
during which the client must demonstrate good payment behavior and an improvement in their credit quality in order to corroborate
the disappearance of the causes that motivated the classification of the debt as impaired. In the case of refinancing and restructuring,
the cure period is one year (see Appendix Xl for more details)

Significant increase in credit risk

The objective of the impairment requirements is to recognize lifetime expected credit losses for financial instruments for which there
have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition considering all reasonable and supportable information, including
that which is forward-looking.

The model developed by the Bank for assessing the significant increase in credit risk has a two-prong approach that is applied globally
(for more detail on the methodology used, see Note 5.2.1):

—  Quantitative criterion: the Bank uses a quantitative analysis based on comparing the current expected probability of default
over the life of the transaction with the original adjusted expected probability of default, so that both values are comparable
in terms of expected default probability for their residual life.

—  Qualitative criterion: most indicators for detecting significant risk increase are included in the Bank's systems through
rating and scoring systems or macroeconomic scenarios, so the quantitative analysis covers the majority of circumstances.
The Bank uses additional qualitative criteria to identify significant increase in credit risk and thus, to include circumstances
that are not reflected in the rating/score systems or macroeconomic scenarios used. Such qualitative criteria are the
following:

a. More than 30 days past due: the default of more than 30 days is a presumption that can be rebutted in those cases in
which the entity considers, based on reasonable and documented information, that such non-payment does not
represent a significant increase in risk. As of December 31, 2022, the Bank has not considered periods higher than 30
days.

b.  Watch list: They are subject to special watch by the Risk units because they show negative signs in their credit quality,
even though there may be no objective evidence of impairment.

c. Refinance or restructuring that does not show evidence of impairment, or that, having been previously identified, the
existence of significant increase in credit risk may is still exist.

Although the standard introduces a series of operational simplifications, also known as practical solutions for analyzing the increase
in significant risk, the Bank does not use them as a general rule. However, for high-quality assets, mainly related to certain
government institutions and bodies, the standard allows for considering that their credit risk has not increased significantly because
they have a low credit risk at the presentation date. This possibility is limited to those financial instruments that are classified as
having high credit quality and high liquidity to comply with the liquidity coverage ratio (Liquidity Coverage Ratio, hereinafter "LCR").
This does not prevent these assets from being assigned the credit risk coverage that corresponds to their classification as Stage 1
based on their credit rating and macroeconomic expectations.
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Method for calculating Expected Credit Loss (ECL)

Method for calculating expected loss

In accordance with Circular 4/2017, the measurement of expected losses must reflect:
— aconsidered and unbiased amount, determined by evaluating a range of possible results;
—  the time value of money, and

— reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort and that reflects current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions.

Expected losses are measured both individually and collectively.

The individualized estimate of credit losses results from calculating the difference between the expected cash flows discounted at the
effective interest rate of the transaction and the carrying amount of the instrument (see Note 5.2.1):

For the collective measurement of expected losses the instruments are classified into groups of assets based on their risk
characteristics. Exposure within each group is grouped according to credit risk common characteristics, which indicate the payment
capacity of the borrower according to the contractual conditions. These risk characteristics have to be relevant in estimating the
future flows of each group. The characteristics of credit risk may consider, among others, the following factors (see Note 5.2.1):

—  Type of instrument.

—  Rating or scoring tools.

- Creditrisk scoring or rating.

-  Type of collateral.

—  Amount of time at default for stage 3.

- Segment.

—  Qualitative criteria which can have a significant increase in risk.

—  Collateral value if it has an impact on the probability of a default event.
The estimated losses are derived from the following parameters:

—  PD: estimate of the probability of default in each period.

—  EAD: estimate of the exposure in case of default at each future period, taking into account the changes in exposure after the
closing date of the financial statements.

-  LGD: estimate of the loss in case of default, calculated as the difference between the contractual cash flows and receivables,
including guarantees. For these purposes, the probability of executing the guarantee, the moment until its ownership, and
subsequent realization are achieved, the expected cash flows and the acquisition and sale costs, are considered in the
estimation.

—  CCF: cash conversion factor is the estimate made on off-balance sheet contractual arrangements to determine the
exposure subject to credit risk in the event of a default.

At BBVA, the calculated expected credit losses are based on internal models developed for all portfolios within the scope of Circular
4/2017, except for the cases that are subject to individual analysis..

The calculation and recognition of expected credit losses includes exposures with governments and credit institutions, for which,
despite having a reduced number of defaults in the information databases, internal models have been developed, considering, as
sources of information, the data provided by external rating agencies or other observed in the market, such as changes in bond yields,
prices of credit default swaps or any other public information on them

Use of present, past and future information

Circular 4/2017 requires incorporation of present, past and future information to detect any significant increase in risk and measure
expected loss losses, which must be carried out on a weighted probability basis.

The standard does not require identification of all possible scenarios for measuring expected loss. However, the probability of a loss
event occurring and the probability it will not occur have to be considered, even though the possibility of a loss may be very low. To
achieve this, BBVA generally evaluates the linear relationship between its estimated loss parameters (PD, LGD and EAD) with the
historical and future forecasts of the macroeconomic scenarios
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Additionally, when there is no linear relation between the different future economic scenarios and their associated expected losses,
more than one future economic scenario must be used for the measurement.

The approach taken by BBVA consists of using a methodology based on the use of three scenarios. The first is the most probable
scenario (base scenario) that is consistent with that used in the Bank's internal management processes, and two additional ones,
one more positive and the other more negative. The combined outcome of these three scenarios is calculated considering the weight
given to each of them. The main macroeconomic variables that are valued in each of the scenarios are the Gross Domestic Product
(GDP), the real estate price index, interest rates, and the unemployment rate The main goal of the Bank's approach is seeking the
greatest predictive capacity with respect to the first two variables (see Note 5.2.1).

Derecognition of the balance due to impairment on financial assets (write-offs)

Debt instruments are classified as written-off once, after being analyzed, it is reasonably considered that their recovery is remote due
to the notorious and irrecoverable deterioration of the solvency of the holder of the operation.

Based on their procedures and particularities, the Bank entities recognize operations as a write-off where, following their analysis,
there are no reasonable expectations of recovery of the debt, taking into account aspects such as: the time elapsed since the
classification as doubtful operations due to delinquency, the coverage levels achieved, type of portfolio or product, bankruptcy status
of the holder and the existence of guarantees, their valuation and execution capacity. In those cases where the guarantee is
significant, there is the possibility of making partial write-offs on the non-guaranteed portion.

The classification of an operation as written-off, entails the recognition of losses for the carrying amount of the related debt and
results in a derecognition in the same amount from the balance sheet (see Note 5.2.5).

2.2.5 Transfers and derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

The accounting treatment of transfers of financial assets is determined by the form in which risks and benefits associated with the
financial assets involved are transferred to third parties. Financial assets are only derecognized from the balance sheet when the cash
flows that they generate are extinguished, or when their implicit risks and benefits have been substantially transferred to third parties,
when the control of financial asset is transferred even in case of no physical transfer or substantial retention of such assets. In the
latter case, the financial asset transferred is derecognized from the balance sheet, and any right or obligation retained or created as a
result of the transfer is simultaneously recognized.

Similarly, financial liabilities are derecognized from the balance sheet only if their obligations are extinguished or acquired (with a view
to subsequent cancellation or renewed placement).

The Bank is considered to have transferred substantially all the risks and benefits if such risks and benefits account for the majority of
the risks and benefits involved in ownership of the transferred financial assets. If substantially all the risks and/or benefits associated
with the transferred financial asset are retained:

—  The transferred financial asset is not derecognized from the balance sheet and continues to be measured using the same
criteria as those used before the transfer.

— Afinancial liability is recognized at the amount equal to the amount received, which is subsequently measured at amortized
cost or fair value with changes in the income statement, whichever the case.

—  Both the income generated on the transferred (but not derecognized) financial asset and the expense of the new financial
liability continue to be recognized.

In the specific case of securitizations, this liability is recognized under the heading “Financial liabilities at amortized cost — Customer
deposits” in the balance sheets (see Note 20). As these liabilities do not constitute a current obligation, when measuring such a
financial liability the Bank deducts those financial instruments owned by it which constitute financing for the entity to which the
financial assets have been transferred, to the extent that these instruments are deemed specifically to finance the transferred assets.

The criteria followed with respect to the most common transactions of this type made by the Bank are as follows:

—  Purchase and sale commitments: Financial instruments sold with a repurchase agreement are not derecognized from the
balance sheets and the amount received from the sale is considered to be financing from third parties.

—  Financial instruments acquired with an agreement to subsequently resell them are not recognized in the balance sheets and
the amount paid for the purchase is considered to be credit given to third parties.

—  Securitization: The Bank has applied the most stringent criteria for determining whether or not it retains substantially all the
risk and rewards on such assets for all securitizations performed since January 1, 2004. As a result of this analysis, the Bank
has concluded that none of the securitizations undertaken since that date meet the prerequisites for derecognizing the
securitized assets from the balance sheets (see Note 12 and Appendix V1), as the Bank retains substantially all the expected
credit risks and possible changes in net cash flows, while retaining the subordinated loans and lines of credit extended to
these securitization funds.

Synthetic securitizations are transactions where risk is transferred through derivatives or financial guarantees and in which
the exposure of these securitizations remains in the balance sheet of the Bank. The Bank has established the synthetic
securitizations through received financial guarantees. As for the commissions paid, they are accrued during the term of the
financial guarantee
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2.3 Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are considered to be those contracts that require their issuer to make specific payments to reimburse the holder
of the financial guarantee for a loss incurred when a specific borrower breaches its payment obligations on the terms — whether
original or subsequently modified — of a debt instrument, irrespective of the legal form it may take. Financial guarantees may take the
form of a deposit, bank guarantee, insurance contract or credit derivative, among others.

In their initial recognition, financial guarantees are recognized as liabilities in the balance sheet at fair value, which is generally the
present value of the fees, commissions and interest receivable from these contracts over the term thereof, and the Bank
simultaneously recognizes a corresponding asset in the balance sheet for the amount of the fees and commissions received at the
inception of the transactions and the amounts receivable at the present value of the fees, commissions and interest outstanding.

Financial guarantees, irrespective of the guarantor, instrumentation or other circumstances, are reviewed periodically so as to
determine the credit risk to which they are exposed and, if appropriate, to consider whether a provision is required for them. The
credit risk is determined by application of criteria similar to those established for quantifying loss allowances on debt instruments
measured at amortized cost (see Note 2.2.4).

The provisions recognized for financial guarantees are recognized under the heading “Provisions - Provisions for contingent risks and
commitments” on the liability side in the balance sheets (see Note 21). These provisions are recognized and reversed with a charge or
credit, respectively, to “Provisions or reversal of provision” in the income statements (see Note 41).

Income from financial guarantees is recorded under the heading “Fee and commission income” in the income statement and is
calculated by applying the rate established in the related contract to the nominal amount of the guarantee (see Note 35).

Synthetic securitizations made by the Bank to date meet the requirements of the accounting regulations for accounting as
guarantees.

24 Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale and liabilities included in
disposal groups classified as held for sale

The heading “Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale” in the balance sheet includes the carrying amount of
individual items or items integrated in a group ("disposal group") or that form part of a significant business line or geographic area
that is intended to be disposed of (“discontinued operation”) whose sale is highly probable to take place under the current conditions
within a period of one year from the date to which the financial statements refer. Additionally, assets that were expected to be
disposed of within a year but which disposal is delayed due to events and circumstances beyond the control of the Bank can be
classified as held for sale (see Note 19).

Symmetrically, the heading “Liabilities included in disposal groups classified as held for sale” in the balance sheet reflects the
balances payable arising from disposal groups and discontinued operations.

The heading "Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale" includes the assets received by the subsidiaries for
the satisfaction, in whole or in part, of the payment obligations of their debtors (foreclosed or received in payment of debt or
recoveries from financial leasing transactions, unless the Bank has decided to make continued use of those assets.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured, at the acquisition date and at any later date deemed
necessary, at either their carrying amount or the fair value of the property (less costs to sell), whichever is lower. An impairment or
reversal of impairment for the difference is recognized if applicable. When the amount of the sale less estimated costs of sale is higher
than the carrying value, the gain is not recognized until the moment of disposal and derecognition from the balance sheet.

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale are not depreciated while included under the heading “Non-current
assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale”.

In the case of real estate assets foreclosed or received in payment of debts, they are initially recognized at the lower of: the restated
carrying amount of the financial asset and the fair value at the time of the foreclosure or receipt of the asset less estimated sales
costs. The carrying amount of the financial asset is updated at the time of the foreclosure, treating the real property received as a
secured collateral and taking into account the credit risk coverage that would correspond to it according to its classification prior to
the delivery. For these purposes, the collateral will be valued at its current fair value (less sale costs) at the time of foreclosure. This
carrying amount will be compared with the previous carrying amount and the difference will be recognized as a credit risk provision
increase, if applicable. On the other hand, the fair value of the foreclosed assets is based mainly on appraisals or valuations carried
out by independent experts on an annual basis or more frequently if there are indications of impairment by appraisal, evaluating the
need to apply a discount on the asset derived from the specific conditions of the asset or the market situation for these assets, and in
any case, deducting the company's estimated sale costs.

Fair value of non-current assets held for sale from foreclosures or recoveries is based mainly in appraisals or valuations made by
independent experts on annual basis or more frequently, should there be indicators of impairment. The Bank applies the rule that
these appraisals may not be older than one year, and their age is reduced if there is an indication of deterioration in the assets. The
Bank mainly uses the services of the following valuation and appraisal companies. None of them is linked to the BBVA Group and all
are entered in the official Bank of Spain register: Global Valuation S.A.U.; Tinsa, S.A., Gesvalt, Sociedad de Tasacion; JLL
Valoraciones, S.A., Sociedad de Tasacion Tasvalor; Eurovaloraciones, S.A.
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Gains and losses generated on the disposal of assets, and liabilities classified as non-current held for sale, and liabilities included in
disposal groups classified as held for sale as well as impairment losses and, where pertinent, the related recoveries, are recognized in
"Gains (losses) from non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held for sale not qualifying as discontinued operations” in
the income statement (see Note 45). The remaining income and expense items associated with these assets and liabilities are
classified within the relevant income statement according to their nature.

Income and expense for discontinued operations, whatever their nature, generated during the year, even if they have occurred before
their classification as discontinued operations, are presented net of the tax effect as a single amount under the heading "Profit (loss)
after tax from discontinued operations” in the income statement. This heading includes the earnings from their sale or other disposal
(net of tax effects).

2.5 Tangible assets

Property, plant and equipment for own use

This heading includes the assets under ownership or acquired under lease terms, (right to use) intended for future or current use by
the Bank and that it expects to hold for more than one year. It also includes tangible assets received by the Bank in full or partial
settlement of financial assets representing receivables from third parties which are expected to be held for continuing use.

For more information regarding the accounting treatment of right to use assets under lease terms, see Note 2.16 "Leases".
Property, plant and equipment for own use are presented in the balance sheets at acquisition cost, less any accumulated depreciation
and, where appropriate, any estimated impairment losses resulting from comparing the net carrying amount of each item with its

corresponding recoverable amount. (see Note 15).

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method, during the useful life of the asset, on the basis of the acquisition cost of the
assets less their residual value; the land is considered to have an indefinite life and is therefore not depreciated.

The tangible asset depreciation charges are recognized in the accompanying income statements under the heading "Depreciation and

Amortization" (see Note 40) and are based on the application of the following depreciation rates (determined on the basis of the
average years of estimated useful life of the various assets):

Depreciation rates for tangible assets

Type of assets Annual Percentage

Buildings for own use 1% - 4%

Furniture 8% - 10%

Fixtures 6% - 12%

Office supplies and hardware 8% - 25%

Lease use rights The lesser of the lease term or the useful life of the underlying asset

At each reporting date, the Bank analyzes whether there are internal or external indicators that a tangible asset may be impaired.
When there is evidence of impairment, the entity then analyzes whether this impairment actually exists by comparing the asset's net
carrying amount with its recoverable amount (defined as the higher between its recoverable amount less disposal costs and its value
in use). When the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable amount
and depreciation charges going forward are adjusted to reflect the asset's remaining useful life.

Similarly, if there is any indication that the value of a previously impaired tangible asset is now recoverable, the entities will estimate
the recoverable amounts of the asset and recognize it in the income statement, recording the reversal of the impairment loss
recognized in previous years and thus adjusting future depreciation charges. Under no circumstances may the reversal of an
impairment loss on an asset raise its carrying amount above that which it would have if no impairment losses had been recognized in
prior years.

In BBVA, most of the buildings held for own use are assigned to the different Cash-Generating-Units (CGU) to which they belong. The
corresponding impairment analyzes are performed for these CGU to check whether sufficient cash flows are generated to support the
value of the assets comprised within.

Operating and maintenance expense relating to tangible assets held for own use are recognized as an expense in the year they are
incurred and recognized in the income statements under the heading " Administration costs - Other administrative expense -
Property, fixtures and materials " (see Note 39.2).

Other assets leased out under an operating lease
The criteria used to recognize the acquisition cost of assets leased out under operating leases, to calculate their depreciation and

their respective estimated useful lives and to recognize the impairment losses on them, are the same as those described in relation to
tangible assets for own use.
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Investment properties

The heading “Tangible assets - Investment properties” in the balance sheets reflects the net values (purchase cost minus the
corresponding accumulated depreciation and, if appropriate, estimated impairment losses) of the land, buildings and other structures
that are held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation through sale and that are neither expected to be sold off in the
ordinary course of business nor are destined for own use (see Note 15).

The criteria used to recognize the acquisition cost of investment properties, calculate their depreciation and their respective
estimated useful lives and recognize the impairment losses on them, are the same as those described in relation to tangible assets
held for own use.

2.6 Intangible assets
Intangible assets in the financial statements of the Bank have a finite useful life.

The useful life of intangible assets is, at most, equal to the period during which the entity is entitled to use the asset; If the right of use
is for a limited renewable period, the useful life includes the renewal period only when there is evidence that the renewal will be carried
out without a significant cost (see Note 16).

When the useful life of intangible assets cannot be estimated reliably, they are amortized over a ten year period.

Intangible assets are amortized according to the duration of this useful life, using methods similar to those used to depreciate tangible
assets. The defined useful life intangible asset is made up mainly of IT applications acquisition costs which have a useful life of 3to 5
years. The depreciation charge for these assets is recognized in the accompanying income statements under the heading
"Depreciation and amortization" (see Note 40).

The Bank recognizes any loss allowance on the carrying amount of these assets with charge to the heading “Impairment or reversal of
impairment on non - financial assets- Intangible assets” in the accompanying income statements (see Note 44). The criteria used to
recognize the impairment losses on these assets and, where applicable, the recovery of loss allowances previously recognized, are
similar to those used for tangible Assets.

2.7 Tax assets and liabilities

Expenses on corporate income tax applicable to the Bank are recognized in the income statement, except when they result from
transactions on which the profits or losses are recognized directly in equity, in which case the related tax effect is also recognized in
equity.

The total corporate income tax expense is calculated by aggregating the current tax arising from the application of the corresponding
tax rate as per the tax base for the year (after deducting the tax credits or discounts allowable for tax purposes) and the change in
deferred tax assets and liabilities recognized in the income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include temporary differences, defined as at the amounts to be payable or recoverable in future
years arising from the differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities and their tax bases (the “tax value”), and tax
loss and tax credit or discount carry forwards. These amounts are calculated by applying to each temporary difference the tax rates
that are expected to apply when the asset is realized or the liability settled (see Note 17).

The "Tax Assets" line item in the accompanying balance sheets includes the amount of all the assets of a tax nature, broken down
into: "Current” (amounts of tax recoverable in the next twelve months) and "Deferred" (which includes the amount of tax to be
recovered in future years, including those arising from tax losses or credits for deductions or rebates that can be compensated). The
"Tax Liabilities" line item in the accompanying balance sheets includes the amount of all the liabilities of a tax nature, except for
provisions for taxes, broken down into: "Current” (income tax payable on taxable profit for the year and other taxes payable in the
next twelve months) and "Deferred" (the amount of corporate tax payable in subsequent years).

Deferred tax liabilities attributable to taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or joint
venture entities are recognized as such, except where the Bank can control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is unlikely that it will reverse in the future. Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that the Bank will
generate enough taxable profits to make deferred tax assets effective and do not correspond to those from initial recognition (except
in the case of business combinations), which also does not affect the fiscal outcome.

In those circumstances in which it is unclear how a specific requirement of the tax law applies to a particular transaction or
circumstance, and the acceptability of the definitive tax treatment depends on the decisions taken by the relevant taxation authority
in future, the entity recognizes current and deferred tax liabilities and assets considering whether it is probable or not that a taxation
authority will accept an uncertain tax treatment. Thus, if the entity concludes that it is not probable that the taxation authority will
accept an uncertain tax treatment, the entity uses the amount expected to be paid to (recovered from) the taxation authorities.

The income and expense directly recognized in equity that do not increase or decrease taxable income are accounted for as
temporary differences.
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2.8 Provisions, contingent assets and contingent liabilities

The heading “Provisions” in the balance sheets includes amounts recognized to cover the Bank's current obligations arising as a
result of past events. These are certain in terms of nature but uncertain in terms of amount and/or settlement date. The settlement of
these obligations is deemed likely to entail an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits (see Note 21). The obligations may
arise in connection with legal or contractual provisions, valid expectations formed by the Bank relative to third parties in relation to the
assumption of certain responsibilities or through virtually certain developments of particular aspects of the regulations applicable to
the operation of the entities; and, specifically, future legislation to which the Bank will certainly be subject.

The provisions are recognized in the balance sheets when each and every one of the following requirements is met:
—  They represent a current obligation that has arisen from a past event.
—  Atthe date of the financial statements, there is more probability that the obligation will have to be met than that it will not.
— Itis probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.
—  The amount of the obligation can be reasonably estimated.

Among other items, these provisions include the commitments made to employees (mentioned in section 2.9), as well as provisions
for tax and legal litigation.

Contingent assets are possible assets that arise from past events and whose existence is conditional on, and will be confirmed only
by, the occurrence or non-occurrence of events beyond the control of the Bank. Contingent assets are not recognized in the balance
sheet or in the income statement; however, they will be disclosed, should they exist, provided that it is probable that these assets will
give rise to an increase in resources embodying economic benefits (see Note 30).

Contingent liabilities are possible obligations of the Bank that arise from past events and whose existence is conditional on the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events beyond the control of the entity. They also include the existing obligations
of the entity when it is not probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle them; or
when, in extremely rare cases, their amount cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

Contingent liabilities are not recognized in the balance sheet or the income statement (excluding contingent liabilities from business

combinations) but are disclosed in the Notes to the Financial Statements, unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits is remote.

2.9 Pensions and other post-employment commitments

Below we provide a description of the most significant accounting policies relating to post-employment and other employee benefit
commitments assumed by the Bank (see Note 22).

Short-term employee benefits

Benefits for current active employees which are accrued and settled during the year and for which a provision is not required in the
entity “s accounts. These include wages and salaries, social security charges and other personnel expense.

Costs are charged and recognized under the heading “Administration costs — Personnel expense — Other personnel expense” of the
income statement (see Note 39.1).

Post-employment benefits — Defined-contribution plans

The Bank sponsors defined-contribution plans for the majority of its active employees. The amount of these benefits is established as
a percentage of remuneration and/or as a fixed amount.

The contributions made to these plans in each year by the Bank are charged and recognized under the heading “Administration costs
— Personnel expense — Defined-contribution plan expense” of the income statement (see Note 39.1).

Post-employment benefits — Defined-benefit plans

The Bank maintains pension commitments with employees who have already retired or taken early retirement, certain closed groups
of active employees still accruing defined benefit pensions, and in-service death and disability benefits provided to most active
employees. These commitments are covered by insurance contracts, pension funds and internal provisions.

In addition, the Bank have offered certain employees the option to retire before their normal retirement age, recognizing the
necessary provisions to cover the costs of the associated benefit commitments, which include both the liability for the benefit
payments due as well as the contributions payable to external pension funds during the early retirement period.

Furthermore, the Bank provides welfare and medical benefits which extend beyond the date of retirement of the employees entitled to
the benefits.
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All of these commitments are quantified based on actuarial valuations, with the amounts recorded under the heading “Provisions —
Provisions for pensions and similar obligations” and determined as the difference between the value of the defined-benefit
commitments and the fair value of plan assets at the date of the financial statements (see Note 21).

Current service cost is charged and recognized under the heading “Administration costs — Personnel expense — Defined-benefit plan
expense” of the income statement (see Note 39.1).

Interest credits/charges relating to these commitments are charged and recognized in net terms under the headings “Interest and
other income” or, where appropriated, “Interest expense” of the income statement. (see Note 33).

Past service costs arising from benefit plan changes as well as early retirements granted during the year are recognized under the
heading “Provisions or reversals of provisions” of the income statement (see Note 41).

Other long-term employee benefits

In addition to the above commitments, the Bank provides long-term service awards to their employees, consisting mainly of
monetary amounts or periods of vacation granted upon completion of a number of years of qualifying service. This heading also
includes the commitments related to the termination of employment contracts according to the collective layoff procedure carried
outin BBVA, S.A.in 2021.

These commitments are quantified based on actuarial valuations and the amounts recorded under the heading “Provisions — Other
long-term employee benefits” of the balance sheet (see Note 21).

Valuation of commitments: actuarial assumptions and recognition of gains/losses

The present value of these commitments is determined based on individual member data. Active employee costs are determined
using the “projected unit credit” method, which treats each period of service as giving rise to an additional unit of benefit and values
each unit separately.

In establishing the actuarial assumptions we take into account that:
—  They should be unbiased, i.e. neither unduly optimistic nor excessively conservative.

—  Each assumption does not contradict the others and adequately reflects the existing relationship between economic
variables such as price inflation, expected wage increases, discount rates and the expected return on plan assets, etc.
Future wage and benefit levels should be based on market expectations, at the balance sheet date, for the period over which
the obligations are to be settled.

— The interest rate used to discount benefit commitments is determined by reference to market yields, at the balance sheet
date, on high quality bonds.

The Bank recognizes actuarial gains (losses) relating to early retirement benefits, long service awards and other similar items under
the heading “Provisions or reversal of provisions” of the income statement for the period in which they arise (see Note 41). Actuarial
gains/losses relating to pension and medical benefits are directly charged and recognized under the heading "Accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) — Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss — Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefit
pension plans" of equity in the balance sheet (see Note 27).

2.10 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Equity —settled share-based payment transactions provided they constitute the delivery of such equity instruments once completion
of a specific period of services, has occurred are recognized as an expense for services being provided by employees, with a
corresponding entry under the heading “Shareholders’ funds — Other equity instruments” in the balance sheet. These services are
measured at fair value for the employees services received, unless such fair value cannot be calculated reliably. In such case, they are
measured by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted, taking into account the date on which the commitments
were granted and the terms and other conditions included in the commitments.

When the initial compensation agreement includes what may be considered market conditions among its terms, any changes in these
conditions will not be reflected in the income statement, as these have already been accounted for in calculating the initial fair value of
the equity instruments. Non-market vesting conditions are not taken into account when estimating the initial fair value of equity
instruments, but they are taken into account when determining the number of equity instruments to be issued. This will be recognized
on the income statement with the corresponding increase in equity.

2.11 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized in the financial statements when the Bank agrees to terminate employment contracts with its
employees or from the time the costs for a restructuring that involves the payment of compensation for the termination of contracts
with its employees are recorded. This happens when there is a formal and detailed plan in which the fundamental modifications to be
made are identified, and whenever said plan has begun to be executed or its main characteristics, or objective facts about its
execution have been publicly announced. The collective layoff procedure carried out at BBVA, S.A. in 2021 complies with these
conditions.
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2.12 Treasury shares

The value of common stock -basically, shares and derivatives on the Bank's shares held by itself that comply with the requirements to
be recognized as equity instruments- is recognized as a decrease to net equity under the heading "Shareholders’ funds — Treasury
stock" in the balance sheets (see Note 26).

These financial assets are recognized at acquisition cost, and the gains or losses arising on their disposal are credited or debited, as
appropriate, to the heading “Shareholders’ funds — Retained earning " in the balance sheet (see Note 25).

In the event of a contractual obligation to acquire treasury shares, a financial liability is recorded as the present value of the amount

committed (under the heading "Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Other financial liabilities") and the corresponding recognition in
net equity ( under the heading “Equity - Other Reserves”) (see Notes 20.5 and 25).

2.13 Foreign-currency transactions

The currency in which the Financial Statements of the BBVA Group are presented is the euro. As such, all balances and transactions
denominated in currencies other than the euro are deemed to be expressed in “foreign currency”.

Assets, liabilities and derivatives

The assets and liabilities in foreign currencies, including those of branches abroad, are converted to euros at the average exchange
rates on the European spot currency market at the end of each period.

Non-monetary items measured at historical cost have been translated at the exchange rate at the date of acquisition, and non-
monetary items measured at fair value have been translated at the exchange rate at the date on which the fair value was determined.

The exchange differences produced when converting these balance in foreign-currency to Euro are recognized under the heading
“Exchange differences, net" in the income statement. However the exchange differences in non-monetary items measured at fair
value are recorded to equity under the heading “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) - Iltems that will not reclassified to
profit or loss - Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” (see note 27).

The breakdown of the main balances in foreign currencies as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, with reference to the most significant
foreign currencies, is set forth in Appendix VIII.

Structural currency positions
As a general policy, the Bank's investments in foreign subsidiaries are financed in Euros, managing open currency risk through

derivatives. the future currency risk arising from these transactions. In the case of endowment funds for foreign branches, they are
financed in the same currency as the investment.

2.14 Recognition of income and expense
The most significant policies used by the Bank to recognize its income and expense are as follows.
— Interestincome and expense and similar items
As a general rule, interest income and expense and similar items are recognized on the basis of their period of accrual using
the effective interest rate method. In the particular case of inflation-indexed bonds, interest income also includes the effect

of actual inflation incurred during the period.

They shall be recognized within the income statement according to the following criteria, independently from the financial
instruments’ portfolio which generates the income or expense:

a. The interest income past-due before the initial recognition and pending to be received will form part of the gross
carrying amount of the debt instrument.

b.  The interest income accrued after the initial recognition will form part of the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument until it will be received.

The financial fees and commissions that arise on the arrangement of loans and advances (basically origination and analysis
fees) are deferred and recognized in the income statement over the expected life of the loan. From that amount, the
transaction costs identified as directly attributable to the arrangement of the loans and advances are deducted. These fees
are part of the effective interest rate for the loans and advances.

Once a debt instrument has been impaired, interest income is recognized applying the effective interest rate used to
discount the estimated recoverable cash flows on the carrying amount of the asset.

— Income from dividends received:
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Dividends shall be recognized within the income statement according to the following criteria, independently from the
financial instruments’ portfolio which generates this income:

a.  When the right to receive payment has been declared before the initial recognition and when the payment is
pending to be received, the dividends will not form part of the gross carrying amount of the equity instrument and
will not be recognized as income. Those dividends are accounted for as financial assets separately from the net
equity instrument.

b. If the right to receive payment is received after the initial recognition, the dividends from the net equity
instruments will be recognized within the income statement. If the dividends correspond to the profits of the
issuer before the date of initial recognition, they will not be recognized as income but as reduction of the gross
carrying amount of the equity instrument because it represents a partial recuperation of the investment. Amongst
other circumstances, the generation date can be considered to be prior to the date of initial recognition if the
amounts distributed by the issuer as from the initial recognition are higher than its profits during the same period.

—  Commissions, fees and similar items

Income and expense relating to commissions and similar fees are recognized in the income statement using criteria that
vary according to the nature of such items. The most significant items in this regard are:

a. Those relating to financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognized
immediately in the income statement.

b.  Those arising from transactions or services that are provided over a period of time, which are recognized over the
life of these transactions or services.

c. Those relating to a singular transaction, which are recognized when this singular transaction is carried out.
- Non-financial income and expense
These are recognized for accounting purposes on an accrual basis.
—  Deferred collections and payments

These are recognized for accounting purposes at the amount resulting from discounting the expected cash flows at market
rates.

2.15 Sales of assets and income from the provision of non-financial services

The heading "Other operating income” in the income statement includes the proceeds of the sales of assets and income from the
services provided by the Bank that are not financial institutions (see Note 38).

2.16 Leases

The lessee accounting model requires the lessee to record assets and liabilities for all lease contracts. A lessee is required to
recognize a right-of-use asset representing its right to use the underlying leased asset, which is recorded under the headings
Tangible assets — Property plants and equipment” and”* Tangible assets — Investment properties” of the balance sheet (see Note 15)
and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments which is recorded under the heading " Financial liabilities at
amortized cost — Other financial liabilities” in the balance sheet (see Note 20.5). The standard provides two exceptions for the
recognition of lease assets and liabilities, that can be applied in the case of short-term contracts and those in which the underlying
assets have low value. BBVA elected to apply both exceptions.

At the initial date of the lease, the lease liability represents the present value of all lease unpaid payments. The liabilities registered
under this heading of the balance sheets are measured after their initial recognition at amortized cost, this being determined in
accordance with the “effective interest rate” method.

The right to use assets are initially recorded at cost. This cost includes the initial measurement of the lease liability, any payment
made on or before the initial date less any lease incentives received, all direct initial expenses incurred, as well as an estimate of the
expenses to be incurred by the lessee for dismantling or rehabilitation, such as expenses to the removal and dismantling of the
underlying asset. The right to use assets recorded under this heading of the balance sheets are measured after their initial recognition
at cost less:

- The accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment

—  Anyremeasurement of the lease liability.
The interest expense on the lease liability is recorded in the income statements under the heading “Interest expense” (see note 33).
Variable payments not included in the initial measurement of the lease liability are recorded under the heading “Administration costs
— Other administrative expense” (see Note 39).
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method over the lifetime of the lease contract, on the basis of the cost of the assets.

The tangible asset depreciation charges are recognized in the accompanying income statements under the heading "Depreciation and
Amortization" (see Note 40).



27

Translation of Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and as amended thereafter,
which adapts the EU-IFRS for banks (see notes 1 to 51). In the event of a discrepancy, the original Spanish-language version prevails.

When electing one of the exceptions in order not to recognize the corresponding right to use and the liability in the balance sheets,
payments related to the corresponding leases are recognized in the income statements, over the contract period, lineally, or in the
way that best represents the structure of the lease operation, under the heading "Other operating expense” (see note 38).

Operating lease and sublease incomes are recognized in the income statements under the headings “"Other operating income” (see
Note 38).

As a lessor, lease contracts are classified as finance leases from the inception of the transaction if they substantially transfer all the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the asset forming the subject-matter of the contract. Leases other than finance leases
are classified as operating leases.

When the entities act as the lessor of an asset under finance leases, the aggregate present values of the lease payments receivable
from the lessee plus the guaranteed residual value (normally the exercise price of the lessee’s purchase option on expiration of the
lease agreement) are recognized as financing provided to third parties and, therefore, are included under the heading “Loans and
advances” in the accompanying balance sheets (see Note 12).

When the entities act as lessors of an asset in operating leases, the acquisition cost of the leased assets is recognized under "Tangible
assets — Property, plant and equipment — Other assets leased out under an operating lease" in the balance sheets (see Note 15).
These assets are depreciated in line with the criteria adopted for items of tangible assets for own use, while the income arising from
the lease arrangements is recognized in the income statement on a straight-line basis within “Other operating income” and "Other
operating expense" (see Note 38)

If a fair value sale and leaseback results in a lease, the profit or loss generated from the effectively transferred part) of the sale is
recognized in the income statement at the time of sale (only for the effectively transmitted part)

2.17 Entities and branches located in countries with hyperinflationary economies

None of the functional currencies of the branches located abroad relate to hyperinflationary economies as defined by Circular 4/2017
and subsequent amendments. Accordingly, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 it was not necessary to adjust the financial statements
of any branch to correct for the effect of inflation.

2.18 Statements of recognized income and expense

The statements of recognized income and expense reflect the income and expenses generated each year. They distinguish between
income and expense recognized as results in the income statements and “Accumulated other comprehensive income” (see Note 27)
recognized directly in equity. “Accumulated other comprehensive income” include the changes that have taken place in the year in
the “Accumulated other comprehensive income” broken down by item.

The sum of the changes to the heading “Accumulated other comprehensive income” of the total equity and the net income of the year
forms the “Accumulated other comprehensive income”.

2.19 Statements of changes in equity

The statements of changes in equity reflect all the movements generated in each year in each of the headings of the equity, including
those from transactions undertaken with shareholders when they act as such, and those due to changes in accounting criteria or
corrections of errors, if any.

The applicable regulations establish that certain categories of assets and liabilities are recognized at their fair value with a charge to
equity. These charges, known as “Accumulated other comprehensive income” (see Note 27), are included in the Bank's total equity
net of tax effect, which has been recognized as deferred tax assets or liabilities, as appropriate.

2.20 Statements of cash flows

The indirect method has been used for the preparation of the statement of cash flows. This method starts from the Bank’s net income
and adjusts its amount for the effects of transactions of a non-cash nature, any deferrals or accruals of past or future operating cash
receipts or payments, and items of income or expense associated with cash flows classified as investment or finance. As well as cash,
short-term, highly liquid investments subject to a low risk of changes in value, such as cash and deposits in central banks, are
classified as cash and cash equivalents.

When preparing these financial statements the following definitions have been used:

—  Cash flows: Inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents.

-  Operating activities: The typical activities of credit institutions and other activities that cannot be classified as investment or
financing activities.

— Investing activities: The acquisition, sale or other disposal of long-term assets and other investments not included in cash
and cash equivalents or in operating activities.

—  Financing activities: Activities that result in changes in the size and composition of the Bank's equity and of liabilities that do
not form part of operating activities.
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3. Shareholder remuneration system

Shareholder remuneration during financial year 2021

BBVA notified on January 29, 2021, by means of an Inside Information filing with the CNMV (hereinafter, “Inside Information”), that it
intended to resume its shareholder remuneration policy announced on February 1, 2017, by means of Relevant Information number
247679 in 2021, contingent upon the repealing of recommendation ECB/2020/62 and the absence of further restrictions or
limitations.

The Annual General Shareholders' Meeting held on April 20, 2021 approved, in the third item of its agenda, a cash distribution from
the share premium account of BBVA of €£€0.059 gross for each of the Bank's outstanding shares which are entitled to participate in the
aforementioned distribution, all this in compliance with recommendation ECB/2020/62 on dividend payments during the COVID-19
pandemic, which was paid on April 29, 2021. The total amount was €393 million and was recognized under the heading “Total Equity
— Shareholder's Funds — Share Premium” of the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021 (see Note 24).

On July 23, 2021, the ECB published the approval of recommendation ECB/2021/31 repealing recommendation ECB/2020/62 from
September 30, 2021, whereby the ECB indicated that it would assess capital, dividend distribution and share buyback plans of each
financial institution in the context of its ordinary supervisory process, eliminating the remaining restrictions on dividend and share
buyback related matters established in recommendation ECB/2020/62.

In line with the above, BBVA communicated by means of an Inside Information on September 30, 2021 that the Board of Directors of
BBVA had approved the payment of a cash interim dividend of €0.08 gross (€£0.0648 net of withholding tax) per each outstanding
BBVA share on account of the 2021 dividend. The total amount paid to shareholders on October 12, 2021, amounted to €533 million
and is recognized under the heading "Shareholder’s funds - Total equity- Interim dividends" of the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2021.

Amendment of Shareholder Remuneration Policy

BBVA's Board of Directors announced, on November 18, 2021, the amendment of the Group's shareholder remuneration policy
(announced on February 1, 2017 by means of Relevant Information number 247679), establishing as a policy to distribute annually
between 40% and 50% of the consolidated ordinary profit for each year (excluding amounts and items of an extraordinary nature
included in the consolidated income statement), compared to the previous policy that established a distribution between 35% and
40%.

This policy is implemented through the distribution of an interim dividend for the year (which is expected to be paid in October of each
year) and a final dividend or final distribution (which is expected to be paid at the end of the year and once the application of the result
is approved, foreseeably in April of each year), with the possibility of combining cash distributions with share buybacks (the execution
of the share buyback program scheme described below is considered as extraordinary shareholder remuneration and is therefore not
included in the scope of the policy), all subject to the corresponding authorizations and approvals applicable at any given time.

Shareholder remuneration during financial year 2022

During the 2022 financial year, the Annual General Shareholders' Meeting and the Board of Directors approved the payment of the
following cash amounts:

—  The Annual General Meeting of BBVA held on March 18, 2022, approved, under item 2 of the Agenda, a cash distribution
from the voluntary reserves account as additional shareholder remuneration for the 2021 fiscal year, for an amount equal to
€0.23 (€£0.1863 net of withholding tax) per outstanding BBVA share entitled to participate in this distribution, which was
paid on April 8, 2022. The total amount paid amounted to €1,467 million.

—  The Board of Directors communicated by means of an Inside Information on September 29, 2022 that the Board of
Directors of BBVA approved the payment of a cash interim dividend of €0.12 (€0.0972 net of withholding tax) per
outstanding BBVA share against 2022 results. The total amount paid to shareholders on October 11, 2022, amounted to
€722 million and is recognized under the heading “Total Equity- Interim Dividends” of the balance sheet as of December 31,
2022.

The forecasted financial statement, drawn up in compliance with the applicable legal requirements, which evidenced the existence of
sufficient liquidity to distribute the abovementioned amount approved by the Board of Directors of BBVA on September 28, 2022 was
the following:
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Available amount for interim dividend payments (Millions of Euros)

August 31, 2022

Profit of BBVA, S.A., after the provision for income tax 2,828
Maximum amount distributable 2,828
Amount of proposed interim dividend 724
BBVA cash balance available to the date 46,768

Other shareholder remuneration

On February 1, 2023, it was announced that a cash distribution for the amount of €0.31 gross per share in April as a final dividend for
the year 2022 and the execution of a share buyback program of BBVA for an amount of €422 million were planned to propose to the
corresponding corporate bodies for consideration, subject to obtaining the corresponding regulatory authorizations and the
communication of the specific terms and conditions of the program before the inception of its execution.

Share buyback program

On October 26, 2021, BBVA obtained the pertinent authorization from the ECB to buy back up to 10% of its share capital for a
maximum of €3,500 million, in one or several tranches and over the course of a 12-month period (the “Authorization”).

Upon receiving the Authorization and making use of the delegation conferred by the BBVA Annual General Meeting held on March 16,
2018, at its meeting of October 28, 2021, BBVA Board of Directors resolved to carry out a share buyback program scheme in
compliance with Regulation (EU) no. 596/2014 of the European Parliament and the Council of April 16, 2014 on market abuse and
Delegate Regulation (EU) no. 2016/1052 of the Commission, of March 8, 2016, executed in various tranches up to a maximum of
€3,500 million, with the aim of reducing BBVA's share capital (the "Program Scheme"), notwithstanding the possibility of terminating
or cancelling the Program Scheme at an earlier date where advisable due to the concurrence of a series of specific circumstances, as
well as to carry out a first share buyback program within the scope of the Program Scheme (the "First Tranche") for the purpose of
reducing BBVA's share capital, which was notified by means of Inside Information on October 29, 2021.

On November 19, 2021, BBVA notified by means of Inside Information that the First Tranche would be executed externally, starting on
November 22, 2021, through J.P. Morgan AG as lead manager, for a maximum amount of €1,500 million, for the purchase of a
maximum of 637,770,016 shares representing, approximately, 9.6% of BBVA's share capital. By means of Other Relevant Information
filing dated March 3, 2022, BBVA announced the completion of the execution of the First Tranche upon reaching the maximum
monetary amount of €1,500 million, having acquired 281,218,710 own shares representing, approximately, 4.22% of BBVA's share
capital as of that date. On June 15, 2022, BBVA notified the partial execution of the share capital reduction resolution adopted by the
Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting of BBVA held on 18 March 2022, through the reduction of BBVA's share capital in a nominal
amount of €137,797,167.90 and the consequent redemption, charged to unrestricted reserves, of 281,218,710 own shares of €0.49
par value each acquired derivatively by the Bank in execution of the First Tranche and which were held in treasury shares (see Notes
23,24 and 26).

On February 3, 2022, BBVA notified by means of Inside Information that its Board of Directors had agreed, within the scope of the
Program Scheme, to carry out a second buyback program for the repurchase of own shares (the “Second Tranche”) aimed at
reducing BBVA's share capital, for a maximum amount of €£€2,000 million and a maximum number of shares to be acquired equal to
the result of subtracting from 637,770,016 own shares (9.6% of BBVA's share capital at that date) the number of own shares finally
acquired in execution of the First Tranche.

As a continuation of the previous communication, on March 16, 2022 BBVA informed by means of Inside Information that it had
agreed to execute the Second Tranche: i) through the execution of a first segment for an amount of up to €1,000 million, and with a
maximum number of shares to be acquired of 356,551,306 shares (the "First Segment"), externally through Goldman Sachs
International as lead manager, who would execute the purchase transactions through the broker Kepler Cheuvreux, S.A.; and (ii) once
execution of the First Segment had been completed, through the execution of a second segment that would complete the Framework
Program (the "Second Segment").

By means of Other Relevant Information dated May 16, 2022, BBVA announced the completion of the execution of the First Segment
upon reaching the maximum monetary amount of €1,000 million, having acquired 206,554,498 shares representing, approximately,
3.1% of BBVA's share capital as of said date.

On June 28, 2022, BBVA communicated through Inside Information the agreement to complete the Program Scheme by executing
the Second Segment, for a maximum amount of €1,000 million and a maximum number of own shares to be acquired of
149,996,808. The execution of the Second Segment take place through Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG as lead manager, as
BBVA informed through Inside Information on June 29, 2022. By means of Other Relevant Information dated August 19, 2022, BBVA
announced the completion of the execution of the Second Segment upon reaching the maximum number of shares (149,996,808)
representing, approximately, 2.3% of BBVA's share capital as of said date (which amounted to approximately €660 million). On
September 30, 2022, BBVA notified through Other Relevant Information an additional partial execution of the share capital reduction
resolution adopted by the Annual General Shareholders’ Meeting of BBVA held on March 18, 2022, through the reduction of BBVA's
share capital in a nominal amount of €174,710,139.94 and the consequent redemption, charged to unrestricted reserves, of
356,551,306 own shares of €0.49 par value each acquired derivatively by the Bank in execution of the First Segment and Second
Segment of the share buyback program scheme and which were held in treasury shares (see Notes 23, 24 and 26).
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Proposal on allocation of earnings for 2022

Below is included a breakdown of the distribution of the Banks earnings for financial year 2022, which the Board of Directors will
submit to the Annual General Meeting for approval.

Allocation of earnings (Millions of Euros)

2022
Profit (loss) for the year 4,816
Distribution
Interim dividends 724
Final dividend 1,869
Reserves / Accumulated gains 2,223
4. Earnings per share

Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated in accordance with the criteria established by IAS 33. For more information see
Glossary of terms.

The calculation of earnings per share of BBVA is as follows:

Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share

2022 2021

Numerator for basic and diluted earnings per share (millions of euros)
Profit attributable to parent company 6,420 4,653
Adjustment: Additional Tier 1 securities (313) (359)
Profit adjusted (millions of euros) (A) 6,107 4,293

Profit (loss) from continued operations (net of remuneration of Additional Tier 1 capital

instruments) 6.107 4014

Profit (loss) from discontinued operations (net of non-controlling interest) (B) — 280
Denominator for basic earnings per share (number of shares outstanding)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 6,424 6,668
Average treasury shares ©) (12)
Share buyback program @ (225) (255)
Adjusted number of shares - Basic earnings per share (C) 6,189 6,401
Adjusted number of shares - diluted earnings per share (D) 6,189 6,401
Earnings (losses) per share 0.99 0.67
Basic earnings (losses) per share from continuing operations (Euros per share) A-B/C 0.99 0.63
Diluted earnings (losses) per share from continuing operations (Euros per share) A-B/D 0.99 0.63
Basic earnings (losses) per share from discontinued operations (Euros per share) B/C — 0.04
Diluted earnings (losses) per share from discontinued operations (Euros per share) B/D - 0.04

(1) Remuneration in the year related to contingent convertible securities, recognized in equity (see Note 20.4).

(2)) On August 19, 2022, BBVA announced the completion of the execution of the share buyback program. In order to calculate the attributable earnings per share in 2022, it
includes the average number of shares taking into account the two redemptions of shares which took place in 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2021, it takes into
account 112 million shares acquired under the shares buyback program and the estimated number of shares pending to be acquired under the first tranche as of December 31,
2021 (see Note 3).

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, there were no other financial instruments or share option commitments to employees that could
potentially affect the calculation of the diluted earnings per share for the years presented. For this reason, basic and diluted earnings
per share are the same.

5. Risk management

5.1 Risk factors

BBVA has processes in place for identifying risks and analyzing scenarios in order to enable to manage risks in a dynamic and
proactive way.

The risk identification processes are forward looking to seek the identification of emerging risks and take into account the concerns of
both the business areas, which are close to the reality of the different geographical areas, and the corporate areas and senior
management.



31

Translation of Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and as amended thereafter,
which adapts the EU-IFRS for banks (see notes 1 to 51). In the event of a discrepancy, the original Spanish-language version prevails.

Risks are identified and measured consistently using the methodologies deemed appropriate in each case. Their measurement
includes the design and application of scenario analyzes and stress testing and considers the controls to which the risks are
subjected.

As part of this process, a forward projection of the Risk Appetite Framework (RAF) variables in stress scenarios is conducted in order
to identify possible deviations from the established thresholds. If any such deviations are detected, appropriate measures are taken to
keep the variables within the target risk profile.

In this context, there are a number of emerging risks that could affect the evolution of the Bank's business. These risks are included in
the following blocks:

— Macroeconomic and geopolitical risks

The Group is sensitive to the deterioration of economic conditions or the alteration of the institutional environment of the countries in
which it operates, and especially Spain, Mexico and Turkey. Additionally, the Group is exposed to sovereign debt, especially in these
areas. Furthermore, the Group has recently increased its shareholding stake in Turkiye Garanti Bankasi A.S. (Garanti BBVA) in an
additional 36.12% (reaching 85.97%) as a result of the voluntary takeover bid for the shares of Garanti BBVA not already owned by
BBVA announced in November 2021.

In addition to the significant macroeconomic problems triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic, the global economy is currently facing a
number of extraordinary challenges. Russia’s invasion of Ukraine, the largest military attack on a European state since World War |I,
has led to significant disruption, instability and volatility in global markets, as well as higher inflation (including by contributing to
further increases in the prices of oil, gas and other commodities and further disrupting supply chains) and lower economic growth.
The European Union, the United States and other governments have imposed significant sanctions and export controls against Russia
and Russian interests and additional sanctions and controls cannot be ruled out.

The conflict has represented a significant supply shock for the global economy, which has hampered economic growth and added to
the inflationary pressures, mainly in European countries, due to their relatively significant economic ties with Ukraine and Russia. The
economic effects are being felt mainly through the higher commodity prices, mainly of energy commodities, despite their moderation
over the last few months in 2022. While the Group's direct exposure to Ukraine and Russia is limited, the war could adversely affect
the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations. Geopolitical and economic risks have also increased lately as a
result of trade tensions between the United States and China, Brexit and the rise of populism, among others. Growing tensions may
lead, among others things, to a deglobalization of the world economy, an increase in protectionism, a general reduction of
international trade in goods and services and a reduction in the integration of financial markets, any of which could materially and
adversely affect the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.

Moreover, the world economy could be vulnerable to other factors such as the aggressive interest rate hikes by central banks due to
growing and widespread inflationary pressures, which could cause a significant growth slowdown - and, even, a sharp economic
recession - as well as financial crises. The central banks of many developed and emerging economies have significantly augmented
policy rates over the last year and the process of tightening monetary conditions is likely to continue going forward in many
economies. The United States Federal Reserve (FED) and the European Central Bank have raised policy interest rates respectively by
425 and 250 basis points throughout 2022 and further adjustments are expected to be announced in the coming months (such as the
rise in the Fed's 0.25 basis points and the ECB's 0.5 basis points, announced on February 1 and February 2, 2023, respectively),
taking them up to around 5.0% in the first case and 3.75% in the case of the interest rates for refinancing operations in the Eurozone.
The Group' s results of operations have been affected by the increases in interest rates adopted by central banks in an attempt to
tame inflation, contributing to the rise in funding costs. Further, increases in interest rates could adversely affect the Group by
reducing the demand for credit, limiting its ability to generate credit for its clients and leading to an increase in the default rate of its
counterparties.

Another risk is a sharp slowdown in the global GDP growth caused by a deceleration in the Chinese economy, due to the disruptions
generated by the coronavirus infections following the flexibilization of the COVID-19 policies or other factors, such as the imbalances
on real estate markets.

The Group bears, among others, the following general risks with respect to the economic and institutional environment in which it
operates: a deterioration in economic activity in the countries in which it operates, including recession scenarios; more persistent
inflationary pressures, which could trigger a more severe tightening of monetary conditions; stagflation due to more intense or
prolonged supply crises; changes in exchange rates; an unfavorable evolution of the real estate market; very high oil and gas prices
could have a negative impact on disposable income levels in areas that are net energy importers, such as Spain or Turkey, to which
the Group is particularly exposed; changes in the institutional environment of the countries in which the Group operates could give
rise to sudden and sharp drops in GDP and/or changes in regulatory or government policy, including in terms of exchange controls
and restrictions on the distribution of dividends or the imposition of new taxes or charges; a growth in the public debt or in the
external deficit could lead to a downward revision of the credit ratings of the sovereign debt and even a possible default or
restructuring of said debt; and episodes of volatility in the markets, which could cause the Group significant losses.

Any of these factors may have a significant adverse impact on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.
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- Risks relating to the political, economic and social conditions in Turkey

In May 2022, the Group increased its shareholding stake in Garanti BBVA (Turkey) from 49.85% to 85.97% following the completion
of a voluntary takeover bid (see Note 3).

Turkey has, from time to time, experienced volatile political, economic and social conditions. As of the date of the approval of these
Consolidated Financial Statements, Turkey is facing an economic crisis characterized by strong depreciation of the Turkish lira, high
inflation (the Turkish Statistical Institute, TUIK, established the inflation rate at 64.3% for the twelve months ended December 31,
2022; see Note 2.2.19 of the BBVA Group Consolidated Financial Statements for the year 2022 for information on the impact of the
application of IAS 29), a soaring trade deficit, depletion of the central bank's foreign reserves and rising external financing costs.
Continuing unfavorable economic conditions in Turkey, such as the elevated inflation and devaluation of the Turkish lira, may result in
a potential deterioration in the purchasing power and creditworthiness of our clients (both individual and corporate).

Additionally, certain ongoing geopolitical and domestic political factors, referred to in this section, as well as continuing regional
conflicts (such as in Syria, Armenia/Azerbaijan), may pose further strain on the country’s economy.

There can be no assurance that these and other factors will not have an impact on Turkey and will not cause further deterioration of
the Turkish economy, which may have a material adverse effect on the Turkish banking sector and the Group's business, financial
condition and results of operations in Turkey.

—  The risks associated with pandemics such as the COVID-19.

The COVID-19 (coronavirus) pandemic has adversely affected the world economy, and economic activity and conditions in the
countries in which the Group operates. Among other challenges, these countries have had to deal with supply disruptions and
increasing inflationary pressures, while public debt has increased significantly due to the support and spending measures
implemented by the government authorities. Furthermore, there has been an increase in loan losses from both companies and
individuals, which has been slowed down by the impact of government support measures, including bank payment deferrals, credit
with public guarantee and direct aid measures. With the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group experienced a decline in its activity. For
example, the granting of new loans to individuals decreased during lockdowns. In addition, in several countries, including Spain, the
Group closed a significant number of its branches and reduced the opening hours of working with the public, with central services
teams having to work remotely. Furthermore, the Group has been affected by the measures or recommendations adopted by
regulatory authorities in the banking sector, such as variations in reference interest rates, the modification of prudential
requirements, the temporary suspension of dividend payments, changes to the terms of payment deferrals and the granting of
guarantees or public guarantees for credit granted to companies and self-employed persons, the adoption of further similar measures
or the modification or termination of those already approved, as well as changes in the financial assets purchase programs by the
ECB.

Furthermore, pandemics like the COVID-19 pandemic could adversely affect the business and transactions of third parties that
provide critical services to the Group and, in particular, the higher demand and/or the lower availability of certain resources,
compounded by ongoing supply bottlenecks could, in some cases, make it more difficult for the Group to maintain the required
service levels.

Further, pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic may exacerbate other risks disclosed in this section, including but not limited to
risks associated with the credit quality of the Group’s borrowers and counterparties or collateral, any withdrawal of ECB funding, the
Group's exposure to sovereign debt and rating downgrades, the Group's ability to comply with its regulatory requirements, including
MREL (Minimum Requirement for Own Funds and Eligible Liabilities) and other capital requirements, and the deterioration of
economic conditions or changes in the institutional environment.

- Regulatory and reputational risks

Financial institutions are exposed to a complex and ever-changing regulatory environment defined by governments and regulators.
Regulatory activity in recent years has affected multiple areas, including changes in accounting standards; strict regulation of capital,
liquidity and remuneration; bank charges (such as the new tax for banks recently approved in Spain, see Note 19.6) and taxes on
financial transactions; regulations affecting mortgages, banking products and consumers and users; recovery and resolution
measures; stress tests; prevention of money laundering and terrorist financing; market abuse; conduct in the financial markets; anti-
corruption; and requirements as to the periodic publication of information. Governments, regulatory authorities and other institutions
continually make proposals to strengthen the resistance of financial institutions to future crises. Further, there is an increasing focus
on the climate-related financial risk management capabilities of banks. Any change in the Group's business that is necessary to
comply with any particular regulations at any given time, especially in Spain, Mexico or Turkey, could lead to a considerable loss of
income, limit the Group’s ability to identify business opportunities, affect the valuation of its assets, force the Group to increase its
prices and, therefore, reduce the demand for its products, impose additional costs on the Group or otherwise adversely affect its
business, financial condition and results of operations.

The financial sector is under ever closer scrutiny by regulators, governments and society itself. In the course of activities, situations
which might cause relevant reputational damage to the Group could arise and might affect the regular course of business.
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- Business, operational and legal risks

New technologies and forms of customer relationships: Developments in the digital world and in information technologies pose
significant challenges for financial institutions, entailing threats (new competitors, disintermediation, etc.) but also opportunities (new
framework of relations with customers, greater ability to adapt to their needs, new products and distribution channels, etc.). Digital
transformation is a priority for the Group as it aims to lead digital banking of the future as one of its objectives.

Technological risks and security breaches: The Group is exposed to new threats such as cyber-attacks, theft of internal and customer
databases, fraud in payment systems, etc. that require major investments in security from both the technological and human point of
view. The Group gives great importance to the active operational and technological risk management and control. Any attack, failure
or deficiency in the Group's systems could, among other things, lead to the misappropriation of funds of the Group’s clients or the
Group itself and the unauthorized disclosure, destruction or use of confidential information, as well as prevent the normal operation of
the Group and impair its ability to provide services and carry out its internal management. In addition, any attack, failure or deficiency
could result in the loss of customers and business opportunities, damage to computers and systems, violation of regulations
regarding data protection and/or other regulations, exposure to litigation, fines, sanctions or interventions, loss of confidence in the
Group’ s security measures, damage to its reputation, reimbursements and compensation, and additional regulatory compliance
expenses and could have a significant adverse impact on the Group’ s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Regarding legal risks, the financial sector faces an environment of increasing regulatory and litigious pressure, and thus, the various
Group entities are frequently party to individual or collective judicial proceedings (including class actions) resulting from their activity
and operations, as well as arbitration proceedings. The Group is also party to government procedures and investigations, such as
those carried out by the antitrust authorities in certain countries which, among other things, have in the past and could in the future
result in sanctions, as well as lead to claims by customers and others. In addition, the regulatory framework in the jurisdictions in
which the Group operates is evolving towards a supervisory approach more focused on the opening of sanctioning proceedings while
some regulators are focusing their attention on consumer protection and behavioral risk.

In Spain and in other jurisdictions where the Group operates, legal and regulatory actions and proceedings against financial
institutions, prompted in part by certain judgments in favor of consumers handed down by national and supranational courts (with
regards to matters such as credit cards and mortgage loans), have increased significantly in recent years and this trend could
continue in the future. The legal and regulatory actions and proceedings faced by other financial institutions in relation to these and
other matters, especially if such actions or proceedings result in favorable resolutions for the consumer, could also adversely affect
the Group.

All of the above may result in a significant increase in operating and compliance costs or even a reduction of revenues, and it is
possible that an adverse outcome in any proceedings (depending on the amount thereof, the penalties imposed or the procedural or
management costs for the Group) could damage the Group's reputation, generate a knock-on effect or otherwise adversely affect the
Group.

It is difficult to predict the outcome of legal and regulatory actions and proceedings, both those to which the Group is currently
exposed and those that may arise in the future, including actions and proceedings relating to former Group subsidiaries or in respect
of which the Group may have indemnification obligations. Any of such outcomes could be significantly adverse to the Group. In
addition, a decision in any matter, whether against the Group or against another credit entity facing similar claims as those faced by
the Group, could give rise to other claims against the Group. In addition, these actions and proceedings attract resources from the
Group and may occupy a great deal of attention on part of the Group's management and employees.

As of December 31, 2022, the Group had €685 million in provisions for the proceedings it is facing (included in the line "Provisions for
taxes and other legal contingencies" in the consolidated balance sheet), of which €524 million correspond to legal contingencies and
€161 million to tax related matters. However, the uncertainty arising from these proceedings (including those for which no provisions
have been made, either because it is not possible to estimate them or for other reasons) makes it impossible to guarantee that the
possible losses arising from these proceedings will not exceed, where applicable, the amounts that the Group currently has
provisioned and, therefore, could affect the Group's consolidated results in a given period.

As a result of the above, legal and regulatory actions and proceedings currently faced by the Group or to which it may become subject
in the future or otherwise affected by, individually or in the aggregate, if resolved in whole or in part adversely to the Group's interests,
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

Spanish judicial authorities are investigating the activities of Centro Exclusivo de Negocios y Transacciones, S.L. (Cenyt). Such
investigation includes the provision of services by Cenyt to the Bank. On July 29, 2019, the Bank was named as an investigated party
(investigado) in a criminal judicial investigation (Preliminary Proceeding No. 96/2017 — Piece No. 9, Central Investigating Court No. 6
of the National High Court) for alleged facts which could be constitutive of bribery, revelation of secrets and corruption. On February
3, 2020, the Bank was notified by the Central Investigating Court No. 6 of the National High Court of the order lifting the secrecy of the
proceedings. Certain current and former officers and employees of the Group, as well as former directors have also been named as
investigated parties in connection with this investigation. The Bank has been and continues to be proactively collaborating with the
Spanish judicial authorities, including sharing with the courts information obtained in the internal investigation hired by the entity in
2019 to contribute to the clarification of the facts. As of the date of the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, no
formal accusation against the Bank has been made.

This criminal judicial proceeding is at the pre-trial phase. Therefore, it is not possible at this time to predict the scope or duration of
such proceeding or any related proceeding or its or their possible outcomes or implications for the Group, including any fines,
damages or harm to the Group’s reputation caused thereby.
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— Climate change risks

Climate change presents both short, medium and long-term risks to the Group and its customers, and these risks are expected to
increase over time. The Group's activities or those of its customers and/or counterparties could be negatively affected by, among
others, the following risks:

—  Transition Risks: Risks linked to the transition to a low-carbon economy as a response to climate change, and that come
from changes in legislation, the market, consumers, etc., to mitigate and address the requirements derived from climate
change. Transition risks include:

a. Legal and regulatory risks: Legislative or regulatory changes related to the way banks manage climate risk or that
otherwise affect banking practices or the disclosure of climate-related information may lead to increased costs
and compliance risks, operational and credit. Group customers and counterparties may also face similar
challenges.

b.  Technological risks: Among others, those risks derived from the transition costs to low-emission technologies or
from non-adaptation to them, which could eventually reduce the credit capacity of the Group's customers.

c. Market risks: BBVA is exposed to risks of a considerable increase in the cost of financing for customers with
greater exposure to climate change risk, in such a way that their solvency or credit rating is affected. BBVA is also
exposed to risks derived from changes in demand, changes in supply or the cost of energy, among others.

d. Reputational risks: The perception of climate change as a risk by society, shareholders, customers, governments
and other interested parties continues to increase, encompassing the operations and strategy of the financial
sector. This may lead to increased scrutiny of activities, policies, objectives and the way in which aspects related
to climate change are disclosed. The Group's reputation may be damaged if its efforts to reduce environmental
and social risks are deemed insufficient.

—  Physical risks: Risks that come from climate change and can be caused by greater frequency and severity of extreme
weather events or long-term weather changes, and that can lead to physical damage to the assets of the Group or its
customers, the interruption of their operations, disruptions in the supply chain or increased expenses necessary to deal with
them, thus impacting the value of assets or the solvency of customers.

Any of these factors may have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

5.2 Creditrisk

Credit risk is the potential loss assumed by the Bank as a result of the failure by the Bank “s counterparties to meet their contractual
obligations.

The general principles governing credit risk management in the BBVA are:
—  Risks taken should comply with the general risk policy established by the Board of Directors of BBVA.

—  Risks taken should be in line with the level of equity and generation of recurring revenue of the BBVA prioritizing risk
diversification and avoiding relevant concentrations.

—  Risks taken should be identified, measured and assessed and there should be management and monitoring procedures, in
addition to sound mitigation and control mechanisms.

—  Risks should be managed in a prudent and integrated manner during their life cycle and their treatment should be based on
the type of risk. In addition, portfolios should be actively managed on the basis of a common metric (economic capital).

—  The main criterion when granting credit risks is the capability of the borrower or obligor to fulfill on a timely basis all financial
obligations with its business income or source of income without depending upon guarantors, bondsmen or pledged assets.

- Improve the financial health of our clients, help them in their decision making and in the daily management of their finances
based on personalized advice.

— Help our clients in the transition towards a sustainable future, with a focus on climate change and inclusive and sustainable
social development.

Credit risk management in the Group has an integrated structure for all its functions, allowing decisions to be taken objectively and
independently throughout the life cycle of the risk.

At Bank level: frameworks for action and standard rules of conduct are defined for handling risk, specifically, the channels,
procedures, structure and supervision.

The risk function has a decision-making process supported by a structure of committees with a solid governance scheme, which
describes their purposes and functioning for a proper performance of their tasks.
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Support measures

Since the beginning of the pandemic, the Bank has offered COVID-19 support measures to its customers, consisting of both deferrals
on existing loans and new public-guaranteed lending. The deadline for applying for these measures has expired.

Only measures related to new financing with BBVA's public guarantee remain in force in the following:

—  The Official Credit Institute (ICO by its Spanish acronym) published several support programs aimed at the self-employed,
small and medium-sized enterprises (hereinafter "SMEs") and companies, through which a guarantee of between 60% and
80% was granted by the ICO (for a term of up to 5 years for new financing granted under RDL Mar/2020, RDL Nov/2020,
RDL 5/2021 and the Code of Good Practices).

- InMarch 2022, the Council of Ministers agreed to modify the Code of Good Practices to lessen access conditions given the
difficulties of clients, which are facing sharp increases in costs due to their special exposure to tensions in the prices of
energy and other raw materials.

— As an additional measure of the Code of Good Practices, the Council of Ministers approved the agreement to establish the
possibility of term extensions of ICO financing given to self-employed and companies, after June 30, 2022, after the expiry
of the Temporary Framework of state support approved by the European Commission.

In addition, on November 23, 2022, Royal Decree-Law 19/2022, of November 22, was published. It amends the Code of Good
Practices, establishes a new Code of Good Practices easing the interest rates hike on mortgage loans agreements related to primary
residences, and provides for other structural measures aiming to improve the loan market. BBVA has adhered to the new Code of
Good Practices with effect from January 1, 2023.

The outstanding balance of existing loans for which a payment deferral was granted (split by those existing at year-end and those that
were completed by year-end) under EBA standards and for which financing was granted with public guarantees given at Bank level,
as well as the number of customers of both measures, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Amount of payment deferral and financing with public guarantees (Millions of Euros)

Financing with public
Payment deferral guarantees
public guarantees

Total payment

o .
Existing Completed Total Number of Total Number of deferral and .( %) credit
customers customers investment
guarantees
December 2022 — 5,066 5,066 71,365 12,342 159,057 17,408 7.7%
December 2021 147 5607 5,754 79,566 13,168 153,708 18,922 8.8%

The outstanding balance of existing loans for which a payment deferral was granted (split by those existing at year-end and those that
were completed by year-end) under EBA standards and for which financing was granted with public guarantees given at Bank level,
broken down by segment, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Amount of payment deferral and financing with public guarantees by concept (Millions of Euros)

Payment deferral Financing with
Existing Completed Total public guarantees
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Households — 107 4,660 5,109 4,660 5,215 1,193 1,150
Of which: mortgages — 96 4,107 4,385 4,107 4,481 — —
SMEs — 40 317 347 317 387 8,355 8,524
Non-financial corporations _ _ 77 138 77 138 2777 3.477

Other - — n 14 n 14 17 16
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Amount of financing with public guarantees by stages (Millions of Euros)

Stage 1and 2 Stage 3 Total
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Households 1,139 1127 54 24 1,193 1,150
Of which: mortgages — — — — — —
SMEs 7,826 8,203 529 321 8,355 8,524
Non-financial corporations 2,634 3,336 143 142 2,777 3,477
Other 17 16 — — 17 16

In Spain, in the case of a doubtful transaction with an ICO guarantee, the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Digital Transformation
becomes the principal obligee of the guaranteed obligations from the time of communication to the ICO of the execution of the
guarantee. This also occurs in the event of early maturity of the debt, without prejudice to the fact that payments are made according
to the schedule initially agreed between the client and the entity. From that moment on, the original debt with the client will be
derecognized, simultaneously recognizing a credit right before the Ministry for the guaranteed amount.

5.2.1 Measurement of Expected Credit Loss

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 requires determining the Expected Credit Loss (hereinafter "ECL") of a financial instrument in a way
that reflects an unbiased estimation removing any conservatism or optimism, including the time value of money and a forward looking
perspective (including the economic forecast) all this based on the information that is available at a certain point in time and that is
reasonable and bearable with respect to future economic conditions.

Therefore, the recognition and measurement of ECL is highly complex and involves the use of significant analysis and estimation
including formulation and incorporation of forward-looking economic conditions into the ECL model.

The modeling of the ECL calculation is subject to a governance system that is common to the BBVA. Within this common framework,
the necessary adaptations have been made to capture the particularities of BBVA S.A. The methodology, assumptions and
observations are reviewed annually, and after a validation and approval process, the outcome of this review is incorporated into the
ECL calculations.

Risk parameters by homogeneous groups

Expected losses can be estimated both individually and collectively. Regarding the collective estimate, the instruments are distributed
in homogeneous groups (segments) that share similar risk characteristics. Following the guidelines established by the Group for the
development of models under the applied norm, the Bank performed the grouping based on the information available, its
representativeness or relevance and compliance with the necessary statistical requirements.

Depending on the portfolio or the parameter being estimated, one risk driver or another will apply and different segments will reflect
differences in PDs and LGDs. Thus, in each segment, changes in the level of credit risk will respond to the impact of changing
conditions on the common range of credit risk drivers. The effect on the Bank’s credit risk in response to changes in forward-looking
information will be considered as well. Macroeconomic modeling for each segment is carried out using some of the shared risk
characteristics.

These segments share credit risk characteristics such that changes in credit risk in a part of the portfolio are not concealed by the
performance of other parts of the portfolio. In that sense, the methodology developed for ECL estimation indicates the risk drivers
that have to be taken into account for PD segmentation purposes, depending on whether the estimation is for retail or wholesale
portfolios.

As an example of the variables that can be taken into consideration to determine the final models, the following stand out:

—  PD - Retail: Contractual residual maturity, credit risk scoring, type of product, days past due, forbearance, time on books,
time to maturity, nationality of the debtor, sale channel, original term, indicator of credit card activity, percentage of initial
drawn balance in credit cards.

-  PD - Wholesale: Credit Risk Rating, type of product, watch-list level, forbearance (client), time to maturity, industry sector,
updated balance (y/n), written off, grace period.

— LGD - Retail: credit Risk Scoring, segment, type of product, secured / unsecured, type of collateral, sales channel,
nationality, business area, debtor's commercial segment, forbearance (account) EAD (this risk driver could be correlated
with the time on books or the LTV so, before including it, an assessment should be done in order to avoid a double counting
effect), time on default of the account (for defaulted exposures), geographical location.

— LGD - Wholesale: credit Risk Rating, geographical location, segment, type of product, secured / Unsecured, type of
collateral, business area, forbearance (client), debtor's commercial segment time on default of the deal (for defaulted
exposures).
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-  CCF - Wholesale/retail, percentage of initial drawn balance, debtor’'s commercial segment, days past due, forbearance,
credit limit activity, time on books.

In BBVA, the expected losses calculated are based on the internal models developed for all the portfolios, unless clients are subject to
individualized estimates.

Low Default Portfolios, which include portfolios with high credit quality such as exposures to other credit institutions, sovereign debt
or corporates and small client's portfolios with high exposures such as specialized lending or fixed income, are characterized by a low
number of defaults, so the Group's historical bases do not contain sufficiently representative information to build impairment models
based on them. However, there are external sources of information that, based on broader observations, are capable of providing the
necessary inputs to develop models of expected losses. Therefore, based on the rating assigned to these exposures and taking into
account the inputs obtained from these sources, the calculations of expected losses are developed internally, including their
projection based on the macroeconomic perspectives.

Individual estimation of Expected Credit Losses

The Bank periodically and individually reviews the situation and credit rating of its customers, regardless of their classification, taking
into consideration the information deemed necessary to do so. It also has procedures in place within the risk management framework
to identify the factors that may lead to increased risk and, consequently, to a greater need for provisions.

The monitoring model established by the Bank consists of continuously monitoring the risks to which it is exposed, which guarantees
their proper classification in the different categories of the Standard. The original analysis of the exposures is reviewed through the
procedures for updating the rating tools (rating and scoring), which periodically review the financial situation of clients, influencing the
classification by stages of exposures.

Within this credit risk management framework, the Bank has procedures that seek to guarantee the review, at least annually, of all its
wholesale counterparties through the so-called financial programs, which include the current and proposed positioning of the Bank
with the customer in terms of credit risk. This review is based on a detailed analysis of the client's up-to-date financial situation, which
is complemented by other information available in relation to individual perspectives on business performance, industry trends,
macroeconomic prospects or other public data. As a result of this analysis, the preliminary rating of the client is obtained, which, after
undergoing the internal procedure, can be revised down if deemed appropriate (for example, general economic environment or
evolution of the sector). These factors in addition to the information that the client can provide are used to review the ratings even
before the scheduled financial plan reviews are conducted if circumstances warrant.

Additionally, the Bank has established procedures to identify wholesale customers in the internal Watch List category, which is
defined as that risk in which, derived from an individualized credit analysis, an increase in credit risk is observed, either due to
economic or financial difficulties or because they have suffered, or are expected to suffer, adverse situations in their environment,
without meeting the criteria for classification as impaired risk. Under this procedure, all a customer's Watch List exposures are
considered stage 2 regardless of when they originated, if as a result of the analysis the customer is considered to have significantly
increased risk.

Finally, the Bank has so-called Workout Committee, which analyze not only the situation and evolution of significant clients in Watch
List and impaired situations, but also those significant clients in which, although not on Watch List, may present some stage 2 rated
exposure for a quantitative reason (PD comparison from origination). This analysis is carried out in order to decide if, derived from
this situation, all the client's exposures should be considered in the Watch List category, which would imply the migration of all the
client's operations to stage 2 regardless of the date on which they originated.

With this, the Bank ensures an individualized review of the credit quality of its wholesale counterparties, identifying the situations in
which a change in the risk profile of these clients may have occurred and proceeding, where appropriate, to estimate individualized
credit losses. Along with this review, the Group individually estimates the expected losses of those clients whose total exposure
exceeds certain thresholds, including those that part of their operations may be classified in stage 1 and part in stage 2. In setting
thresholds, each geography determines the minimum amount of a client's exposure whose expected losses must be estimated
individually taking into account the following:

—  For clients with exposures in stage 3. The analysis of clients with total risk above this threshold implies analyzing at least
40% of the total risk of the wholesale portfolio in stage 3. Although the calibration of the threshold is done on the wholesale
portfolio, clients of other portfolios must be analyzed if they exceed the threshold, staying in stage 3.

—  Forall other situations. The analysis of clients with total risk above this threshold implies analyzing at least 20% of the total
risk of the Watch List wholesale portfolio. Although the threshold calibration is carried out on the exposure classified as
Watch List, wholesale clients or clients belonging to other portfolios that have exposures classified in stage 2 and whose
total exposure exceeds the mentioned threshold must be analyzed individually, considering both the exposures classified in
stage 1as in stage 2.

Regarding the methodology for the individual estimation of expected losses, it should be mentioned, firstly, that these are measured
as the difference between the asset’'s carrying amount and the estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset'’s
effective interest rate.

The estimated recoverable amount should correspond to the amount calculated under the following method:

—  The present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate; and

—  The estimation of the recoverable amount of a collateralized exposure reflects the cash flows that may result from the
settlement of the collateral, as well as prospective information the analyst may implicitly include in the analysis.
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The estimated future cash flows depend on the type of approach applied, which can be:

- Going concern scenario: when the entity has updated and reliable information about the solvency and ability of payment of
the holders or guarantors. The operating cash flows of the debtor, or the guarantor, continue and can be used to repay the
financial debt to all creditors. In addition, collateral may be exercised to the extent it does not influence operating cash
flows. The following aspects should be taken into account:

a. Future operating cash flows should be based on the financial statements of the debtor.

b.  When the projections made on these financial statements assume a growth rate, a constant or decreasing growth
rate must be used over a maximum growth period of 3 to 5 years, and subsequently constant cash flows.

c. The growth rate should be based on the analysis of the evolution of the debtor's financial statements or on a
sound and applicable business restructuring plan, taking into account the resulting changes in the structure of the
company (for example, due to divestments or the interruption of unprofitable lines of business).

d. (Re)-investments that are needed to preserve cash flows should be considered, as well as any foreseeable future
cash-flow changes (e.g. if a patent or a long-term loan expires).

e. When the recoverability of the exposure relies on the realization of the disposal of some assets by the debtor, the
selling price should reflect the estimated future cash flows that may result from the sale of the assets less the
estimated costs associated with the disposal.

— Gone concern scenario: when the entity does not have updated and reliable information, it should consider that the
estimation of loan receivable flows is highly uncertain. Estimation should be carried out through the estimation of
recoverable amounts from the effective real guarantees received. It will not be admissible as effective guarantees, those
whose effectiveness depends substantially on the creditworthiness of the debtor or economic group in which it takes part.
Under a gone concern scenario, the collateral is exercised and the operating cash flows of the debtor cease. This could be
the case if:

a. The exposure has been past due for a long period. There is a rebuttable presumption that the allowance should be
estimated under a gone concern criterion when arrears are greater than 18 months.

b.  Future operating cash flows of the debtor are estimated to be low or negative.
c. Exposure is significantly collateralized, and this collateral is central to cash-flow generation.

d. Thereis a significant degree of uncertainty surrounding the estimation of the future cash flows. This would be the
case if the earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) of the two previous years had
been negative, or if the business plans of the previous years had been flawed (due to material discrepancies in the
backtesting).

e. Insufficient information is available to perform a going concern analysis.
Significant increase in credit risk

As indicated in Note 2.1, the criteria for identifying the significant increase in risk are applied consistently, distinguishing between
quantitative reasons or by comparison of probabilities of default and qualitative reasons (more than 30 days of default, watch list
consideration or non-impaired refinancing).

To manage credit risk, the Bank uses all relevant information that is available and that may affect the credit quality of the exposures.
This information may come mainly from the internal processes of admission, analysis and monitoring of operations, from the strategy
defined by the Bank regarding the price of operations or distribution by geographies, products or sectors of activity, from the
observance of the macroeconomic environment, from market data such as interest rate curves, or prices of the different financial
instruments, or from external sources of credit rating.

This set of information is the basis for determining the rating and scoring (see Note 5.2.4 for more information on rating and scoring
systems) corresponding to each of the exposures and which are assigned a probability of default (PD) that, as already mentioned, is
subject to an annual review process that assesses its representativeness (backtesting) and is updated with new observations.
Furthermore, the projection of these PDs over time has been modeled based on macroeconomic expectations, which allows obtaining
the probabilities of default throughout the life of the operations.

Based on this methodology, and in accordance with the provisions of the standard and the EBA guidelines on credit risk management
practices, BBVA has established absolute and relative thresholds for identifying whether the expected changes in the probabilities of
default have increased significantly compared to the initial moment, adapted to the particularities of each one of them in terms of
origination levels, product characteristics, distribution by sectors or portfolios, and macroeconomic situation. To establish the
aforementioned thresholds, a series of general principles are considered, such as:

- Uniformity: Based on the rating and scoring systems that, in a homogeneous manner, are implemented in the Group's units.

—  Stability: The thresholds must be established to identify the significant increase in risk produced in exposures since their
initial recognition and not only to identify those situations in which it is already foreseeable that they will reach the level of
impairment. For this reason, it is to be expected that of the total exposures there will always be a representative group for
which said increased risk is identified.
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—  Anticipation: The thresholds must consider the identification of the increased risk in advance with respect to the recognition
of the exposures as impaired or even before a real default occurs. The calibration of the thresholds should minimize the
cases in which the instruments are classified in stage 3 without having previously been recognized as stage 2.

— Indicators or metrics: It is expected that the classification of the exposures in stage 2 will have sufficient permanence to be
able to develop an anticipatory management plan with respect to them before, where applicable, they end up migrating to
stage 3.

—  Symmetry: standard provides for a symmetric treatment both to identify the significant increase in risk and to identify that
it has disappeared, so the thresholds also work to improve the credit classification of exposures. In this sense, it is expected
that the cases in which the exhibitions that improve from stage 3 are directly classified into stage 1 will be minimal.

— The identification of the significant increase in risk from the comparison of the probabilities of default should be the main
reason why exposures in stage 2 are recognized.

Specifically, a contract will be transferred to stage 2 when the following two conditions are met by comparing the current PD values
and the origination PD values:

(Current PD) / (Origination PD) - 1*100 >Relative Threshold (%) and

Current PD - Origination PD > Absolute threshold (bps)
These absolute and relative thresholds are consistently established for each portfolio, taking into account their particularities and
based on the principles described. The thresholds are included within the annual review process and, generally speaking, are in the
range of 80% to 200% for the relative threshold and from 30 to 100 basis points for the absolute threshold. Specifically, in BBVA,
S.A.'s wholesale portfolio the relative threshold is from 160% to 180% and the absolute threshold ranges from 30 to 100 basis points;
in the retail portfolio the relative threshold is between 150% and 200% while the absolute threshold ranges between 50 and 100 basis
points.
The establishment of absolute and relative thresholds, as well as their different levels, comply with the provisions of the standard
when it indicates that a certain change, in absolute terms, in the risk of a default will be more significant for a financial instrument with
a lower initial risk of default compared to a financial instrument with higher initial risk of default.

For existing contracts before the implementation of the standard, given the limitations in the information available on them, the
thresholds are calibrated based on the PDs obtained from the prudential or economic models for calculating capital.

Risk Parameters Adjusted by Macroeconomic Scenarios

Expected Credit Loss (ECL) must include forward looking information, in accordance with Circular 4/2017 which states that the
comprehensive credit risk information must incorporate not only historical information but also all relevant credit information, also
including forward-looking macroeconomic information. BBVA uses the typical credit risk parameters PD, LGD and EAD in order to
calculate the ECL for the credit portfolios.

BBVA methodological approach in order to incorporate the forward looking information aims to determine the relation between
macroeconomic variables and risk parameters following three main steps:

—  Step 1: Analysis and transformation of time series data.
—  Step 2: For each dependent variable find conditional forecasting models that are economically consistent.

—  Step 3: Select the best conditional forecasting model from the set of candidates defined in Step 2, based on their
forecasting capacity.

How economic scenarios are reflected in the calculation of ECL
The forward looking component is added to the calculation of the ECL through the introduction of macroeconomic scenarios as an
input. Inputs highly depend on the particular combination of region and portfolio, so inputs are adapted to available data regarding

each of them.

Based on economic theory and analysis, the main indicators most directly relevant for explaining and forecasting the selected risk
parameters (PD, LGD and EAD) are:

—  The netincome of families, corporates or public administrations.
—  The outstanding payment amounts on the principal and interest on the financial instruments.
—  The value of the collateral assets pledged to the loan.

The Bank approximates these variables by using a proxy indicator from the set included in the macroeconomic scenarios provided by
the BBVA Research department.

Only a single specific indicator for each of the three categories can be used and only one of the following core macroeconomic
indicators should be chosen as first option:
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—  The real GDP growth for the purpose of conditional forecasting can be seen as the only “factor” required for capturing the
influence of all potentially relevant macro-financial scenarios on internal PDs and LGD.

—  The most representative short term interest rate (typically the policy rate or the most liquid sovereign yield or interbank
rate) or exchange rates expressed in real terms.

- A comprehensive and representative index of the price of real estate properties expressed in real terms in the case of
mortgage loans and a representative and real term index of the price of the relevant commodity for corporate loan
portfolios concentrated in exporters or producers of such commodity.

Real GDP growth is given priority over any other indicator not only because it is the most comprehensive indicator of income and
economic activity but also because it is the central variable in the generation of macroeconomic scenarios.

Multiple scenario approach

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 requires calculating an unbiased probability weighted measurement of ECL by evaluating a range of
possible outcomes, including forecasts of future economic conditions.

The BBVA Research teams within the BBVA Group produce forecasts of the macroeconomic variables under the baseline scenario,
which are used in the rest of the related processes of the Group, such as budgeting, ICAAP and risk appetite framework, stress
testing, etc.

Additionally, the BBVA Research teams produce alternative scenarios to the baseline scenario so as to meet the requirements under
the Circular 4/2017.

Alternative macroeconomic scenarios
—  For each of the macro-financial variables, BBVA Research produces three scenarios.

- BBVA Research tracks, analyzes and forecasts the economic environment to provide a consistent forward looking
assessment about the most likely scenario and risks that impact BBVA's footprint. To build economic scenarios, BBVA
Research combines official data, econometric techniques and expert judgment.

— Each of these scenarios corresponds to the expected value of a different area of the probabilistic distribution of the possible
projections of the economic variables.

—  The non-linearity overlay is defined as the ratio between the probability-weighted ECL under the alternative scenarios and
the baseline scenario, where the scenario’s probability depends on the distance of the alternative scenarios from the base
one.

— The Bank establishes equally weighted scenarios, being the probability 34% for the baseline scenario, 33% for the
unfavorable alternative scenario and 33% for the favorable alternative scenario.

The approach in the BBVA consists on using the scenario that is the most likely scenario, which is the baseline scenario, consistent
with the rest of internal processes (ICAAP, Budgeting, etc.) and then applying an overlay adjustment that is calculated by taking into
account the weighted average of the ECL determined by each of the scenarios. This effect is calculated taking into account the
average weight of the expected loss determined for each scenario.

It is important to note that in general, it is expected that the effect of the overlay is to increase the ECL. It is possible to obtain an
overlay that does not have that effect, whenever the relationship between macro scenarios and losses is linear.

On the other hand, BBVA also takes into account the range of possible scenarios when defining its significant increase in credit risk.
Thus, the PDs used in the quantitative process to identify the significant increase in credit risk will be those that result from making a
weighted average of the PDs calculated under the three scenarios.

Macroeconomic scenarios

The COVID-19 pandemic generated uncertainty over macroeconomic outlooks, having a direct impact on the credit risk of entities,
particularly, on the expected credit losses under Circular 4/2017. For this reason, practically all accounting and prudential authorities
in a coordinated manner issued recommendations or measures with respect to how situations caused by COVID-19 should be treated
for purposes of the expected loss estimation models under Circular 4/2017 in the year 2020. The BBVA Group considered these
recommendations in calculating expected credit risk losses under Circular 4/2017 based on the assumption that the economic
situation caused by the COVID-19 pandemic would be transitory and that it would be accompanied by a recovery, in light of the
uncertainties regarding its gravity and duration. Therefore, to calculate such losses, various scenarios were considered, recording the
one that, in the opinion of the Bank, best reflected the economic prospects and the set of recommendations from authorities.

In 2021, once the most critical phase of the pandemic was overcome, the forward-looking information incorporated in the calculation
of expected losses was in line with the macroeconomic perspectives published by BBVA Research, as was usual until the beginning of
the pandemic.
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BBVA Research forecasts a maximum of five years for the macroeconomic variables. The following forecasts (favorable, base and
unfavorable scenarios) of the Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth, unemployment rate and House Price Index (HPI), carried out by
BBVA Research, were used for the calculation of the ECL as of December 31, 2022:

Main BBVA, S.A. variables.

Dat C:DP GDP base (iDP HPI negative HPI base HPI positive Unemploym,f"t Unemployment U"employn.":nt

ate negative scenario posttive scenario scenario scenario negative | ase scenario posttive

scenario scenario scenario scenario
2022 4.33% 4.61% 4.90% (4.13)% (3.50)% (2.96)% 13.26% 12.78% 12.27%
2023 0.58% 1.20% 1.85% (4.02)% 2.41% (0.61)% 14.26% 12.83% 11.35%
2024 3.15% 3.37% 3.60% (0.40)% 0.55% 1.58% 12.95% 11.38% 9.75%
2025 2.93% 2.98% 3.00% 0.79% 1.30% 1.67% 11.53% 9.95% 8.36%
2026 2.91% 2.95% 2.95% 0.99% 1.74% 2.20% 10.14% 8.58% 7.02%
2027 2.89% 2.93% 2.93% 1.10% 1.86% 2.31% 8.77% 7.18% 5.87%

The estimate for the next five years of the following rates, used in the measurement of the expected loss as of December 31, 2021,
consistent with the latest estimates made public at that date, was:

Main BBVA, S.A. variables.

GDP  :DPbase GDP positive HPI negative HPlbase HPI positive Unemployme Unemployme Unemployme

Date negati\(e scenario scenario scenario scenario scenario nt negati\{e nt basg nt positi\(e
scenario scenario scenario scenario
2021 4.95% 523 % 5.52% (0.82)% (0.20)% 0.33% 15.41% 1493 % 14.42%
2022 4.88% 549 % 6.14% 1.31% 291 % 4.70% 15.41% 1398 %  12.50%
2023 4.68% 4.89 % 5.13% 1.09% 2.04 % 3.06% 13.25% 11.68 %  10.05%
2024 2.54% 2.59 % 2.61% 0.99% 1.50 % 1.87% 11.65% 10.08 % 8.48%
2025 2.18% 222% 2.22% 0.35% 110 % 1.56% 10.62% 9.05% 7.49%
2026 2.15% 2.19 % 2.19% (0.01)% 0.74 % 1.19% 9.61% 8.15 % 6.71%

Sensitivity to macroeconomic scenarios

A sensitivity exercise has been carried out on the expected losses due to variations in the key hypotheses as they are the ones that
introduce the greatest uncertainty in estimating such losses. As a first step, GDP and the House Price Index have been identified as
the most relevant variables. These variables have been subjected to shocks of +/- 100 bps in their entire window with impact of the
macro models. Independent sensitivities have been assessed, under the assumption of assigning a 100% probability to each
determined scenario with these independent shocks.

Variation in expected loss is determined both by re-staging (that is: in worse scenarios due to the recognition of lifetime credit losses
for additional operations that are transferred to stage 2 from stage 1 where 12 months of losses are valued: or vice versa in
improvement scenarios) as well as variations in the collective risk parameters (PD and LGD) of each financial instrument due to the

changes defined in the macroeconomic forecasts of the scenario. The variation in the expected loss and the main portfolios is shown
below:

Expected loss variation as of December 31, 2022

GDP Total Portfolio Companies Retail
-100pb 18 54 62
+100pb (95) (42) (52)
Housing price

-100pb 1 23
+100pb M (22)

Expected loss variation as of December 31, 2021

GDP Total Portfolio Companies Retail
-100pb 92 19 58
+100pb (88) (18) (57)
Housing price

-100pb 4 54

+100pb 4 (53)
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Additional adjustments to expected loss measurement

The Bank periodically reviews its individual estimates and its models for the collective estimate of expected losses as well as the effect
of macroeconomic scenarios on them. In addition, the Bank may supplement the expected losses to account for the effects that may
not be included, either by considering additional risk factors, or by the incorporation of sectorial particularities or particularities that
may affect a set of operations or borrowers, following a formal internal approval process established for this purpose.

During 2022, in the case of Spain, the expected losses of operations considered unlikely to pay were reviewed, adjusting, in the model,
the severity of these transactions to align it with that of impaired loans, which resulted in the recording of an additional provision of
€250 million in the income statement for the year 2022. Similarly, during 2021, for clients benefiting from the measures of RDL
6/2012, loss given default were reviewed, resulting in an adjustment whose remaining amount at the end of 2022 was €138 million,
with no significant variation in year.

The complementary adjustments pending allocation to specific operations or clients as of December 31, 2022 totaled €170 million . In
comparison, as of December 31, 2021, the complementary adjustments pending allocation to specific operations or clients amounted
to €226 million. The variation in the year is due to, on the one hand, the revision or partial consumption of the adjustments that were
deemed necessary in connection with payment deferrals, public guarantees or sectors most affected by the pandemic and, on the
other hand, the additional losses amounting to €62 million relating to exposures to the corporate portfolios (wholesale borrowers and
small and medium enterprises), which could be more affected by the economic context of high inflation, interest rates or energy
prices.
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5.2.2 Credit risk exposure

BBVA's maximum credit risk exposure (see definition below) by headings in the balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is
provided below. It does not consider the loss allowances and the availability of collateral or other credit enhancements to guarantee
compliance with payment obligations. The details are broken down by financial instruments:

Maximum credit risk exposure (Millions of Euros)

Notes Dece;g:zezr Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Financial assets held for trading 56,368
Equity instruments 8 3,361
Debt securities 8 1,318
Government 9,225
Credit institutions 759
Other sectors 1,333
Loans and advances 8 41,690
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value
through profit or loss 546
Equity instruments 9 438
Debt securities 9 107
Government 20
Credit institutions 47
Other sectors 40
Loans and advances to customers 9 —
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 10 _
or loss
Derivatives (trading and hedging) 42,468
e a1 Hroush othr - - =
Equity instruments 11.2 977
Debt securities 23,898 23,872 — 26
Government 18,090 18,090 — —
Credit institutions 995 995 — —
Other sectors 4,813 4,787 — 26
Financial assets at amortized cost 251,786 224,645 19,678 7,464
Debt securities 25,320 25,317 — 3
Loans and advances to central banks 10 10 — —
Loans and advances to credit institutions 9,335 9,277 58 —
Loans and advances to customers 217,121 190,040 19,620 7,461
Total financial assets risk 376,043
Total loan commitments and financial guarantees 139,104 133,635 4,732 738
Loan commitments given 29 95,948 92,853 2,972 123
Financial guarantees given 29 16,305 15,657 473 175
Other commitments given 29 26,850 25,124 1,286 439

(1) Without considering derivatives whose counterparty are BBVA Group companies.
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Maximum credit risk exposure (Millions of Euros)

December

Notes 2021 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
Financial assets held for trading 77,002
Equity instruments 8 15,146
Debt securities 8 11,546
Government 9,265
Credit institutions 493
Other sectors 1,788
Loans and advances 8 50,310
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value
through profit or loss 437
Equity instruments 9 172
Debt securities 9 125
Government -
Credit institutions 48
Other sectors 77
Loans and advances to customers ] 140
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 10 _
or loss
Derivatives (trading and hedging) 34,288
Equity instruments 11.2 1,103
Debt securities 27,107 27,107 — —
Government 21,316 21,316 — —
Credit institutions 1,295 1,295 — —
Other sectors 4,496 4,496 — —
Financial assets at amortized cost 236,539 207,009 21,391 8,139
Debt securities 22,320 22,308 10 3
Loans and advances to central banks 254 254 — —
Loans and advances to credit institutions 8,372 8,370 2 —
Loans and advances to customers 205,593 176,078 21,378 8,137
Total financial assets risk 376,475
Total loan commitments and financial guarantees 125,197 116,942 7,582 672
Loan commitments given 29 89,353 84,611 4,633 109
Financial guarantees given 29 11,662 10,615 877 170
Other commitments given 29 24,181 21,716 2,072 393

(1) Without considering derivatives whose counterparty are BBVA Group companies.

The maximum credit exposure presented in the table above is determined by type of financial asset as explained below:

— In the case of financial instruments recognized in the balance sheets, exposure to credit risk is considered equal to its
carrying amount (not including loss allowances) with the only exception of trading and hedging derivatives.

- The maximum credit risk exposure on financial commitments and guarantees granted is the maximum that BBVA would be
liable for if these guarantees were called in, or the higher amount pending to be disposed from the customer in the case of

commitments.

—  The calculation of risk exposure for derivatives is based on the sum of two factors: the derivatives fair value and their

potential risk (or "add-on").

As of December 31, 2022, there are no financial assets classified as purchased or originated credit impaired in the balance sheets of

BBVAS.A.
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The breakdown by counterparty of the maximum credit risk exposure, the accumulated allowances recorded, as well as the carrying
amount by stages of loans and advances to customers as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is shown below:

December 2022 (Millions of Euros)

Gross exposure Accumulated allowances Net amount
Total Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total Stage1 Stage2 Stage3

Public administrations 12,7176 12,469 208 38 18) 3) (&) an 12,697 12,466 204 27
Other financial corporations 11,528 11,291 224 12 (20) ) an 7y 11,507 11,289 213 5
Non-financial corporations 96,725 84,941 8,573 3,210 (2,394) (243) (404) (1,747) 94,332 84,699 8,169 1,464
Households 96,153 81,338 10,615 4,200 (2,392) (227) (344) (1,821) 93,761 81,111 10,271 2,379
Loans and advances to ;151 190,040 19620 7,461 (763) (3,586) 212,297 189,565 18,858
customers

Of which: individual (751) - (181)  (570)

Of which: collective (4,073) (475) (582) (3,016)

(1) The amount of the accumulated impairment includes the provisions recorded for credit risk over the remaining expected lifetime of purchased financial instruments. Those
provisions were determined at the moment of the Purchase Price Allocation and were originated mainly in the acquisition of Catalunya Banc, S.A. (as of December 31, 2022, the
remained balance was €190 million). These valuation adjustments are recognized in the income statement during the residual life of the operations or are applied to the value
corrections when the losses materialize.

December 2021 (Millions of Euros)

Gross exposure Accumulated allowances Net amount
Total Stage1 Stage2 Stage3 Total Stage1 Stage2 Stage 3 Total Stage1 Stage2 Stage3

Public administrations 13,008 12,693 252 62 (34) 1) 4 19) 12,974 12,682 248 43
Other financial corporations 9,568 9,476 77 15 14) 3 4 7 9,554 9,472 73 8
Non-financial corporations 85,430 69,071 12,872 3,487 (2,801) (384) (627) (1,790) 82,629 68,687 12,245 1,697
Households 97,587 84,838 8,177 4,573 (2,405) (280) (300) (1.826) 95,182 84,558 7.877 2,747
Loans and advances to ., ;o3 176078 21,378 8137 (679) (934) (3,641) 200,339 175400 20,444
customers

Of which: individual (823) — (203) (620)

Of which: collective (4,431) (679) (732) (3,021)

(1) The amount of the accumulated impairment includes the provisions recorded for credit risk over the remaining expected lifetime of purchased financial instruments. Those
provisions were determined at the moment of the Purchase Price Allocation and were originated mainly in the acquisition of Catalunya Banc S.A. (as of December 31, 2020 the
remained balance was €266 million). These valuation adjustments are recognized in the income statement during the residual life of the operations or are applied to the value
corrections when the losses materialize.

The breakdown by counterparty and product of loans and advances, net of loss allowances, as well as the gross carrying amount by
type of product, classified in different headings of the assets, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is shown below:

December 2022 (Millions of Euros)

Central General Credit Other Non- Gross
P financial financial Households Total carrying
banks governments institutions . .
corporations corporations amount

On demand and short notice — — - 222 32 29 284 351
Credit card debt — 1 — 1 144 2,529 2,674 2,775
Commercial debtors 1,018 23 363 20,194 29 21,627 21,806
Finance leases - 96 — n 5179 205 5,491 5,609
Reverse repurchase loans — - 1,429 102 — - 1,531 1,532
Other term loans - 1,370 2,380 7,598 67,842 90,832 180,022 184,387
Advances that are not loans 10 212 5,498 3,210 940 137 10,007 10,007
LOANS AND ADVANCES 12,697 11,507 94,332 93,761 221,637
By secured loans

Of which: mortgage loans

collateralized by immovable 255 — 294 8,874 71,995 81,417 83,141

property

/Of which: other collateralized - - 1.429 159 1.370 435 3393 3562

oans
By purpose of the loan

Of which: credit for consumption 14,637 14,637 15,469

Of which: lending for house 72283 72283 73247

purchase
By subordination

Of which: project finance loans 3,675 3,675 3,723
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December 2021 (Millions of Euros)

. Other Non- Gross
Central General Credit . . " . .
P financial financial Households Total carrying
banks governments institutions N N
corporations corporations amount

On demand and short notice - - — 176 34 32 242 331
Credit card debt — — — 1 119 2,358 2,478 2,624
Commercial debtors 783 16 468 14,543 24 15,834 16,024
Finance leases - 88 — 12 4,738 201 5,039 5,207
Reverse repurchase loans — — 150 2 — — 152 152
Other term loans 1 11,903 2,447 5,873 61,103 92,393 173,720 178,380
Advances that are not loans 252 340 5,759 3,022 2,092 175 11,640 11,640
By secured loans

Of which: mortgage loans

collateralized by immovable 279 179 9,141 74,524 84,123 85,835

property

/(())fi‘;";’iwc/y: other collateralized - - 152 26 1230 485 1893 2159
By purpose of the loan

Of which: credit for consumption 13,467 13,467 14,290

Of ‘.V'.’/u"(;/‘r lending for house 74 729 74 729 75 657

purchase
By subordination

Of which: project finance loans 3,671 3,676 3,744

5.2.3 Mitigation of credit risk, collateralized credit risk and other credit enhancements

In certain cases, maximum credit risk exposure is reduced by collateral, credit enhancements and other actions which mitigate the
Bank's exposure. The BBVA applies a credit risk hedging and mitigation policy deriving from a banking approach focused on
relationship banking. The existence of guarantees could be a necessary but not sufficient instrument for accepting risks, as the
assumption of risks by the Bank requires prior evaluation of the debtor’s capacity for repayment, or that the debtor can generate
sufficient resources to allow the amortization of the risk incurred under the agreed terms.

The policy of accepting risks is therefore organized into three different levels in BBVA:
— Analysis of the financial risk of the transaction, based on the debtor’s capacity for repayment or generation of funds.

—  The constitution of guarantees that are adequate, or at any rate generally accepted, for the risk assumed, in any of the
generally accepted forms: monetary, secured, personal or hedge guarantees; and finally

—  Assessment of the repayment risk (asset liquidity) of the guarantees received.

This is carried out through a prudent risk policy that consists of the analysis of the financial risk, based on the capacity for
reimbursement or generation of resources of the borrower, the analysis of the guarantee, assessing, among others, the efficiency, the
robustness and the risk, the adequacy of the guarantee with the operation and other aspects such as the location, currency,
concentration or the existence of limitations. Additionally, the necessary tasks for the constitution of guarantees must be carried out -
in any of the generally accepted forms (collaterals, personal guarantees and financial hedge instruments) - appropriate to the risk
assumed.

The procedures for the management and valuation of collateral are set out in the corporate general policies (retail and wholesale),
which establish the basic principles for credit risk management, including the management of collaterals assigned in transactions with
customers. The criteria for the systematic, standardized and effective treatment of collateral in credit transaction procedures in
Bank's wholesale and retail banking are included in the Specific Collateral Rules.

The methods used to value the collateral are in line with the best market practices and imply the use of appraisal of real-estate
collateral, the market price in market securities, the trading price of shares in mutual funds, etc. All the collaterals received must be
correctly assigned and entered in the corresponding register. They must also have the approval of the BBVA's legal units.

The valuation of the collateral is taken into account in the calculation of the expected losses. The Bank has developed internal models
to estimate the realization value of the collaterals received, the time that elapses until then, the costs for their acquisition,
maintenance and subsequent sale, from real observations based on its own experience. This modeling is part of the LGD estimation
processes that are applied to the different segments, and is included within the annual review and validation procedures.

The following is a description of the main types of collateral for each financial instrument class:

— Debt instruments held for trading: The guarantees or credit enhancements obtained directly from the issuer or
counterparty are implicit in the clauses of the instrument (mainly guarantees of the issuer).
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—  Derivatives and hedging derivatives: In derivatives, credit risk is minimized through contractual netting agreements, where
positive- and negative-value derivatives with the same counterparty are offset for their net balance. There may likewise be
other kinds of guarantees and collaterals, depending on counterparty solvency and the nature of the transaction (mainly
collaterals).

The summary of the offsetting effect (via netting and collateral) for derivatives and securities operations as of December
31,2022 is presented in Note 5.4.2

—  Other financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss and financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income: The guarantees or credit enhancements obtained directly from the issuer or counterparty are
inherent to the structure of the instrument (mainly personal guarantees).

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 BBVA had no credit risk exposure of impaired financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (see Note 5.2.2).

—  Financial assets at amortized cost:

a. Loans and advances to credit institutions: These usually have the counterparty’s personal guarantee or pledged
securities in the case of repos.

b. Loans and advances to customers: Most of these loans and advances are backed by personal guarantees
extended by the customer. There may also be collateral to secure loans and advances to customers (such as
mortgages, cash collaterals, pledged securities and other collateral), or to obtain other credit enhancements
(bonds or insurances).

c. Debt securities: The guarantees or credit enhancements obtained directly from the issuer or counterparty are
inherent to the structure of the instrument.

— Financial guarantees, other contingent risks and drawable by third parties: these have the counterparty’s personal
guarantee or other types of collaterals.

The disclosure of impaired loans and advances at amortized cost covered by collateral (see Note 5.2.5), by type of collateral, as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021, is the following:

Impaired loans and advances at amortized cost covered by collateral (Millions of Euros)
Of which secured by collateral

Maximum exposure to - " -
P Residential Commercial

credit risk . . Cash Others Financial
properties properties
December 2022 7,461 1,664 609 1 3 6
December 2021 8,139 1,933 787 2 4 7

The maximum credit risk exposure of impaired financial guarantees and other commitments as of December 31, 2022 and 2021
amounts to €738 and €672 million of euros (see Note 5.2.2).

5.2.4 Credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

The BBVA has tools that enable it to rank the credit quality of its transactions and customers based on an assessment and its
correspondence with the probability of default (“PD") scales. To analyze the performance of PD, the Bank has a series of tracking
tools and historical databases that collect the pertinent internally generated information. These tools can be grouped together into
scoring and rating models.

Scoring

Scoring is a decision-making model that contributes to both the arrangement and management of retail loans: consumer loans,
mortgages, credit cards for individuals, etc. Scoring is the tool used to decide to originate a loan, what amount should be originated
and what strategies can help establish the price, because it is an algorithm that sorts transactions by their credit quality. This
algorithm enables the BBVA Group to assign a score to each transaction requested by a customer, on the basis of a series of objective
characteristics that have statistically been shown to distinguish between the quality and risk of this type of transactions. The
advantage of scoring lies in its simplicity and homogeneity: all that is needed is a series of objective data for each customer, and this
data is analyzed automatically using an algorithm.

There are three types of scoring, based on the information used and on its purpose:

— Reactive scoring: measures the risk of a transaction requested by an individual using variables relating to the requested
transaction and to the customer’s socio-economic data available at the time of the request. The new transaction is
approved or rejected depending on the score.

—  Behavioral scoring: scores transactions for a given product in an outstanding risk portfolio of the entity, enabling the credit
rating to be tracked and the customer’s needs to be anticipated. It uses transaction and customer variables available
internally. Specifically, variables that refer to the behavior of both the product and the customer.
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—  Proactive scoring: gives a score at customer level using variables related to the individual's general behavior with the entity,
and to his/her payment behavior in all the contracted products. The purpose is to track the customer’s credit quality and it
is used to pre-approve new transactions.

Rating

Rating tools, as opposed to scoring tools, focus on the rating of customers: companies, corporations, SMEs, general governments,
etc. A rating tool is an instrument that, based on a detailed financial study, helps determine a customer’s ability to meet his/her
financial obligations. The final rating is usually a combination of various factors: on one hand, quantitative factors, and on the other
hand, qualitative factors. It is a middle road between an individual analysis and a statistical analysis.

The main difference between ratings and scorings is that the latter are used to assess retail products, while ratings use a wholesale
banking customer approach. Moreover, scorings only include objective variables, while ratings add qualitative information. And
although both are based on statistical studies, adding a business view, rating tools give more weight to the business criterion
compared to scoring tools.

For portfolios where the number of defaults is low (sovereign risk, corporates, financial entities, etc.) the internal information is
supplemented by “benchmarking” of the external rating agencies (Moody's, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch). To this end, each year the
PDs compiled by the rating agencies at each level of risk rating are compared, and the measurements compiled by the various
agencies are mapped against those of the BBVA master rating scale.

The probability of default of transactions or customers is calibrated with a long-term view, since its purpose is to measure the risk
quality beyond its time of estimation, seeking to capture information representative of the behavior of the portfolios during a
complete economic cycle (a long-term average probability of default). This probability is mapped to the master scale developed by
the Bank in order to facilitate a homogeneous classification of its different risk portfolios.

The table below shows the abridged scale used to classify the bank’s outstanding risk as of December 31, 2022:

Probability of default

Internal rating (basis points)

Reduced List (22 groups) Average Minimum from >= Maximum
AAA 1 — 2
AA+ 2 2 3

AA 3 3 4
AA- 4 4 5
A+ 5 5 6
A 8 6 9
A- 10 9 N
BBB+ 14 n 17
BBB 20 17 24
BBB- 31 24 39
BB+ 51 39 67
BB 88 67 16
BB- 150 16 194
B+ 255 194 335
B 441 335 581
B- 785 581 1,061
CCC+ 1,191 1,061 1,336
CcC 1,500 1,336 1,684
CCC- 1,890 1,684 2,121
CC+ 2,381 2,121 2,673
ccC 3,000 2,673 3,367
CC- 3,780 3,367 4,243

These different levels and their probability of default were calculated by using as a reference the rating scales and default rates
provided by the external agencies Standard & Poor’'s and Moody's. These calculations establish the levels of probability of default for
the BBVA Group's Master Rating Scale. Although this scale is common to the entire Group, the calibrations (mapping scores to PD
sections/Master Rating Scale levels) are carried out at tool level for each country in which the Group has tools available.
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The table below outlines the distribution of exposure, including derivatives, by internal ratings, to corporates, financial entities and
institutions (excluding sovereign risk), of the main BBVA Group entities as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Credit Risk Distribution by Internal Rating

2022 2021
Amount % Amount %
(Millions of Euros) ° (Millions of Euros) °
AAA/AA 163,327 35.00% 36,843 11.65%
A 132,195 28.30% 111,465 35.25%
BBB+ 53,141 11.40 % 54,557 17.25%
BBB 39,854 8.50% 35,243 1M1.14%
BBB- 28,882 6.20% 3517 11.10%
BB+ 14,770 3.20% 12,299 3.89%
BB 10,968 2.30% 9,184 2.90%
BB- 7,778 1.70% 6.879 2.18%
B+ 4,894 1.00 % 5127 1.62%
B 3,400 0.70% 4,356 1.38%
B- 2,180 0.50% 2,819 0.89%
C 1,977 0.40% 2,359 0.75%
D 3,757 0.80% — 0.00%
Total 467,123 100% 316,246 100%
5.2.5 Impaired loan risks

The breakdown of loans and advances within financial assets at amortized cost by counterparties, including their respective gross
carrying amount, impaired amount and accumulated impairment as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 is as follows:

December 2022 (Millions of Euros)

Gross Impaired Impaired

carrying loans and f\ccu.mulated loans and

amount advances impairment advances as a

% of the total

Central banks 10 - - —%
General governments 12,716 38 (18) 0.3%
Credit institutions 9,335 - (6) —%
Other financial corporations 11,528 12 (20) —%
Non-financial corporations 96,725 3,210 (2,394) 3.0%
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,678 89 (54) 53%
Mining and quarrying 2,347 10 7) 0.4%
Manufacturing 24,936 509 (349) 2.0%
Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply 9,511 19 (52) 0.2%
Water supply 813 17 amn 2.1%
Construction 6,354 527 (357) 8.3%
Wholesale and retail trade 15,287 620 (391) 41%
Transport and storage 5,691 120 (96) 2.1%
Accommodation and food service activities 4,249 300 (153) 71%
Information and communications 5,760 98 (34) 1.7%
Financial and insurance activities 6,612 150 (148) 2.3%
Real estate activities 5,459 301 (190) 55%
Professional, scientific and technical activities 2,910 131 m4) 4.5%
Administrative and support service activities 2,453 77 (47) 3.1%
Public administration and defense, compulsory social security 154 — ) 0.3%
Education 245 19 an 7.9%
Human health services and social work activities 942 131 (39) 13.9%
Arts, entertainment and recreation 658 55 (38) 8.4%
Other services 666 37 (303) 56%
Households 96,153 4,200 (2,392) 4.4%
LOANS AND ADVANCES 226,467 7,461 (4,830) 3.3%
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December 2021 (Millions of Euros)

Gross Impaired Impaired

carrying loans and {\ccu!nulated loans and

amount advances impairment advances as a

% of the total

Central banks 254 - - —%
General governments 13,008 62 (34) 0.5%
Credit institutions 8,371 - - —%
Other financial corporations 9,568 15 (14) 0.2%
Non-financial corporations 85,430 3,487 (2,801) 4.1%
Agriculture, forestry and fishing 1,638 73 (55) 45%
Mining and quarrying 1,806 10 10) 0.6%
Manufacturing 18,987 553 (405) 29%
Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply 8,019 35 (46) 0.4%
Water supply 730 17 16) 2.4%
Construction 6,419 607 (416) 9.5%
Wholesale and retail trade 13,388 692 (525) 52%
Transport and storage 5,218 186 123) 3.6%
Accommodation and food service activities 4,380 336 (205) 7.7%
Information and communications 5,145 105 44) 2.0%
Financial and insurance activities 5,825 148 141) 2.5%
Real estate activities 5,427 335 (208) 6.2%
Professional, scientific and technical activities 3,146 140 (108) 4.4%
Administrative and support service activities 1,776 107 (70) 6.0%
Public administration and defense, compulsory social security 171 3 (8) 1.8%
Education 258 16 an 6.3%
Human health services and social work activities 912 39 (26) 4.3%
Arts, entertainment and recreation 729 66 (49) 9.0%
Other services 1,456 19 (334) 1.3%
Households 97,587 4,573 (2,405) 4.7%

LOANS AND ADVANCES

214,218

The changes during the years 2022 and 2021 of impaired financial assets and guarantees given are as follows:

Changes in impaired financial assets and contingent risks (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Balance at the beginning 8,700 8,654
Additions 2,737 3,120
Decreases " (2,402) (2,290)
Net additions 335 830
Amounts written-off (539) (828)
Exchange differences and other 421) 44
Balance at the end 8,075 8,700
Recoveries on entries (%) 88% 73%

(1) Reflects the total amount of impaired loans derecognized from the balance sheet throughout the year as a result of mortgage foreclosures and real estate assets received in

lieu of payment as well as monetary recoveries (see Note 19).
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The changes during the years 2022 and 2021 in financial assets derecognized from the accompanying balance sheet as their recovery
is considered unlikely ("write-offs"), is shown below:

Changes in impaired financial assets written-off from the balance sheet (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021
Balance at the beginning 16,951 17,297
Increase 894 1,351
Assets of remote collectability 539 828
Past-due and not collected income 355 523
Decrease (693) (1,704)
Re-financing or restructuring m —
Cashrecovery 42 (228) (253)
Foreclosed assets 22) 18)
Sales @ (270) (1,066)
Debt forgiveness 151) (243)
Time-barred debt and other causes 19) 124)
Net exchange differences 3 7
Balance at the end 17,155 16,951

(1) Includes principal and interest.

As indicated in Note 2.1.4, although they have been derecognized from the balance sheet, the BBVA continues to attempt to collect on
these written-off financial assets, until the rights to receive them are fully extinguished, either because it is a time-barred financial
asset, the financial asset is forgiven, or other reason.

5.2.6 Loss allowances

Movements, measured over a 12-month period, in gross accounting balances and accumulated allowances for loan losses during
2022 and 2021 are recorded on the accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, in order to cover the estimated
loss allowances in loans and advances and debt securities measured at amortized cost.

Changes in gross accounting balances of loans and advances at amortized cost. Year 2022 (Millions of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at the beginning
Transfers of financial assets: (2,096) 1184 912 —
Transfers from stage 1to Stage 2 (7,481) 7,481 — —
Transfers from stage 2 to Stage 1 5,958 (5,958) — —
Transfers to Stage 3 (719) (1,087) 1,806 —
Transfers from Stage 3 146 748 (894) —
Net annual origination of financial assets 16,241 (2,894) (1,049) 12,298
Becoming write-offs — — (539) (539)
Foreign exchange 483 7 — 489

Modifications that do not result in derecognition — — — —
Other — — — —
Balance at the end 199,328 19,678 7,461 226,467
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Changes in allowances of loans and advances at amortized cost. Year 2022 (Millions of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at the beginning 679 934 3,641 5,254
Transfers of financial assets: (23) (38) 371 310
Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 (35) 142 — 107
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 18 (187) — (169)
Transfers to stage 3 7) (45) 524 472
Transfers from stage 3 1 52 (153) (100)
Net annual origination of allowances (124) (29) 42 am
Becoming write-offs — - (462) (462)
Foreign exchange 1 — — 1
Modifications that do not result in
derecognition — — — -
Other (54) (102) (6) (162)
Balance at the end 3,586 4,830

For the year ended December 31,2022, the impairment charges recognized under the heading “Impairment or reversal of impairment
on financial assets not measured at fair value through profit or loss or net gains by modification" amounted to €521 million (€475
million for the year ended December 31, 2021) (see Note 42). Additionally, as of December 31, 2021, the Bank estimated that the
update in the definition of credit impairment (default) (see Note 2.2) led to an increase of €350 million in impaired financial assets. In
terms of allowances for impairment, the impact of this update was considered non-significant.

During 2022, the macroeconomic environment has deteriorated, with a downward revision of growth expectations in an inflationary
environment with a generalized increase in energy commodity prices and interest rates. This has resulted in an increase in allowances
for impairment of financial assets with respect to the previous year, through additional adjustments in an environment of global
growth throughout the year and through the adjustments reflected in the portfolios and sectors most vulnerable to this environment.

Changes in gross accounting balances of loans and advances at amortized cost. Year 2021 (Millions of Euros)

Stage 1 stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at the beginning 183,760 16,385 8,193 208,338
Transfers of financial assets: (7,482) 6,296 1,186
Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 (9,980) 9,980 — —
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 3,203 (3,203) — —
Transfers to stage 3 (723) (1,315) 2,038 —
Transfers from stage 3 18 834 (852)
Net annual origination of financial assets 7,655 (1,330) (416) 5,909
Becoming write-offs — — (828) (828)
Foreign exchange 767 30 2 799
Modifications that do not result in derecognition — — — —
Other — — — —

Balance at the end

Changes in allowances of loans and advances at amortized cost. Year 2021 (Millions of Euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Balance at the beginning 709 862 4,094 5,665
Transfers of financial assets: @) 102 318 413
Transfers from stage 1 to stage 2 (31 231 — 200
Transfers from stage 2 to stage 1 30 (127) — (97)
Transfers to stage 3 (6) (59) 521 456
Transfers from stage 3 — 57 (203) (146)
Net annual origination of allowances 114 83 (126) 71
Becoming write-offs — — (642) (642)

Foreign exchange — — — —

Modifications that do not result in
derecognition

Other 137) m3) 3) (253)
Balance at the end 679 934 3,641 5,254
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The loss allowances recorded in the attached balance sheet to cover the impairment or reversal of impairment estimated in the debt
securities amounted to €27 and €13 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 respectively. The variation is mainly due to changes
due to variation in credit risk.

Additionally, the loss allowances recorded in the attached balance sheet to cover the impairment or reversal of the impairment
estimated in the commitments and guarantees given amounted to €280 and €310 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021
respectively (see Note 21).

5.3 Structural risk

The structural risks are defined, in general terms, as the possibility of suffering losses in the banking book due to adverse movements
in market risk factors.

In the BBVA, the following types of structural risks are defined, according to their nature: interest rate risk, credit spread risk,
exchange rate risk and equity risk.

The scope of structural risks in the Bank excludes market risks in the trading book that are clearly delimited and separated and make
up the type of Market Risks.

The Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) is the main responsible body for the management of structural risks regarding liquidity/
funding, interest rate, credit spread, currency, equity and solvency. Every month, with the participation of the CEO and
representatives from the areas of Finance, Risks and Business Areas, this committee monitors the structural risks and is presented
with proposals with regard to action plans related with its management for its approval. These management proposals are made by
the Finance area with a forward-looking focus, maintaining the alignment with the risk appetite framework, trying to guarantee the
recurrence of results and financial stability, as well as to preserve the solvency of the entity. All balance sheet management units have
a local ALCO, which is permanently attended by members of the Corporate Center, and there is a corporate ALCO where
management strategies are monitored and presented in the Group's subsidiaries.

The GRM area acts as an independent unit, ensuring adequate separation between the management and risk control functions, and is
responsible for ensuring that the structural risks in the Group are managed according to the strategy approved by the Board of
Directors.

Consequently, GRM deals with the identification, measurement, monitoring and control of those risks and their reporting to the
corresponding corporate bodies. Through the Global Risk Management Committee (GRMC), it performs the function of control and
risk assessment and is responsible for developing the strategies, policies, procedures and infrastructure necessary to identify,
evaluate, measure and manage the significant risks that the BBVA Group faces. To this end, GRM, through the corporate unit of
Structural Risks, proposes a scheme of limits that defines the risk appetite set for each of the relevant structural risk types, both at
Group level and by management units, which will be reviewed annually, reporting the situation periodically to the Group's corporate
bodies as well as to the GRMC.

Additionally, both the management system and the control and measurement system for structural risks are necessarily adjusted to
the Group's internal control model, complying with the evaluation and certification processes that comprise it. In this sense, the tasks
and controls necessary for its scope of action have been identified and documented, supporting a regulatory framework which
includes specific processes and measures for structural risks, from a broad geographical perspective.

Within the three lines of defense scheme in which BBVA's internal control model is based according to the most advanced standards
in terms of internal control, the first line of defense is maintained by the Finance area, which is responsible for managing the structural
risk.

As a second line of defense, GRM is in charge of identifying risks, and establishing policies and control models, periodically evaluating
their effectiveness.

In the second line of defense, there are also the Internal Risk Control units, which independently review the Structural Risk control,
and Internal Financial Control, which carries out a review of the design and effectiveness of the operational controls over structural
risk management.

The third line of defense is represented by the Internal Audit area, an independent unit within BBVA Group, which is responsible for
reviewing specific controls and processes.

5.3.1 Interest rate risk and credit spread in the banking book

The structural interest-rate risk (IRRBB) is related to the potential impact that variations in market interest rates have on an entity's
net interest income and equity. In order to properly measure IRRBB, BBVA Group takes into account all the main sources of this risk:
repricing risk, yield curve risk, option risk and basis risk.

The assessment of structural interest rate risk is carried out with an integral vision, combining two complementary points of view: the
effects of interest rate shifts in net interest income (short term) and their impact on the economic value of equity (long term). In
addition, the impact on the market value of the financial instruments of the banking book, as a result of changes in the market interest
rates (IRRBB) or the credit spreads (CSRBB), will be assessed as it may have an impact on the income statement and/or equity due
to their accounting treatment.
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The exposure of a financial entity to adverse interest rates movements is a risk inherent to the development of the banking business,
which is also, in turn, an opportunity to create economic value. Therefore, interest rate risk must be effectively managed so that it is
limited in accordance with the entity's equity and in line with the expected economic result.

In BBVA, the purpose of structural interest rate risk management is to maintain the stability of the net interest income in the event of
interest rate fluctuations. It contributes to a recurrent generation of earnings, limit the capital consumption due to structural interest
rate risk and monitor potential mark-to-market impacts on “held to collect and sell” (HtC&S) portfolios. Likewise, the spread risk
management in banking book portfolios is aimed at limiting the impact on the valuation of fixed income instruments, which are used
for balance sheet liquidity and interest rate risk management purposes in order to increase diversification, and maintain the spread
risk at levels aligned with the total volume of the investment portfolio and the equity of the Bank.

These functions falls to the Global ALM (Asset & Liability Management) unit, within the Finance area, who, through ALCO, aims to
guarantee the recurrence of results and preserve the solvency of the entity, always adhering to the risk profile defined by the
management bodies of the Bank.

Structural interest rate risk management is decentralized, and is carried out independently in each entity included in the structural
balance sheet (banking book) of the Bank, keeping the exposure to interest rates and credit spreads movements aligned with the
strategy and the target risk profile of the Bank, and in compliance with the regulatory requirements according to the EBA guidelines.

Nature of interest rate risk and credit spread risk

Repricing risk arises due to the difference between the repricing or maturity terms of the assets and liabilities, and represents the
most frequent interest rate risk faced by financial entities. However, other sources of risk such as changes in the slope and shape of
the yield curve, the reference to different indexes and the optionality risk embedded in certain banking transactions, are also taken
into account by the risk control system.

Furthermore, the credit spread risk (CSRBB) of fixed-income portfolios in the banking book arises from the potential impact on the
value of fixed-income portfolios and credit derivatives registered at fair value produced by a variation in the level of credit spreads
associated with those instruments/issuers and that are not explained by default risk or by movements in market interest rates.

BBVA's structural interest-rate risk management and control process includes a set of metrics and tools that enable the capture of
additional sources to properly monitor the risk profile of the Bank, backed-up by assumptions that aim to characterize the behavioral
of the balance sheet items with the maximum accuracy.

The IRRBB and CSRBB measurement is carried out on a monthly basis, and includes probabilistic measures based on simulation
methods of interest rate curves and credit spread shocks. The corporate methodology enables to capture additional sources of risk to
the interest rate parallel shifts, such as the changes in slope shape and the basis of yield curves. Additionally, sensitivity analysis to
multiple parallel shocks of different magnitude are also assessed on a regular basis. The process is ran separately for each currency
to which the Bank is exposed.

The risk measurement model is complemented by the assessment of ad-hoc scenarios, stress tests and reverse stress. Stress tests
incorporate extreme scenarios both in market interest rates and in behavioral assumptions, in addition to the assessment of market
scenarios by BBVA Research and the set of prescriptive scenarios defined according to EBA guidelines.

The internal measurement systems and models are subjected to a process of review and continuous improvement in order to keep
them aligned with EBA guidelines.

Key assumptions of the model

In order to measure structural interest rate risk, the setting of assumptions on the evolution and behavior of certain balance sheet
items is particularly relevant, especially those related to products without an explicit or contractual maturity which characteristics are
not established in their contractual terms and must be therefore estimated.

The assumptions that characterize these balance sheet items must be understandable for the areas and bodies involved in risk
management and control and remain duly updated, justified and documented. The modeling of these assumptions must be
conceptually reasonable and consistent with the evidence based on historical experience, reviewed at least once a year and, if any, the
behavior of the customers induced by the business areas. These assumptions are regularly subject to a sensitivity analysis to assess
and understand the impact of the modelling on the risk metrics.

The approval and update of the IRRBB behavioral models is subject to the corporate governance under the scope of GRM analytics.
Thus, all the models must be duly inventoried and catalogued and comply with the requirements for their development, updating and
changes management set out in the internal procedures. They are also subject to the corresponding internal validations and follow-up
requirements established based on their relevance, as well as to backtesting procedures against experience to ratify the validity of the
assumptions applied.

The balance sheet behavioral assumptions stand out those established for the treatment of items without contractual maturity,
mainly for demand customer deposits, and those related to the expectations on the exercise of interest rate options, especially
relating to loans and deposits subject to prepayment risk.

For the modelling of demand deposits, a segmentation of the accounts in several categories is previously carried out depending on
the characteristics of the customer (retail / wholesale) and the product (type of account / transactionality / remuneration), in order
to outline the specific behavior of each segment.
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In order to establish the remuneration of each segment, the relationship between the evolution of market interest rates and the
interest rates of managed accounts is analyzed, with the aim of determining the translation dynamic (percentages and lags) of
interest rates variations to the remuneration of the accounts. In this regard, consideration is given to the potential limitations in the
repricing of these accounts in scenarios of low or negative rates, with special attention to retail customers, through the establishment
of floors in the remuneration.

The behavior assigned to each category of accounts is determined by an analysis of the historical evolution of the balances and the
probability of cancellation of the accounts. For this, the volatile part of the balance assigned to a short-term maturity is isolated, thus
avoiding fluctuations in the level of risk caused by specific variations in the balances and promoting stability in the management of the
balance. Once the stable part is identified, a medium / long term maturity model is applied through a decay distribution based on the
average term of the accounts and the conditional cancellation probabilities throughout the life of the product.

In addition, the behavior modeling incorporates, where appropriate, the relationship between the evolution of the balance of deposits
and the levels of market interest rates, especially in low rate environments. Consequently, the effect of rate variations on the stability
of the deposits as well as the potential migration between the different types of products (on demand and time deposits) in each
interest rate scenario are incorporated.

Equally relevant is the treatment of early cancellation options embedded in credit loans, mortgage portfolios and customer deposits.
The evolution of market interest rates may condition, along with other variables, the incentive that customers have to prepay loans or
deposits, modifying the future behavior of the balance amounts with respect to the forecasted contractual maturity schedule.

The detailed analysis of the historical information related to prepayment data, both partial and total prepayment, combined with other
variables such as interest rates, allows estimating future amortizations and, where appropriate, their behavior linked to the evolution
of such variables through the relationship between the incentive of the customer to prepay and the early cancellation speed.

The year 2022 was characterized by a change in the cycle in terms of monetary policy as a result of the high inflation rates observed in
most Western economies. The effects of the high energy prices and the bottlenecks in the supply chain, which still persisted due to
the COVID-19 pandemic, were exacerbated from March onwards by the outbreak of the war between Russia and Ukraine. In this
context, the central banks embarked on a restrictive monetary policy strategy with interest rate hikes, which is still in force and is
expected to last during most of 2023.

At an aggregate level, BBVA continues to maintain a moderate risk profile, in accordance with the established objective, having
positive sensitivity to interest rate hikes in the net interest income.

Regarding relevant events in the financial markets, the ECB began the process of raising interest rates in July 2022 with the aim of
curbing inflation, with a rise of 250 basis points in the year, and the FED, for its part, implemented increases of 425 basis points in
2022. Although, additional increases are expected in 2023 (such as the rise in the Fed's 0.25 basis points and the ECB's 0.5 basis
points, announced on February 1 and February 2, 2023, respectively) since inflation remains at high levels. In relation to fixed income
markets, valuations have been affected by the strong general increase in interest rates and the widening of risk premiums, in line with
inflation expectations, which are expected to continue above reference levels. Spanish and Italian debt spreads worsened with
widenings relative to the German curve, especially in the case of Italy.

Spain has a balance sheet characterized by a high proportion of variable-rate loans (basically mortgages and corporate lending) and
liabilities composed mainly by customer demand deposits. The ALCO portfolio acts as a management lever and hedging for the
bank's balance sheet, mitigating its sensitivity to interest rate fluctuations. The balance sheet interest rate risk profile remained stable
during the year, being Spain the geographical area of the Group with the highest positive sensitivity to rates.

On the other hand, as mentioned, at the end of September 2022 the ECB set the benchmark interest rate at 2.5%, held the marginal
deposit facility rate at 2.0% and the marginal loan facility rate at 2.75%. Thus, the European benchmark interest rates (EURIBOR)
showed significant increases in the year. In this regard, customer spread is starting to benefit from interest rate hikes, expected to
continue in the coming quarters.

5.3.2 Equity risk in the banking book

Equity risk in the banking book refers to the possibility of suffering losses in the value of positions in shares and other equity
instruments held in the banking book with long or medium term investment horizons due to fluctuations in the value of equity indexes
or shares.

BBVA's exposure to structural equity risk arises largely from minority shareholdings held on industrial and financial companies, and in
new business (innovation). This exposure is modulated in some portfolios with positions held on derivative instruments on the same
underlying assets, in order to adjust the portfolio sensitivity to potential changes in equity prices.

The structural equity risk management is aimed at increasing the income-generating capacity of those shares held by the Group,
limiting the capital requirements for equity risk and narrowing the impact on the solvency level through a proactive management of
the portfolio using hedges. The function of managing the main structural equity portfolios is a responsibility of the specialized units of
the corporate areas of Global ALM, Strategy & M&A and Client Solutions (Banking for Growth Companies). Their activity is subject to
the corporate structural equity risk management policy, complying with the defined management principles and Risk Appetite
Framework
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The structural equity risk metrics, designed by GRM according to the corporate model, contribute to the effective monitoring of the
risk by estimating the sensitivity and the capital necessary to cover the possible unexpected losses due to changes in the value of the
shareholdings in the Group's investment portfolio, with a level of confidence that corresponds to the objective rating of the entity,
taking into account the liquidity of the positions and the statistical behavior of the assets to be considered

In order to analyze the risk profile in depth, stress tests and scenario analysis of sensitivity to different simulated scenarios are carried
out. They are based on both past crisis situations and forecasts made by BBVA Research. These analyses are carried out regularly to
assess the vulnerabilities of structural equity exposure not contemplated by the risk metrics and to serve as an additional tool when
making management decisions.

Backtesting is carried out on a regular basis on the risk measurement model used.

Equity markets in Europe and the United States were negatively affected in 2022 by the tightening of financial conditions carried out
by the Central Banks due to the rise in inflation. In many cases, the adjustment in share prices is attributed mainly to a correction in
the valuation metrics than to a significant deterioration in relation to the expectation of corporate profits. The Spanish stock market
closed the year with smaller falls than those presented by the main indices of other geographies in the euro area.

Structural equity risk, measured in terms of economic capital, has raised during the last year due to the higher exposure taken. The
aggregate sensitivity of the BBVA Group’s consolidated equity to a 1% fall in the price of shares of the companies making up the
equity portfolio increased to €-24 million as of December 31, 2022, compared to €-27 million as of December 31, 2021. This
estimation takes into account the exposure in shares valued at market prices, or if not applicable, at fair value (excluding the positions
in the Treasury Area portfolios) and the net delta-equivalent positions in derivatives on the same underlyings.

5.3.3 IBOR reform

On August 27, 2020, the IASB issued the second phase of the reform of the IBOR reference indices, which involves the introduction of
amendments to Standard, to ensure that the financial statements reflect the economic effects of this reform in the best possible way.

These amendments focus on the accounting for financial instruments, once a new risk-free reference index (Risk Free Rate,
hereinafter “RFR") has been introduced. The modifications introduce the accounting relief for changes in the cash flows of financial
instruments directly caused by the IBOR reform if they take place in a context of "economic equivalence", by updating the effective
interest rate of the instrument. Additionally, they introduce a series of exemptions to the hedging requirements so as not to have to
interrupt certain hedging relationships. However, similar to the phase 1 amendments (which entered into force already in 2020) (see
Note 13), the phase 2 amendments do not contemplate exceptions to the valuation requirements applicable to hedged items and
hedging instruments in accordance with the Standard. Thus, once the new reference index has been implemented, the hedged items
and hedging instruments must be valued in accordance with the new index, and the possible ineffectiveness that may exist in the
hedge will be recognized in profit or loss.

The IBOR transition to RFR is considered to be a complex initiative, which affects BBVA,S.A. in a multitude of products, systems and
processes. The main risks to which the Bank is exposed due to the transition are; (1) risk of litigation related to the products and
services offered by the Bank; (2) legal risks derived from changes in the documentation required for existing operations; (3) financial
and accounting risks, derived from market risk models and from the measurement, hedging, cancellation and recognition of the
financial instruments associated with the benchmark indices; (4) price risk, derived from how changes in the indices could impact the
pricing mechanisms of certain instruments; (5) operational risks, as the reform may require changes to the Bank's IT systems,
business reporting infrastructure, operational processes and controls, and (6) behavioral risks derived from the potential impact of
customer communications during the transition period, which could lead to customer complaints, regulatory penalties or reputational
impact.

BBVA has established a transition program, provided with a robust governance structure by means of senior management. The
coordination among different working groups is realized through the Project Management Office (PMO) and the Global Working
Groups that incorporate a transversal view on the areas of Legal, Risk, Regulatory, Finance and Accounting and Engineering.

This transition project has taken into account the different approaches and periods of transition to the new RFRs when evaluating the
various risks associated with the transition, as well as defining the lines of action in order to mitigate them. BBVA is aligned with the
Good Practices issued by the ECB that outline how banks can better structure their governance, identify related risks and create
contingent action plans and documentation in relation to the transition of reference rates.

The entity has actively collaborated in the IBOR transition, both for its support and participation in the sectorial working groups and
for its commitment to remediate the contracts with its counterparties. In this sense, the entity has carried out a process of
communication and contact with the counterparties to modify the terms of the contractual relations in such a way that said
agreements have been modified using different mechanisms: through the inclusion of addenda to the contracts, by the adherence to
industry standard protocols, the transition of operations by clearing house, the cancellation of contracts and subscription of new
ones, or by the transition through other legislative mechanisms. This process has been managed through the monitoring mechanisms
and indicators that have been developed by the working groups within the Bank.

The official discontinuation date for LIBORs exUSD (GBP, CHF, EUR, JPY), LIBOR USD 1-week and 2-month indices was December 31,
2021, and for EONIA was January 3, 2022. However, the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) and the European Commission have
established a legal safeguard in the event that there are some operations that could not be migrated before such discontinuation
dates. In the case of the FCA, said legal safeguard, called Synthetic LIBOR, would apply only to contracts referenced to LIBOR GBP
and LIBOR JPY in terms of 1, 3 and 6 months, and allows the index to continue to be applied for an additional period. However, the FCA
has announced its decision to continue publishing the synthetic LIBOR JPY for all its terms until December 31, 2022, the synthetic
LIBOR GBP 1 month and 6 months until March 31, 2023 and the synthetic LIBOR GBP 3 month until March 2024.
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Moreover, the European Commission, through what is known as the "Statutory Fallback", provides a legal safeguard for EONIA
contracts and for LIBOR CHF (which entered into force on January 1, 2022), so that in the contracts subject to this measure, said
indices are automatically replaced and by legal requirement, by the new indices. BBVA maintains immaterial balances in the
aforementioned LIBOR GBP and synthetic JPY. The latter already have a transition solution communicated and agreed with the
clients pending execution in systems at the beginning of 2023.

Regarding the LIBOR USD, in the terms still in force these will be discontinued on June 30, 2023 (except for the one-week and two-
month terms that were already discontinued in 2021, as we have said previously). Currently the different international regulators are
studying the application of legal safeguards similar to the one mentioned above. Such is the case in the US, where a federal law has
already been approved to designate a statutory fallback in contracts that do not contemplate or regulate a transition of the LIBOR
USD index.

In this regard, the Bank is actively working to modify all its contracts referenced to LIBOR USD to the corresponding RFRs (SOFR). As
of December 31, 2022, the Bank continues to maintain financial assets and liabilities whose contracts are referenced to LIBOR USD
when used, among others, for loans, deposits and debt issuances as well as underlying derivative financial instruments.

In the case of the EURIBOR, the European authorities have encouraged modifications in its methodology so that it meets the
requirements of the European Regulation of Reference Indices, so this index does not disappear.

Below is the BBVA exposure to financial assets and liabilities maturing after the transition dates of these IBORs to their corresponding
RFRs. The table shows the gross amounts as of December 31, 2022 in the case of loans and advances, asset and liability debt
instruments, deposits and commitments, their gross amounts and, in the case of derivatives, their notional value, in each case as of
December 31, 2022:

Millions of Euros
Debt Securities

Loans & Debt Securities Issued Deposits Derivatives

Advances Assets (Liabilities) (notional)

Synthetic LIBOR GBP and JPY 76 — — — -
LIBOR USD with maturity > June 30, 2023 10,187 31 — 109 362,406

The 97% of the exposure of derivative instruments is either settled by Clearing Houses (mainly the London Clearing House) or are
operations with counterparties currently adhering to the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (ISDA) protocols,
specifically the following: ISDA 2020 IBOR Fallback Protocol and June 2022 Benchmark Module of the ISDA 2021 Fallback Protocol.

5.4 Market risk

Market risk originates from the possibility of experiencing losses in the value of positions held as a result of movements in market
variables that affect the valuation of financial assets and liabilities. Market risk in the Bank's trading portfolios stems mainly from the
portfolios originated by Global Markets valued at fair value and held for the purpose of trading and generating short-term results.
Market risk in the field of banking book is clearly and distinctly addressed and can be broken down into structural risks relating to
interest rate, exchange rate and equity (see Note 5.3).

5.4.1 Market risk in trading portfolios

The main risks in the trading portfolios can be classified as follows:

— Interest-rate risk: This arises as a result of exposure to movements in the different interest-rate curves involved in trading.
Although the typical products that generate sensitivity to the movements in interest rates are money-market products
(deposits, interest-rate futures, call money swaps, etc.) and traditional interest-rate derivatives (swaps and interest-rate
options such as caps, floors, swaptions, etc.), practically all the financial products are exposed to interest-rate movements
due to the effect that such movements have on the valuation of the financial discount.

- Equity risk: This arises as a result of movements in share prices. This risk is generated in spot positions in shares or any
derivative products whose underlying asset is a share or an equity index. Dividend risk is a sub-risk of equity risk, arising as
an input for any equity option. Its variation may affect the valuation of positions and it is therefore a factor that generates
risk on the books.

—  Exchange-rate risk: This is caused by movements in the exchange rates of the different currencies in which a position is
held. As in the case of equity risk, this risk is generated in spot currency positions, and in any derivative product whose
underlying asset is an exchange rate. In addition, the quanto effect (operations where the underlying asset and the
instrument itself are denominated in different currencies) means that in certain transactions in which the underlying asset is
not a currency, an exchange-rate risk is generated that has to be measured and monitored.

—  Credit-spread risk: Credit spread is an indicator of an issuer's credit quality. Spread risk occurs due to variations in the
levels of spread of both corporate and government issues, and affects positions in bonds and credit derivatives.
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—  Volatility risk: This occurs as a result of changes in the levels of implied price volatility of the different market instruments on
which derivatives are traded. This risk, unlike the others, is exclusively a component of trading in derivatives and is defined
as a first-order convexity risk that is generated in all possible underlying assets in which there are products with options that
require a volatility input for their valuation.

The metrics developed to control and monitor market risk in the Bank are aligned with market practices and are implemented
consistently across all the local market risk units.

Measurement procedures are established in terms of the possible impact of negative market conditions on the trading portfolio of the
Bank's Global Markets units, both under ordinary circumstances and in situations of heightened risk factors.

The standard metric used to measure market risk is Value at Risk (hereinafter “VaR"), which indicates the maximum loss that may
occur in the portfolios at a given confidence level (99%) and time horizon (one day).This statistic value is widely used in the market
and has the advantage of summing up in a single metric the risks inherent to trading activity, taking into account how they are related
and providing a prediction of the loss that the trading book could sustain as a result of fluctuations in equity prices, interest rates,
foreign exchange rates and credit spreads. Additionally, for certain positions, other risks need to be considered, such as a credit
spread, base, volatility or correlation risk.

With respect to the risk measurement models used by the BBVA, the Bank of Spain has authorized the use of the internal market risk
model to determine bank capital requirements deriving from risk positions on the BBVA S.A.

The current management structure includes the monitoring of market-risk limits, consisting of a scheme of limits based on specific
metrics according to market activities, (VaR (Value at Risk), economic capital, as well as stop-loss limits for each of the Bank's
business units).

The model used estimates VaR in accordance with the historical simulation methodology, which involves estimating losses and gains
that would have taken place in the current portfolio if the changes in market conditions that took place over a specific period of time in
the past were repeated. Based on this information, it predicts the maximum expected loss of the current portfolio within a given
confidence level. This model has the advantage of reflecting precisely the historical distribution of the market variables and not
assuming any specific distribution of probability. The historical period used in this model is two years.

VaR figures are estimated with the following methodologies:

- VaR without smoothing, which awards equal weight to the daily information for the previous two years. This is currently the
official methodology for measuring market risks for the purpose of monitoring compliance with risk limits.

- VaR with smoothing, which gives a greater weight to more recent market information. This metric supplements the previous
one.

The use of VaR by historical simulation methodology as a risk metric has many advantages, but also certain limitations, among which
it is worth highlighting:

—  The estimate of the maximum daily loss of the Global Markets portfolio positions (with a confidence level of 99%) depends
on the market movements of the last two years, not picking up the impact of large market events if they have not occurred
within that historical window

—  The use of the 99% confidence level does not consider potential losses that can occur beyond this level. To mitigate this
limitation, different stress exercises are also performed, as described later.

At the same time, and following the guidelines established by the Spanish and European authorities, BBVA incorporates metrics in
addition to VaR with the aim of meeting the Bank of Spain's regulatory requirements with respect to the calculation of bank capital for
the trading book. Specifically, the measures incorporated in the Group since December 2011 (stipulated by Basel 2.5) are:

— VaR: Inregulatory terms, the VaR charge incorporates the stressed VaR charge, and the sum of the two (VaR and stressed
VaR) is calculated. This quantifies the losses associated with the movements of the risk factors inherent to market
operations (including interest-rate risk, exchange-rate risk, equity risk and credit risk, among others). Both VaR and
stressed VaR are rescaled by a regulatory multiplier (between three and four) and by the square root of ten to calculate the
capital charge.

- Specific Risk - Incremental Risk Capital ("IRC"). Quantification of the risks of default and changes of the credit ratings of the
bond and derivative positions and debt funds with daily look-through or significant benchmark (correlation > 90%) in the
trading portfolio. The IRC charge is exclusively applied in entities in respect of which the internal market risk model is used
(i.e. BBVA, S.A. and BBVA Mexico). The IRC charge is determined based on the associated losses (calculated at 99.9%
confidence level over a one year horizon under the hypothesis of constant risk) due to a rating change and/or default of the
issuer with respect to an asset. In addition, the price risk is included in sovereign positions for the specified items.

—  Specific Risk: Securitization, correlation portfolios and Investment funds without look-through. Capital charges for
securitizations and correlation portfolios are assessed based on the potential losses associated with the occurrence of a
credit event in the underlying exposures. They are calculated by the standard model. The scope of the correlations
portfolios refers to the First To Default (FTD)-type market operation and/or tranches of market CDOs and only for positions
with an active market and hedging capacity. Capital charge for Funds include losses associated with volatility and credit risk
of the underling positions of the fund. All charges are calculated by the standard model.
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Validity tests are performed regularly on the risk measurement models used by the Bank. They estimate the maximum loss that could
have been incurred in the assessed positions with a certain level of probability (backtesting), as well as measurements of the impact
of extreme market events on risk positions (stress testing). As an additional control measure, backtesting is conducted at a trading
desk level in order to enable more specific monitoring of the validity of the measurement models.

Market risk in 2022
The Bank's market risk related to its trading portfolio remained in 2022 at low levels compared to other risks managed by BBVA,
particularly credit risk. This is due to the nature of the business. In 2022, the market risk of trading book has decreasde versus the

previous year and, in terms of VaR, stood at €14 million at the close of the period.

The average VaR for 2022 stood at €12 million, in comparison with the €13 million registered in 2021, with a high for the year on
January 12, 2022 at €18 million.

20 7

0 - I I I I I I I I I I I
Jan-22 Feb-22  Mar-22  Apr-22 May-22  Jun-22 Jul-22 Aug-22  Sep-22 Oct-22  Nov-22  Dec-22

By type of market risk assumed by the Bank’s trading portfolio, the main risk factor in BBVA at the end of 2022 is still linked to the
interest rates (this figure includes the spread risk) which represents a 44% of the total weight, increasing its relative weight compared
to the year end 2021 (40%). The weight associated with the exchange rate and variable income risk is 20% and 18% respectively, at
the end of the 2022 financial year, increasing compared to the end of the 2021 financial year, where they represented 20% and 13%
respectively.

The risk related to volatility and correlation accounts represent 10% of the total weight at the end of 2022, decreasing its proportion
with respect to the end of the 2021 (27%).

Market risk by risk factor (Millions of euros)

2022 2021
Interest + credit spread 16 15
Exchange rate 10 7
Equity 7 5
Volatility 4 10
Diversification effect (23) (23)
Average VaR 12 13
Maximum VaR 18 21
Minimum VaR 8 8
m The diversification effect is the difference between the sum of the average individual risk factors and the total VaR figure that includes the implied correlation between all

the variables and scenarios used in the measurement.
Validation of the internal market risk model

The internal market risk model is validated on a regular basis by backtesting in BBVA S.A. The aim of backtesting is to validate the
quality and precision of the internal market risk model used by BBVA Group to estimate the maximum daily loss of a portfolio, at a
99% level of confidence and a 250-day time horizon, by comparing the Group's results and the risk measurements generated by the
internal market risk model. These tests showed that the internal market risk model of BBVA, S.A. is adequate and precise.
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Two types of backtesting have been carried out in 2022 and 2021:

- "Hypothetical" backtesting: the daily VaR is compared with the results obtained, not taking into account the intraday results
or the changes in the portfolio positions. This validates the appropriateness of the market risk metrics for the end-of-day
position.

—  "Real" backtesting: the daily VaR is compared with the total results, including intraday transactions, but discounting the
possible minimum charges or fees involved. This type of backtesting includes the intraday risk in portfolios.

In addition, each of these two types of backtesting was carried out at a risk factor or business type level, thus making a deeper
comparison of the results with respect to risk measurements.

For the period between the year ended December 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2022, the backtesting of the internal VaR
calculation model was carried out, comparing the daily results obtained to the risk level estimated by the internal VaR calculation
model. In that period, there were none negative exception in BBVA S.A.

At the end of the year the comparison showed the internal VaR calculation model was working correctly, within the "green" zone (0-4
exceptions), thus validating the internal VaR calculation model, as has been the case each year since the internal market risk model
was approved for the Bank.

Stress testing analysis

A number of stress tests are carried out on BBVA's trading portfolios. First, global and local historical scenarios are used that
replicate the behavior of an extreme past event, such as for example the collapse of Lehman Brothers or the "Tequilazo" crisis. These
stress tests are complemented with simulated scenarios, where the aim is to generate scenarios that have a significant impact on the
different portfolios, but without being anchored to any specific historical scenario. Finally, for some portfolios or positions, fixed stress
tests are also carried out that have a significant impact on the market variables affecting these positions.

Historical scenarios

The historical benchmark stress scenario for BBVA is Lehman Brothers, whose sudden collapse in September 2008 led to a
significant impact on the behavior of financial markets at a global level. The following are the most relevant effects of this historical
scenario:

—  Credit shock: reflected mainly in the increase of credit spreads and downgrades in credit ratings.

— Increased volatility in most of the financial markets (giving rise to a great deal of variation in the prices of different assets
(currency, equity, debt).

—  Liquidity shock in the financial systems, reflected by a major movement in interbank curves, particularly in the shortest
sections of the euro and dollar curves.

Simulated scenarios

Unlike the historical scenarios, which are fixed and therefore not suited to the composition of the risk portfolio at all times, the
scenario used for the exercises of economic stress is based on resampling methodology. This methodology is based on the use of
dynamic scenarios that are recalculated periodically depending on the main risks affecting the trading portfolios. On a data window
wide enough to collect different periods of stress (data are taken from January 1, 2008 until the date of the assessment), a simulation
is performed by resampling of historic observations, generating a distribution of losses and gains that serve to analyze the most
extreme of births in the selected historical window. The advantage of this methodology is that the period of stress is not
predetermined, but depends on the portfolio maintained at each time, and making a large number of simulations (10,000 simulations)
allows a greater richness of information for the analysis of expected shortfall than what is available in the scenarios included in the
calculation of VaR.

The main features of this approach are: a) the generated simulations respect the correlation structure of the data, b) there is flexibility
in the inclusion of new risk factors and c) it allows the introduction of a lot of variability in the simulations (desirable for considering
extreme events).

5.4.2 Financial instruments offset

Financial assets and liabilities may be netted in certain cases. In particular, they are presented for a net amount on the balance sheet
only when the Bank satisfy the provisions of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 and IAS 32, so they have both the legal right to net
recognized amounts, and the intention of settling the net amount or of realizing the asset and simultaneously paying the liability.

In addition, the Bank has presented as gross amounts assets and liabilities on the balance sheet for which there are master netting
arrangements in place, but for which there is no intention of settling the net amount. The most common types of events that trigger
the netting of reciprocal obligations are bankruptcy of the entity, surpassing certain level of indebtedness threshold, failure to pay,
restructuring and dissolution of the entity.
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In the current market context, derivatives are contracted under different framework contracts being the most widespread the ones
developed by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association (“ISDA") and, for the Spanish market, the Framework Agreement
on Financial Transactions ("CMOF"). Almost all portfolio derivative transactions have been concluded under these framework
contracts, including in them the netting clauses mentioned in the preceding paragraph as "Master Netting Agreement", greatly
reducing the credit exposure on these instruments. Additionally, in contracts signed with counterparties, the collateral agreement
annexes called Credit Support Annex (“CSA") in ISDA and Appendix Il in CMOF are included, thereby minimizing exposure to a
potential default of the counterparty.

Moreover, many of the transactions involving assets purchased or sold under a repurchase agreement are transacted through
clearing houses that articulate mechanisms to reduce counterparty risk, as well as through the signing of various master agreements
for bilateral transactions, the most widely used being the Global Master Repurchase Agreement (GMRA), published by the
International Capital Market Association ("ICMA"), to which the clauses related to the collateral exchange are usually added within the
text of the master agreement itself.

A summary of the effect of offsetting (via netting and collateral) for derivatives and securities operations is presented below as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Effect of offsetting for derivatives and securities operation (Millions of Euros)
2022

Gross amounts not
offset in the balance

2021

Gross amounts not
offset in the balance

Gross
amounts
recognized

Gross
amounts
offset in the
balance
sheets (B)

Net amount
presented
in the
balance
sheets
(C=A-B)

sheets (D)

Financial
instruments

Cash
collateral
received/

Pledged

Net amount
(E=C-D)

Gross
amounts
recognized

(A)

Net amount
presented
in the
balance
sheets
(C=A-B)

Gross
amounts
offset in the
balance
sheets (B)

sheets (D)

Financial
instruments

Cash
collateral
received/

Pledged

Net amount
(E=C-D)

Trading and
hedging
derivatives

46,746 10,554 36,192 26,276 9,491 424 32,841 3611 29,230 21,947 8,442 (1,159)

Reverse
repurchase,
securities
borrowing and
similar
agreements

42,666 — 42,666 42,735 970  (1,039) 49,939 — 49,939 50,045 - (106)

Trading and
hedging
derivatives

44,107 10,554 33,553 26,276 7,619 (342) 32,765 3,584 29,181 21,947 8,784 (1,551)

Repurchase,
securities lending
and similar
agreements

42,477 — 42,477 40,798 586 1,093 41,089 — 41,089 40,548 5 536

The amount of recognized financial instruments within derivatives includes the effect in case of compensation with counterparties
with which the bank holds netting agreements, while, for repos, it reflects the market value of the collateral associated with the
transaction.

5.5 Liquidity and Funding risk

Liquidity and funding risk is defined as the incapacity of a bank in meeting its payment commitments due to lack of funds or that, to
face those commitments, should have to make use of funding under burdensome terms.

5.5.1 Liquidity and Funding Strategy and Planning

BBVA is a multinational financial institution whose business is focused mainly on retail and commercial banking activities. In addition
to the retail business model, which forms its core business, the Group engages in corporate and investment banking, through the
global CIB (Corporate & Investment Banking) division.

Liquidity and Funding Risk Management aims to maintain a solid balance sheet structure which allows a sustainable business model.
The Group's liquidity and funding strategy is based on the following pillars:

—  The principle of the funding self-sufficiency of its subsidiaries, meaning that each of the Liquidity Management Units (LMU)
must cover its funding needs independently on the markets where it operates. This avoids possible contagion due to a crisis
affecting one or more of the Group's LMU.

—  Stable customer deposits as the main source of funding in all the LMU, in accordance with the Group's business model.

— Diversification of the sources of wholesale funding, in terms of maturity, market, instruments, counterparties and
currencies, with recurring access to the markets.
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- Compliance with regulatory requirements, ensuring the availability of ample liquidity buffers, of high quality, as well as
sufficient instruments as required by regulations with the capacity to absorb losses.

—  Compliance with the internal Liquidity Risk and Funding metrics, while adhering to the Risk Appetite level established for
each LMU at any time.

Liquidity and Funding Risk Management aims, in the short term, to prevent an entity from having difficulties in meeting its payment
commitments in due time and form or that, to meet them, it has to resort to obtaining funds in burdensome conditions that
deteriorate the image or reputation of the entity.

In the medium term, its objective is to ensure the suitability of the Group's financial structure and its evolution, within the framework
of the economic situation, the markets and regulatory changes.

This management of structural and liquidity funding is based on the principle of financial self-sufficiency of the entities that comprise
it. This approach helps prevent and limit liquidity risk by reducing the Group’s vulnerability during periods of high risk. This
decentralized management prevents possible contagion from a crisis affecting only one or a few Group entities, which must act
independently to meet their liquidity requirements in the markets where they operate.

Within this strategy, the BBVA Group is organized into eight LMU composed of the parent company and the bank subsidiaries in each
geographical area, plus the branches that depend on them.

In addition, the policy for managing liquidity and funding risk is also based on the model's robustness and on the planning and
integration of risk management into the budgeting process of each LMU, according to the liquidity and funding risk appetite that it
decides to assume in its business.

Liquidity and funding planning is part of the strategic processes for the Group's budgetary and business planning. This objective is to
allow a recurrent growth of the banking business with suitable maturities and costs within the established risk tolerance levels by
using a wide range of instruments which allow the diversification of the funding sources and the maintenance of a high volume of
available liquid assets.

5.5.2 Governance and monitoring

The responsibility for liquidity and funding management in the development of normal business activity lies with the Finance area as a
first line of defense in managing the risks inherent to this activity, in accordance with the principles established by the European
Banking Authority (EBA) and in line with the most demanding standards, policies, procedures and controls in the framework
established by the governing bodies. Finance, through the Balance-Sheet Management area, plans and executes the funding of the
structural long-term gap and proposes to the Assets and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) the actions to be taken on this matter, in
accordance with the policies established by the Risk Committee in line with the metrics of the Risk Appetite Framework approved by
the Board of Directors.

Finance is also responsible for preparing the regulatory reporting of liquidity, coordinating the necessary processes to cover the
requirements at corporate and regulatory level, ensuring the integrity of the information provided.

GRM is responsible for ensuring that the liquidity and financing risk in the Bank is managed in accordance with the framework
established by governing bodies. It also deals with the identification, measurement, monitoring and control of such risks and their
communication to the relevant corporate bodies. In order to carry out this task properly, the risk function in the Bank has been
configured as a single, global function, independent of the management areas

Additionally, the Bank has, in its second line of defense, an Internal Risk Control unit, which performs an independent review of the
control of Liquidity and Funding Risk, and a Financial Internal Control Unit that reviews the design and effectiveness of the controls
operations on liquidity management and reporting.

As the third line of defense of the Group's internal control model, Internal Audit is in charge of reviewing specific controls and
processes in accordance with a work plan that is drawn up annually.

The Bank's fundamental objectives regarding the liquidity and funding risk are determined through the Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
and through the Loan-to-Stable Customer Deposits (LtSCD) ratio.

The LCR ratio is a regulatory metric that aims to guarantee the resilience of entities in a scenario of liquidity tension within a time
horizon of 30 days. Within its risk appetite framework and system of limits and alerts, BBVA has established a required LCR
compliance level. The internal levels required are aimed at efficiently meeting the regulatory requirement, at a loose level above
100%.

The LtSCD ratio measures the relationship between net lending and stable customer funds. The aim is to preserve a stable funding
structure in the medium term, taking into account that maintaining an adequate volume of stable customer funds is key to achieving a
sound liquidity profile. In geographical areas with dual-currency balances, the indicator is also controlled by currency to manage the
mismatches that might occur.

Stable customer funds are considered to be the financing obtained and managed among their target customers. Those funds are
characterized by their low sensitivity to market changes and by their less volatile behavior at aggregated level per operation due to the
loyalty of the customer to the entity. The stable resources are calculated by applying to each identified customer segment a haircut
determined by the analysis of the stability if the balances by which different aspects are evaluated (concentration, stability, level of
loyalty). The main source of stable resources arises from wholesale funding and retail customer funds.
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In order to establish the target (maximum) levels of LtSCD and provide an optimal funding structure reference in terms of risk
appetite, the Structural Risks of GRM identifies and assesses the economic and financial variables that condition the funding
structures.

Additionally, liquidity and funding risk management aims to achieve a proper diversification of the funding structure, avoiding
excessive dependence on short-term funding by establishing a maximum level for the short-term funds raised, including both
wholesale financing and the least stable proportion of customer funds In relation to long-term financing, the maturity profile does not
present significant concentrations, which makes it possible to adapt the schedule of the planned issuance plan to the best financial
conditions in the markets. Lastly, concentration risk is monitored with the aim of ensuring a correct diversification of both the
counterparty and type of instrument.

One of the fundamental metrics within the general management framework of the liquidity and funding risk is the maintenance of a
liquidity buffer consisting of high quality assets free of charges which can be sold or offered as collateral to obtain funding, either
under normal market conditions or in stress situations.

The Finance area is responsible for the collateral management and determining the liquidity buffer within BBVA. In addition, the
liquidity buffer must be aligned with the liquidity and funding risk tolerance as well as the management limits set and approved for
each case.

In this context, the short-term resistance of the liquidity risk profile is promoted, ensuring that each LMU has sufficient collateral to
deal with the risk of the closing of wholesale markets. Basic capacity is the internal metric for the management and control of short-
term liquidity risk, which is defined as the relationship between the explicit assets available and the maturities of wholesale liabilities
and volatile resources, at different time periods up to one year, with special relevance at 30 and 90 days, with the objective of
preserving the survival period above 3 months with the available buffer, without considering the balance inflows.

As a fundamental element of the liquidity and financing risk monitoring scheme, stress tests are carried out. They enable to anticipate
deviations from the liquidity targets and the limits set in the appetite, and to establish tolerance ranges in the different management
areas. They also play a major role in the design of the Liquidity Contingency Plan and the definition of specific measures to be adopted
to rectify the risk profile if necessary.

For each scenario, it is checked whether BBVA has a sufficient stock of liquid assets to guarantee its capacity to meet the liquidity
commitments/outflows in the different periods analyzed. The analysis considers four scenarios: one central and three crisis-related
(systemic crisis; unexpected internal crisis with a considerable rating downgrade and/or affecting the ability to issue in wholesale
markets and the perception of business risk by the banking intermediaries and the entity’s clients; and a mixed scenario, as a
combination of the two aforementioned scenarios). Each scenario considers the following factors: existing market liquidity, customer
behavior and sources of funding, the impact of rating downgrades, market values of liquid assets and collateral, and the interaction
between liquidity requirements and the development of BBVA's credit quality.

The stress tests conducted on a regular basis by GRM reveal that BBVA maintains a sufficient buffer of liquid assets to deal with the
estimated liquidity outflows in a scenario resulting from the combination of a systemic crisis and an unexpected internal crisis, during
a period of longer than 3 months in general, including in the scenario of a significant downgrade of the Bank's rating by up to three
notches.

Together with the results of the stress tests and the risk metrics, the early warning indicators play an important role within the
corporate model and the Liquidity Contingency Plan. They are mainly indicators of the funding structure, in relation to asset
encumbrance, counterparty concentration, flights of customer deposits, unexpected use of credit facilities, and of the market, which
help anticipate possible risks and capture market expectations.

Finance is the area responsible for the elaboration, monitoring, execution and update of the liquidity and funding plan and of the
market access strategy to guarantee and improve the stability and diversification of the wholesale funding sources.

In order to implement and establish management in an anticipated manner, limits are set on an annual basis for the main
management metrics that form part of the budgeting process for the liquidity and funding plan. This framework of limits contributes
to the planning of the joint future performance of:

— The loan book, considering the types of assets and their degree of liquidity, as well as their validity as collateral in
collateralized funding.

—  Stable customer funds, based on the application of a methodology for establishing which segments and customer balances
are considered to be stable or volatile funds based on the principle of sustainability and recurrence of these funds.

—  Projection of the credit gap, in order to require a degree of self-funding that is defined in terms of the difference between the
loan-book and stable customer funds.

— Incorporating the planning of securities portfolios into the banking book, which include both fixed-interest and equity
securities, and are classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and at amortized cost,
and additionally on trading portfolios.

—  The structural gap projection, as a result of assessing the funding needs generated both from the credit gap and by the
securities portfolio in the banking book, together with the rest of on-balance-sheet wholesale funding needs, excluding
trading portfolios. This gap therefore needs to be funded with customer funds that are not considered stable or on
wholesale markets.

As a result of these funding needs, BBVA plans the target wholesale funding structure according to the tolerance set.
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Thus, once the structural gap has been identified and after resorting to wholesale markets, the amount and composition of wholesale
structural funding is established in subsequent years, in order to maintain a diversified funding mix and guarantee that there is not a
high reliance on short-term funding (short-term wholesale funding plus volatile customer funds).

In practice, the execution of the principles of planning and self-funding at the different LMU results in BBVA’s main source of funding
being customer deposits, which consist mainly of demand deposits, savings deposits and time deposits.

As sources of funding, customer deposits are complemented by access to the interbank market and the domestic and international
capital markets in order to address additional liquidity requirements, implementing domestic and international programs for the
issuance of commercial paper and medium and long-term debt.

The process of analysis and assessment of the liquidity and funding situation and of the inherent risks is a process carried out on an
ongoing basis at BBVA, with the participation of all the Group areas involved in liquidity and funding risk management. This process is
carried out at both local and corporate level. It is incorporated into the decision- making process for liquidity and funding
management, with integration between the risk appetite strategy and establishment and the planning process, the funding plan and
the limits scheme.

The table below shows the liquidity available by instrument as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 for the most significant entities based
on prudential supervisor's information (Commission Implementing Regulations (EU) 2017/2114 of November 9, 2017):

December (Millions of Euros)

BBVA, S.A.

2022 2021
Cash and withdrawable central bank reserves 48,271 35,258
Level 1tradable assets 33,081 37,272
Level 2A tradable assets 3,450 5,234
Level 2B tradable assets 3,471 9,492
Other tradable assets 22,708 27,870
Non tradable assets eligible for central banks — —
Cumulated counterbalancing capacity 110,981 115,127

The Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), defined as the ratio between the amount of stable funding available and the amount of stable
funding required, and requires banks to maintain a stable funding profile in relation to the composition of their assets and off-balance-
sheet activities. This ratio should be at least 100% at all times.

The LCR, NSFR and LtSCD of BBVA at December 31, 2022, is 186%, 125%% and 98%%,, respectively.

Below is a breakdown by contractual maturity of the balances of certain headings in the accompanying balance sheets, excluding any
valuation adjustments or loss allowances:
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December 2022. Contractual maturities (Millions of Euros)

Deman Uptol 1to3 3to6 6to9 9to12 1to 2 2to3 3to5 Over 5 Total
d month months months months months years years years years
ASSETS
Cash, cash balances at central
banks and other demand 3,675 46,987 — — — — — — — — 50,662
deposits
Deposits in credit entities — 343 161 189 302 307 200 171 35 353 2,062
Deposits in other financial — 1842 481 455 372 221 718 724 493 2580 7,887
institutions
Reverse repo, securities — 26404 5794 3102 1432 1127 4582 1354 2400 289 46,485
borrowing and margin lending
Loans and advances — 13,377 13,903 12,303 7,656 9,891 24,146 21,003 26,777 67946 197,001
Securities' portfolio settlement — 333 668 5860 1,274 2,765 11904 3,669 13579 28,055 68,107
December 2022. Contractual maturities (Millions of Euros)
Demand Upto1l 1to 3 3to6 6to9 9to12 1to2 2to3 3to5 Over 5 Total
month months  months months months years years years years
LIABILITIES
Wholesale funding — 1,343 3,250 675 2,629 1,249 4,448 7,679 9513 13,011 43,798
Deposits in financial institutions 1,064 7,286 436 116 21 39 232 32 78 376 9,679
Deposits in other financial
institutions and international 6,715 4,645 1,299 220 359 1,145 1,140 847 1,418 3540 21,327
agencies
Customer deposits 192,909 13,440 7581 3,047 1334 1,252 577 577 421 232 221,370
Security pledge funding — 40,248 14,174 17,580 743 1,317 6,892 1,299 731 386 83,370
Derivatives, net - (C) (72) (1,229) (137) 37 (130) (311) (655) (3,712) (6,200)
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December 2021. Contractual maturities (Millions of Euros)

Upto1l 1to 3 3to6 6to9 9to12 1to2 2to3 3to5 Over 5

Demand month months months months months years years years years Total
ASSETS
Cash, cash balances at central
banks and other demand 33,076 3,639 — — — — — — — — 36,615
deposits
Deposits in credit entities — 405 189 655 272 131 151 151 — 209 2,162

Deposits in other financial
institutions

Reverse repo, securities
borrowing and margin lending

Loans and advances — 10,383 10,615 11,653 5832 7,692 23,450 18503 29,433 68,655 186,215

— 675 468 487 432 230 486 418 257 2,723 6,175

— 30,076 11,611 2945 1063 1482 27188 2,239 118 739 53,462

Securities' portfolio settlement - 413 570 1,809 520 3,153 12,712 5847 9,072 40,484 74,580

December 2021. Contractual maturities (Millions of euros)
Upto1l 1to3 3to6 6to9 9to12 1to2 2to3 3to5 Over 5

Demand month months months months months years years years years Total
LIABILITIES
Wholesale funding — 2,790 609 2586 1,706 274 7,482 3,350 8,900 13,953 41,652
Deposits in financial institutions 1,477 3,828 134 19 3 4 17 41 36 562 6,221
Deposits in other financial
institutions and international 7,983 1927 1,678 105 116 181 692 701 1,306 3,957 18,646
agencies
Customer deposits 184999 7,094 5,785 2,486 828 649 781 139 378 221 203,360
Security pledge funding — 41,633 6,449 2,369 1,492 8,188 29,429 4,274 956 1,331 96,120

Derivatives, net — 20 9) (272)  (43) (621 231 (O (84) (127)  (997)
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With regard to the financing structure, the loan portfolio is mostly financed by retail deposits. The “demand” maturity bucket mainly
contains the retail customer sight accounts whose behavior historically showed a high level of stability and little concentration.
According to a behavior analysis which is done every year in every entity, this type of account is considered to be stable and for
liquidity risk purposes receive a better treatment.

BBVA, S.A. has maintained a sound liquidity position. Commercial activity has generated liquidity due to greater growth in customer
deposits above loan growth, especially in the last quarter of the year. In December, the Bank began the repayment of the TLTRO Il
program for an amount of €12 billion, corresponding to approximately one third of the total drawdown amount. On the other hand, in
order to maintain sufficient collateral available, mortgage coverage and territorial bonds have been issued for an amount of €2 billion,
held in treasury shares. Likewise, mortgage securitizations held in treasury shares have been issued, generating collateral for an
amount of €4.4 billion.

In relation to BBVA, S.A. during the year 2022 it has made an issuance of senior non-preferred debt in an amount of €1,000 million,
two series of senior non-preferred debt securities in an aggregate amount of USD 1,750 million, six series of senior preferred debt
securities in an aggregate amount of €4,065 million, a senior preferred bond (green bond) issuance for €1,250 million and two senior
preferred bond (green bond) issuances in an aggregate amount of 425 million Swiss francs. Additionally, in May 2022, the convertible
preferred shares (CoCos) issued by BBVA in May 2017 were redeemed early and in June 2022 a loan securitization transaction was
completed in connection with vehicle financing loans for an amount of €1,200 million.

5.5.3 Asset encumbrance

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the encumbered (those provided as collateral for certain liabilities) and unencumbered assets are
broken down as follows:

Encumbered and unencumbered assets (Million of Euros)

Encumbered assets Unencumbered assets
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
Equity instruments 819 307 819 307 3,956 16,113 3,956 16,113
Debt securities 20,653 20,047 20,201 17,814 39,963 41,039 40,415 43,272
Loans and advances and other
assets 52,135 75,022 — — 341,362 289,751 — —

The committed value of "Loans and Advances and other assets" corresponds mainly to loans linked to the issue of covered bonds,
territorial bonds or long-term securitized bonds (see Note 20) as well as those used as a guarantee to access certain funding
transactions with central banks. Debt securities and equity instruments correspond to underlying that are delivered in repos with
different types of counterparties, mainly clearing houses or credit institutions, and to a lesser extent central banks. Collateral
provided to guarantee derivative transactions is also included as committed assets.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, collateral pledges received mainly due to repurchase agreements and securities lending, and
those which could be committed in order to obtain funding are provided below:

Collateral received (Millions of Euros)

Fair value of encumbered Fair value of collateral received or Fair value of collateral received or
collateral received or own debt own debt securities issued own debt securities issued not
securities issued available for encumbrance available for encumbrance

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

Collateral received 38,717 39,724 6,879 13,620 1,278 1,555
Equity instruments 338 286 759 265 - -
Debt securities 38,379 39,438 6,119 13,355 1,278 1,555
Loans and advances and other assets - - - - - -
Own debt securities issued other _ _ _ 50 _ _

than own covered bonds or ABSs
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As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, financial liabilities issued related to encumbered assets in financial transactions as well as their
book value were as follows:

Sources of encumbrance (Millions of Euros)

Assets, collateral received and own
debt securities issued other than
covered bonds and ABSs encumbered

Matching liabilities, contingent
liabilities or securities lent

2022 2021 2022 2021
Book value of financial liabilities 102,157 118,530 108,585 132,188
Derivatives 11,91 13,686 11,700 13,576
Deposits 79,531 92,350 84,042 103,567
Outstanding subordinated debt 10,715 12,494 12,843 15,045
Other sources 236 206 3,739 2,912

6. Fair value of financial instruments

Framework and processes control

As part of the process established in the Bank for determining the fair value in order to ensure that financial assets and liabilities are
valued following the principles: Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants in the principal market or most advantageous market, at the measurement date.

BBVA has established, at a geographic level, a structure of Risk Operational Admission and Product Governance Committees
responsible for validating and approving new products or types of financial assets and liabilities before being contracted. Local
management responsible for valuation, which are independent from the business (see Management Report - Risk) are members of
these committees.

These areas are required to ensure, prior to the approval stage, the existence of not only technical and human resources, but also
adequate informational sources to measure the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities, in accordance with the rules
established by the valuation global area and using models that have been validated and approved by the responsible areas.

Fair value hierarchy

All financial instruments, both assets and liabilities are initially recognized at fair value, which at that point is equivalent to the
transaction price, unless there is evidence to the contrary in the market. Subsequently, depending on the type of financial instrument,
it may continue to be recognized at amortized cost or fair value through adjustments in the income statement or equity.

When possible, the fair value is determined as the market price of a financial instrument. However, for many of the financial assets
and liabilities of the Bank, especially in the case of derivatives, there is no market price available, so its fair value is estimated on the
basis of the price established in recent transactions involving similar instruments or, in the absence thereof, by using mathematical
measurement models that are sufficiently tried and trusted by the international financial community. The estimates of the fair value
derived from the use of such models take into consideration the specific features of the asset or liability to be measured and, in
particular, the various types of risk associated with such asset or liability. However, the limitations inherent in the measurement
models and possible inaccuracies in the assumptions and parameters required by these models may mean that the estimated fair
value of an asset or liability does not exactly match the price for which the asset or liability could be exchanged or settled on the date
of its measurement.

Additionally, for financial assets and liabilities that show significant uncertainty in inputs or model parameters used for valuation,
criteria is established to measure said uncertainty and activity limits are set based on these. Finally, these measurements are
compared, as much as possible, against other sources such as the measurements obtained by the business teams or those obtained
by other market participants.

The process for determining the fair value requires the classification of the financial assets and liabilities according to the
measurement processes used as set forth below:

—  Level 1: Valuation using directly the quotation of the instrument, observable and readily and regularly available from
independent price sources and referenced to active markets that the entity can access at the measurement date. The
instruments classified within this level are fixed-income securities, equity instruments and certain derivatives.

—  Level 2: Valuation of financial instruments with commonly accepted techniques that use inputs obtained from observable
data in markets.

—  Level 3: Valuation of financial instruments with valuation techniques that use significant unobservable inputs in the market.
As of December 31, 2022, the affected instruments at fair value accounted for approximately 0.66% of financial assets and
0.27% of the Bank's financial liabilities. Model selection and validation is undertaken by control areas outside the business
areas.
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6.1. Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of the Bank’s financial instruments in the accompanying balance sheets and its corresponding carrying amounts as of
December 31, 2022 and 2021 are presented below:

Fair Value and Carrying Amount (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Notes i i
Carrying Fair Value Carrying Fair Value
Amount Amount
ASSETS
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other 7 52.973 52973 38,821 38,821
demand deposits
Financial assets held for trading 8 91,391 91,391 105,391 105,391
Non-trading fmanqal assets mandatorily at fair 9 546 546 437 437
value through profit or loss
Financial assets designated at fair value through 10 _ _ _ _
profit or loss
Financial ass'etslat fair value through other 1 24,854 24,854 28.205 28,205
comprehensive income
Financial assets at amortized cost 12 246,950 244,293 231,276 233,510
Derivatives — Hedge accounting 13 1,169 1,169 841 841
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities held for trading 8 80,853 80,853 77,859 77,859
Fmapmal liabilities designated at fair value through 10 1.859 1.859 2238 2238
profit or loss
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 20 335,941 335,668 321,848 323,368
Derivatives — Hedge accounting 13 2,599 2,599 2,126 2,126

Not all financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value. Information on financial instruments recorded at fair value and
subsequently information of those recorded at amortized cost is provided (including their fair value although this value is not used
when accounting for these instruments).

6.1.1.  Fair value of financial instruments recognized at fair value, according to valuation criteria
Below are the different elements used in the valuation technique of financial instruments.
Active Market

BBVA considers an active market as a market that allows the observation of bid and offer prices representative of the levels to which
the market participants are willing to negotiate an asset, with sufficient frequency and volume.

Furthermore, BBVA would consider as traded in an “Organized Market” quotations for assets or liabilities from Over The Counter
(OTC) markets when they are obtained from independent sources, observable on a daily basis and fulfil certain conditions.



70

Translation of Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and as amended thereafter,
which adapts the EU-IFRS for banks (see notes 1 to 51). In the event of a discrepancy, the original Spanish-language version prevails.

The following table shows the financial instruments carried at fair value in the accompanying balance sheets, broken down by level
used to determine their fair value as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Fair Value of Financial Instruments by Levels (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ASSETS
Financial assets held for trading 15,140 74,084 2,168 25,041 77,097 3,252
Equity instruments 3,338 — 23 15,118 - 28
Debt securities 11,023 228 66 8,874 2,554 N8
Loans and advances — 40,521 1,169 — 47,397 2,913
Derivatives 778 33,334 9N 1,049 27,146 193
N(_)n-trading financial a.ssets mandatorily at 67 64 414 15 77 245
fair value through profit or loss
Equity instruments 67 4 367 115 1 57
Debt securities — 60 47 — 77 49
Loans and advances — — — — - 140
Financial assets designated at fair value _ _ _ _ _ _
through profit or loss
Financial ass.ets. at fair value through other 24,221 463 170 27,252 749 204
comprehensive income
Equity instruments 946 — 31 1,077 — 26
Debt securities 23,275 463 139 26,175 749 178
Loans and advances — — — — — —
Derivatives — Hedge accounting - 1,169 - - 832 9
LIABILITIES - - -
Financial liabilities held for trading 12,134 68,005 715 14,236 63,300 323
Derivatives 726 29,640 588 1,089 25,869 97
Short positions 11,408 — — 13,147 1 —
Deposits — 38,364 127 — 37,431 226
Financial liabilities designated at fair value _ 1,457 402 _ 2,074 164

through profit or loss
Customer deposits — 1,457 402 — 2,074 164
Debt certificates — — - — - —
Other financial liabilities — — — — — —
Derivatives — Hedge accounting - 2,574 25 - 2,126 -

The following table sets forth the main valuation techniques, hypothesis and inputs used in the estimation of fair value of the financial
instruments recorded at amortized cost classified under Levels 2 and 3, based on the type of financial asset and liability and the
corresponding balances as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:
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Fair Value of financial Instruments by Levels (Millions of Euros).

2022 2021
Level 2 Level 3 Level 2 Level 3 Valuation technique(s) Observable inputs Unobservable inputs
ASSETS
Financial assets held for trading 74,084 2,168 77,097 3,252
) - Brokers quotes
Equity instruments - 23 - 2g  Comparable pricing (Observable price in a similar market) - Market operations NAV provided by the administrator of the fund
Net asset value
- NAVs published
Present-value method - lIssuer’s credit risk - Prepayment rates
Debt securities 228 66 2,554 118 (Discounted future cash flows) - Current market interest rates - Issuer”s credit risk
Observed prices in non active markets - Non active markets prices - Recovery rates
lssuer’s credit risk - Prepayment ates
Present-value method - Current market interest rates /
Loans and advances 40521 1169 47.397 2913 Discounted future cash flows) - Interest rates for the financing of assets . :js”e‘ s credit risk
- Exchange rates -Recovery rates
g
Derivatives 33334 9n 27146 193
Interest rate products (Interest rate Swaps, call money Swaps y FRA):
Discounted cash flows
Caps/Floors: Black 76, Hull-Whitey SABR -Beta
Interest rate Bond Options: Black 76 - Implicit correlations between tenors
Swaptions: Black 76, Hull- White y LGM - Interest rates volatility
Other Interest rate options: Black 76, Hull-White, SABRy LGM
Constant maturity Swaps: SABR
- Exchange rates [P ——
. ~Volatility of volatility
Future and Equity Forward: Discounted future cash flows Market quoted future prices
. - Implicit assets correlations
Equit Equity Options: Local Volatility, Balck 76, Momentum adjustment and Market interest rates ’
iy faetan? v ! - Underlying assets prices: shares, funds, commodities - Long term implicit correlations
- Market observable volatilties - Implicit dividends and long term repos
Future and Equity forward: Discounted future cash flows - Issuer credit spreadlevels - Volatility of volatility
N Quoted dividends
Foreign exchange and gold Foreign exchange Options: Black 76, Local Volatility, moments : - Implicit assets correlations
Market listed correlations )
adjustment - Long term implicit correlations
- Correlation default
- Credit spread
Credit Credit Derivatives: Default model and Gaussian copula - Recoveryrates
- Interest rate yield
- Default volatility
Commodities Commodities: Momentum adjustment and discounted cash flows
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value
through profit or loss 64 414 7 245
N - Brokers quotes
Equity instruments 4 367 7 57 Comparable pricing (Observable price in a similar market) - Market operations - NAV provided by the administrator of the fund
Net asset value
- NAVs published
Prepayment rates
Present-value method - Issuer credit risk
Debt securities 60 47 77 49 - Issuer credit risk
(Discounted future cash flows) - Current market interest rates - Recovery rates
Specific liquidation criteria regarding losses of the EPA proceedings - ‘gsue’ credit risk
- Current market interest rates
Loans and advances - - - 140 PD and LGD of the internal models, valuations and specific criteria of the - Property valuation
- Interest rates for the financing of assets
EPA proceedings
- Exchange rates
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive 63 70 a9 208
income
N - Brokers quotes
Equity instruments - 3 - 26 Comparable pricing (Observable price in a similar market) - Market operations - NAV provided by the administrator of the fund
Net asset value
- NAVs published
Present-value method - lIssuer’s credit risk - Prepayment rates
Debt securities 463 139 749 178 (Discounted future cash flows) - Current market interest rates - Issuer credit risk
Observed prices in non-active markets - Non active market prices - Recovery rates
1,169 - 832 )

Interest rate

Interest rate products (Interest rate swaps, Call money swaps y FRA)
Discounted cash flows

Caps/Floors: Black 76, Hull-White y SABR

Bond options: Black 76

Swaptions: Black 76, Hull-White y LGM

Other interest rate options: Black 76, Hull-White, SABRy LGM
Constant maturity swaps: SABR

Equity

Future and Equity Forward: Discounted future cash flows
Equity Options: Local volatility, Black 76, Momentum adjustment and
Heston

Foreign exchange and gold

Future and Equity Forward: Discounted future cash flows
Foreign exchange Options: Black 76, Local volatility, moments adjustment

Credit

Credit Derivatives: Default model and Gaussian copula

Commodities

Commodities: Momentum adjustment and Discounted cash flows

- Exchange rates
- Market quoted future prices

- Market interest rates

- Underlying assets prices: shares, funds, commodities
- Market observable volatilities

- Issuer credit spread levels

- Quoted dividends

- Market listed correlations
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments by Levels (Millions of Euros).

2022 2021
Level 2 Level 3 Level 2 Level 3 Valuation technique(s) Observable inputs Unobservable inputs
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities held for trading 68,005 715 63,300 323
- Interest rate yield
Present-value method - Funding interest rates - Funding interest rates
Deposits 38,364 127 37431 226 observed in the market or in observed in the market or in
(Discounted future cash flows) .
consensus services consensus services
- Exchange rates
Derivatives 29,640 588 25,869 97
Interest rate products (Interest rate Swaps, call
money Swaps y FRA): Discounted cash flows
Caps/Floors: Black 76, Hull-White y SABR _Beta
Interest rate Bond Options: Black 76 - Correlation between tenors
Swaptions: Black 76, Hull-White y LGM ~Interest rates volatilit
Other Interest rate Options: Black 76, Hull-White, Y
SABRy LGM
Constant Maturity swaps: SABR
- Exchange rates
Future and Equity Forward: Discounted future - Market quoted future prices
Equit; cash flows - Market interest rates - Volatility of volatility
quity Equity options: Local volatility, momentum - Underlying assets prices: shares, funds, - Assets correlation
adjustment and Heston commodities
Future and Equity Forward: Discounted future - Market obs_ervable volatilities
- Issuer credit spread levels
. cash flows " - Volatility of volatility
Foreign exchange and gold ) - Quoted dividends 3
Foreign exchange options: Black 76, Local - Market listed correlations - Assets correlation
volatility, moments adjustment
- Correlation default
. Credit Derivatives: Default model and Gaussian - Credit spread
Credit - Recovery rates
copula N
- Interest rate yield
- Default volatility
- Commodities: Momentum adjustment and
Commodities .
discounted cash flows
- Correlation default
Short positions _ _ 1 _ Present-value method - Credit spread
P (Discounted future cash flows) - Recovery rates
- Interest rate yield
Y " . - Prepayment rates - Prepayment rates
F liabilities at fair Present-value method g P e
" 1,457 402 2,074 164 " - Issuer’s credit risk - Issuer credit risk
value through profit or loss (Discounted future cash flows) - Current market interest rates - Current market interest rates
Derivatives — Hedge accounting 2,574 25 2,126 -
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Interest rate

Interest rate products (Interest rate Swaps, Call
money swaps y FRA): Discounted cash flows
Caps/Floors: Black 76, Hull-White y SABR
Bond options: Black 76

Swaptions: Black 76, Hull-White y LGM

Other Interest rate options: Black 76, Hull-White
yLGM

Constant Maturity swaps: SABR

Equity

- Exchange rates

Future and Equity forward: Discounted future - Market quoted future prices

cash flows - Market interest rates

Equity options: Local Volatility, Black 76, - Underlying assets prices: shares, funds,
momentum adjustment and Heston commodities

Foreign exchange and gold

- Market observable volatilities
- Issuer credit spread levels

- Quoted dividends

- Market listed correlations

Future and Equity Forward: Discounted future
cash flows

Foreign exchange Options: Black 76, local
volatility, moments adjustment

Credit

Credit Derivatives: Default model and Gaussian
copula

Commodities

Commodities: Momentum adjustment and
discounted cash flows

- Beta
- Implicit correlations between tenors
- interest rates volatility

- Volatility of volatility

- Implicit assets correlations

- Long term implicit correlations

- Implicit dividends and long term repos

- Volatility of volatility
- Implicit assets correlations
- Long term implicit correlations

- Correlation default
- Credit spread

- Recovery rates

- Interest rate yield
- Default volatility
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Main valuation techniques

The main techniques used for the assessment of the majority of the financial instruments classified in level 3, and its main
unobservable inputs, are described below:

—  The net present value (net present value method): This technique uses the future cash flows of each financial instrument,
which are established in the different contracts, and discounted to their present value. This technique often includes many
observable inputs, but may also include unobservable inputs, as described below:

a. Credit Spread: This input represents the difference in yield of a debt security and the reference rate, reflecting the
additional return that a market participant would require to take the credit risk of that debt security. Therefore,
the credit spread of the debt security is part of the discount rate used to calculate the present value of the future
cash flows.

b.  Recovery rate: This input represents the percentage of principal and interest recovered from a debt instrument
that has defaulted.

— Comparable prices (similar asset prices): This input represents the prices of comparable financial instruments and
benchmarks used to calculate a reference yield based on relative movements from the entry price or current market levels.
Further adjustments to account for differences that may exist between financial instrument being valued and the
comparable financial instrument may be added. It can also be assumed that the price of the financial instrument is
equivalent to the comparable instrument.

—  Net asset value: This technique utilizes certain assumptions to use net asset value as representative of fair value, which is
equal to the total value of the assets and liabilities of a fund published by the managing entity.

—  Gaussian copula: This model is used to integrate default probabilities of credit instruments referenced to more than one
underlying CDS (Credit Default Swaps). The joint density function used to value the instrument is constructed by using a
Gaussian copula that relates the marginal densities by a normal distribution, usually extracted from the correlation matrix of
events approaching default by CDS issuers.

—  Black 76: variant of Black Scholes model, whose main application is the valuation of bond options, cap floors and Swaptions
where the behavior of the Forward and not the Spot itself, is directly modeled.

- Black Scholes: The Black Scholes model postulates log-normal distribution for the prices of securities, so that the expected
return under the risk neutral measure is the risk free interest rate. Under this assumption, the price of vanilla options can be
obtained analytically, so that inverting the Black- Scholes formula, the implied volatility for process of the price can be
calculated.

—  Heston: This model, typically applied to equity OTC options, assumes stochastic behavior of volatility. According to which,
the volatility follows a process that reverts to a long-term level and is correlated with the underlying equity instrument. As
opposed to local volatility models, in which the volatility evolves deterministically, the Heston model is more flexible,
allowing it to be similar to that observed in the short term today.

—  Libor market model: This model assumes that the dynamics of the interest rate curve can be modeled based on the set of
forward contracts that compose the underlying interest rate. The correlation matrix is parameterized on the assumption
that the correlation between any two forward contracts decreases at a constant rate, beta, to the extent of the difference in
their respective due dates. The input “Credit default volatility” is a volatility input of the credit factor dynamic applied in
rate/credit hybrid operative. The multifactorial frame of this model makes it ideal for the valuation of instruments sensitive
to the slope or curve, including interest rate option.

- Local Volatility: In the local volatility models, the volatility, instead of being static, evolves deterministically over time
according to the level of moneyness (i.e. probability that the option has a positive value on its date of expiration) of the
underlying, capturing the existence of volatility smiles. The volatility smile of an option is the empirical relationship observed
between its implied volatility and its strike price. These models are appropriate for options whose value depends on the
historical evolution of the underlying which use Monte Carlo simulation technique for their valuation.
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Unobservable inputs

Quantitative information of unobservable inputs used to calculate level 3 valuations is presented below as of December 31, 2022 and

2020:

Unobservable inputs. December 2022

Financial instrument Valuation technique(s) Significant . Min Average Max Units
unobservable inputs
b tval thod Credit spread — m 1,538 pb
Debt Securities resent vaiue metho Recovery rate 0% 39 % 40 % %
Comparable Pricing 2% 94 % 139 % %
Equity/Fund instruments Net Asset Value
) -
Comparable Pricing
. o o o Abs Repo
Loans and advances Present value method Repo funding curve 0.71% 3.48% 5.52 % rate
Gaussian Copula Correlation default 26 % 44 % 58 % %
Credit Derivatives
Black 76 Price volatility — — — Vegas
A Dividends @
Option models on
Equity Derivatives equities, baskets of Correlations (93 %) 59 % 99 % %
ity, fund
equity. funds Volatility 7.81 32.62 98.71 Vegas
FX Derivatives Option modelson FX -ty 532 11.93 2073 Vegas
underlyings
Beta 0.25% 2.00 % 18.00 % %
IR Derivati Option models on IR
erivatives underlyings Correlation rate/credit (100 %) 100 % %
Correlation rate/inflation 51% 66 % 76 % %

(1) Due to the diversity of valuation models of equity valuations, we would not include all the unobservable inputs or the quantitative ranges of them.

(2) The range of unobservable dividends is too wide range to be relevant.
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Unobservable inputs. December 2021

Significant

Financial instrument Valuation technique(s) . Min Average Max Units
unobservable inputs
P tval thod Credit spread 3 125 2,374 pb
Debt Securities resentvalue metho Recovery rate 0% 37% 40 % %
Comparable Pricing 0% 97 % 144 % %
Equity/Fund instruments Net Asset Value
m -
Comparable Pricing
Loans and advances Present value method Repo funding curve (2.71 %) 1.16 % 4.99 % Ab?aFt%gpo
Gaussian Copula Correlation default 35 % 43 % 53 % %
Credit Derivatives
Black 76 Price volatility - - - Vegas
‘ Dividends @
Option models on
Equity Derivatives equities, baskets of Correlations (88 %) 60 % 99 % %
equity, funds
quity. Tu Volatility 557 26.30 62.00 Vegas
FX Derivatives Option models onFX -ty 3.9 971 16.34 Vegas
underlyings
Beta 0.25% 2.00 % 18.00 % %
IR Derivati Option models on IR
erivatives underlyings Correlation rate/credit (100 %) 100 % %
Credit default volatility — — — Vegas

(1) Due to the diversity of valuation models of equity valuations, we would not include all the unobservable inputs or the quantitative ranges of them.

(2) The range of unobservable dividends is too wide range to be relevant.

Adjustments to the valuation

Under Circular 4/2017, the entity must estimate the value taking into account the assumptions and conditions that market
participants would have when setting the price of the asset or liability on the valuation date.

In order to comply with the fair value requirements, the entity applies adjustments to the fair valuation considering inherent and
counterparties” default criteria, funding valuation risk and valuation risks due to valuation uncertainty and related to the prudent
valuation criteria aligned with the regulatory requirements and considers the model risk, liquidity risk (Bid / Offer) and price
uncertainty risk.

Adjustments to the valuation for risk of default

The fair value of liabilities should reflect the entity's default risk, which includes, among other components, its own credit risk. Taking
this into account, the Bank makes valuation adjustments for credit risk in the estimates of the fair value of its assets and liabilities.

These adjustments are calculated by estimating Exposure At Default, Probability of Default and Loss Given Default, which are based
on the recovery levels for all derivative products on any instrument, deposits and repos at the legal entity level (all counterparties
under a same master agreement), in which BBVA has exposure.

Credit Valuation Adjustment (hereinafter “CVA") and Debit Valuation Adjustments (hereinafter "DVA") are included in the valuation of
derivatives, both assets and liabilities, to reflect the impact on the fair value of the counterparty credit risk and its own, respectively.
The Bank incorporates in its valuation, for all exposures classified in any of the categories valued at fair value, both the counterparty
credit risk and its own. In the trading portfolio, and in the specific case of derivatives, credit risk is recognized through such
adjustments.

As a general rule, the calculation of CVA is the sum of the expected positive exposure in time t, the probability of default between t-1
and t, and the Loss Given Default of the counterparty. Consequently, the DVA is calculated as the sum of the expected negative
exposure in time t, the probability of default of BBVA between t-1 and t, and the Loss Given Default of BBVA. Both calculations are
performed throughout the entire period of potential exposure.

The calculation of the expected positive and negative exposure is done through a Montecarlo simulation of the market variables
involved in all trades’ valuation under the same legal netting set.

The information needed to calculate the probability of default and the loss given default of a counterparty comes from the credit
markets. The counterparty’s Credit Default Swaps are used if liquid quotes are available. If a market price is not available, BBVA has
implemented a mapping process based on the sector, rating and geography of the counterparty to assign probabilities of default and
loss given default calibrated directly to market.
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An additional adjustment for Own Credit Adjustment (OCA) is applied to the instruments accounted for by applying the Fair Value
Option permitted by the standard.

The amounts recognized in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 related to "OCA” were €333 million.

The amounts recognized in the balance sheet as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 related to the valuation adjustments to the credit
assessment of the derivative asset as “Credit Valuation Adjustments” (“CVA") were €-147 million and €-103 million respectively, and
the valuation adjustments to the derivative liabilities as “Debit Valuation Adjustment” (DVA) were €88 million and €57 million
respectively. The impact recorded under “Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net” in the income
statement for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 corresponding to the mentioned adjustments were a net impact of €-13
million and €-2 million respectively.

As a result of the value variations of the inherent credit risk, which is included in the deposits classified as liabilities designated at fair
value through profit and loss, the amount recognized in the heading “Accumulated other comprehensive income” has amounted to
€103 million and €3 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Valuation adjustments for financing risk

The fair value of the positions recorded at fair value must reflect the entity's financing risk. Taking into account the above, the Bank
makes adjustments for financing risk valuation (Funding Valuation Adjustment FVA) in the estimates of the fair value of its assets and
liabilities.

The adjustment to the valuation for financing risk incorporates the cost of financing implicit in the valuation of positions at fair value.
This adjustment reflects the cost of funding for non-collateralized or partially collateralized operations.

Additionally, as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, €-16 million and €-11 million related to the “Funding Valuation Adjustments” (“FVA")
were recognized in the balance sheet, being the impact on results €-7 million and €-1 million, respectively.

Valuation adjustments for valuation uncertainty
The fair value of the positions recorded at fair value must reflect the valuation risk derived from the uncertainty in the valuation for
concepts of pure uncertainty of prices, liquidity risk and model risks. This adjustment is aligned with the regulatory requirements for

prudent valuation via valuation adjustments with an impact on CET1, and meets the requirements.

The adjustment to the valuation for liquidity incorporates an adjustment for Bid / Offer spreads in the valuation of positions that do
not meet the necessary conditions to be considered a Market Maker operation.

The adjustment to the valuation for model risk captures the uncertainty in the price associated with the products valued with the use
of a valuation model ("Mark to Model") given the existence of more than one possible model applicable to the valuation of the product
or the calibration of its parameters from the observations of inputs in the market.

The adjustment to the valuation for price uncertainty includes the uncertainty associated with the dispersion in the values observed in
the market for the prices taken in the valuation of assets or as inputs in the valuation models.

The impact recorded under “Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net” in the consolidated income
statement for the year ended December 31, 2022 corresponding to the mentioned adjustments was a net impact of €-43 million. An
adjustment was also made as of December 31, 2022 on financial asset at fair value through other comprehensive income for a total of
€-11 million.

Financial assets and liabilities classified as Level 3

The changes in the balance of Level 3 financial assets and liabilities included in the accompanying balance sheets are as follows:

Financial assets Level 3. Changes in the year (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Changes in fair value recognized in profit and loss 268 49 175 (44)
Changes in fair value not recognized in profit and loss (23) — 19) —
Acquisitions, disposals and liquidations (599) 515 2,418 185
Net transfers to Level 3 (606) 91 (446) (66)

Exchange differences and others — — — —

(1) Profit or loss that is attributable to gains or losses relating to those financial assets and liabilities held as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. Valuation adjustments are recorded
under the heading “Gains (losses) on financial assets and liabilities (net)"”.

In 2022, the net volume of exposures classified as level 3 has been reduced. This reduction is mainly concentrated in repurchase
agreements positions, derived from the rotation of the portfolio towards positions with better observability in the equity market of the
inputs applied at their fair value. Additionally, the reduction in the volume of level 3 exposures of repurchase agreement positions is
mitigated by the increase in the volume of level 3 exposures in derivatives, for which there is worse observability in the market of the
inputs applied in their fair value.



78

Translation of Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and as amended thereafter,
which adapts the EU-IFRS for banks (see notes 1 to 51). In the event of a discrepancy, the original Spanish-language version prevails.

In 2021 there was an increase in the trading portfolio mainly due to the evolution of loans and advances and their corresponding
funding with deposits. In line with this increase in the activity, and despite the improvement in the inputs used to value these assets in
the market, there was an increase in the volume of exposures classified as level 3 which mainly corresponded to the temporary
acquisitions of assets.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, the profit/loss on sales of financial instruments classified as level 3 recognized in
the consolidated income statement was not material.

Transfers among levels

The Global Valuation Area has established the rules for an appropriate financial instruments held for trading classification according
to the fair value hierarchy defined by international accounting standards.

On a monthly basis, any new assets added to the portfolio are classified, according to this criterion, by the subsidiaries. Then, there is
a quarterly review of the portfolio in order to analyze the need for a change in classification of any of these assets.

The financial instruments transferred among the different levels of measurement for the years are at the following amounts in the
accompanying balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Transfer among levels (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
From: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
To: Level 2 Level 3 Level1l Level3 Levell Level2 Level2 Level 3 Levell Level3 Levell Level 2
ASSETS
f;;‘jiﬂlza'asse“ held for 15 — 1873 326 23 885 888 - no42 6 592

Non-trading financial assets
mandatorily at fair value - - - - - 2 - - - - - 23
through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive 103 — n2 — — 22 5 — 10 35 — 2
income

Derivatives — Hedge
accounting

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities held for
trading

17 — 239 132 — 233 563 — — 55 — 94

Financial liabilities designated

at fair value through profit or — — — 221 — 55 — — — 38 — 65
loss

Derivatives — Hedge
accounting

The amount of financial instruments that were transferred among levels of valuation during the year ended December 31, 2022
corresponds to the above changes in the classification among levels since such financial instruments modified some of their features.
Specifically, transfers among Levels Tand 2 occur mainly in derivatives and debt securities. Likewise, transfers from Level 2 to level 3
are mainly due to derivatives and deposits at fair value through profit or loss, and in relation to transfers from level 3 to Level 2,
generally affect derivatives and loans and advances held for trading.

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis is performed on financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs (financial instruments included in level
3), in order to obtain a reasonable range of possible alternative valuations. This analysis is carried out based on the criteria defined by
the Global Valuation area in line with the official regulatory requirements for Prudent Valuation metrics, taking into account the nature
of the methods used for the assessment and the reliability and availability of inputs and proxies used. In order to establish, with a
sufficient degree of certainty, the valuation risk that is incurred in such assets without applying diversification criteria between them.

As of December 31, 2022, the effect on profit for the year and total equity of changing the main unobservable inputs used for the
measurement of level 3 financial instruments for other reasonably possible unobservable inputs, taking the highest (most favorable
input) or lowest (least favorable input) value of the range deemed probable, would be as follows:
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Financial instruments Level 3: sensitivity analysis (Millions of Euros)

Potential impact on income Potential impact on
statement other comprehensive income
Most favorable Least favorable = Most favorable Least favorable
hypothesis hypothesis hypothesis hypothesis

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021

ASSETS

Financial assets held for trading 33 33 (33) (57) - - - —
Loans and advances 1 4 m ) — — — —
Debt securities — 24 — (24) — — — —
Equity instruments 25 1 (25) (25) — — — —
Derivatives 6 5 (6) ) - - - -

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at _ _ _ _

fair value through profit or loss 135 35 (136) (36)
Loans and advances — 16 - (5) - - - -
Debt securities 17 10 19) 10) - - - —
Equity instruments 18 9 Mm8) 21) — — — —

Financial ass:ets. at fair value through other _ _ _ _ 24 40 (25) (43)

comprehensive income

Total 168 68 (169) (93) 24 40 (25) (%))

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities held for trading 7 3 7) 3) - - - -

Total 7 3 (¢)) ()] - - - -

6.2. Fair value of financial instruments carried at cost by valuation criteria

The valuation technique used to calculate the fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at cost are presented below:

Financial assets

Cash, balances at central banks and other demand deposits / loans to central banks / short-term loans to credit
institutions/ repurchase agreements: in general, their fair value approximates to their book value, due to the nature of the
counterparty and because they are mainly short-term balances in which the book value is the most reasonable estimation of
the value of the asset.

Loans to credit institutions which are not short-term and loans to customers: In general, the fair value of these financial
assets is determined by the discount of expected future cash flows, using market interest rates at the time of valuation
adjusted by the credit spread and taking all kind of behavioral hypothesis if it is considered to be relevant (prepayment fees,
optionality, etc.).

Debt securities: Fair value estimated based on the available market price or by using internal valuation methodologies.

Financial liabilities

Deposits from central banks: for recurrent liquidity auctions and other monetary policy instruments of central banks /
short-term deposits, from credit institutions / repurchase agreements / short term customer deposits: their book value is
considered to be the best estimation of their fair value.

Deposits of credit institutions which are not short-term and term customer deposits: these deposits are valued by
discounting future cash flows using the interest rate curve in effect at the time of the adjustment adjusted by the credit
spread and incorporating any behavioral assumptions if this proves relevant (early repayments, optionalities, etc.).

Debt certificate (Issuances): The fair value estimation of these liabilities depends on the availability of market prices or by
using the present value method: discount of future cash flows, using market interest rates at valuation time and taking into
account the credit spread.
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The following table presents the fair value of key financial instruments carried at amortized cost in the accompanying balance sheets
as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, broken down according to the method of valuation used for the estimation:

Fair value of financial instruments at amortized cost by Levels (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
ASSETS
ggrsnha,nc;szgca)lsa;;ces at central banks and other 52973 . . 38,821 _ _
Financial assets at amortized cost 16,767 7,877 219,649 17,615 8,774 207,120
LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities at amortized cost 67,396 267,589 683 78,594 244,488 286

The main valuation techniques and inputs used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments accounted for at amortized cost and
classified in levels 2 and 3 is shown below. These are broken down by type of financial instrument and the balances correspond to
those as of December 31, 2022 and 2021:

Fair Value of financial Instruments at amortized cost by valuation technique (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Level2 Level3 Level2 Level3 Valuation technique(s) ﬁn:;z observable inputs
ASSETS
(I::)r;atncial assets at amortized 7,877 219,649 8774 207,120

- Credit spread
- - - - - Prepayment rates
- Interest rate yield

Loans and advances to
central banks

Loans and advances to credit Present-value method - Credit spread

TR 80 9,247 115 8,252 (Discounted future cash - Prepayment rates
institutions :
flows) - Interest rate yield
Loans and advances to - Credit spread
1,416 209,856 2,753 198,213 - Prepayment rates
customers i
- Interest rate yield
. - Credit spread
Debt securities 6,381 547 5,907 655 .
- Interest rate yield
LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities at

. 267,589 683 244,488 286
amortized cost

Deposits from central banks — — — —
Deposits from credit

institutions 20,210 - 14,926 Present-value method - Issuer’s credit risk
Deposits from customers 234,380 521 214,534 87 (Discounted future cash - Prepayment rates
flows) - Interest rate yield
Debt certificates 3,084 162 3,273 199
Other financial liabilities 9,915 — 1,756 —
7. Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits

The breakdown of the balance under the heading “Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits” in the
accompanying balance sheets is as follows

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021
Cash on hand 972 830
Cash balances at central banks 49,854 36,566
Other demand deposits 2,147 1,424

(1) The variation is mainly due to an increase in balances at the Bank of Spain
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8. Financial assets and liabilities held for trading

8.1 Breakdown of the balance

The breakdown of the balance under these headings in the accompanying balance sheets is as follows:

Financial assets and liabilities held-for-trading (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021
ASSETS

Derivatives 35,023 28,389
Equity instruments 522 3,361 15,146
Credit institutions 286 965
Other sectors 2,536 13,141
Shares in the net assets of mutual funds 539 1,040
Debt securities 522 1,318 11,546
Issued by central banks — —
Issued by public administrations 9,225 9,265
Issued by financial institutions 759 493
Other debt securities 1,333 1,788
Loans and advances 522 41,690 50,310
Loans and advances to central banks 1,632 3,467
Reverse repurchase agreement 1,632 3,467
Loans and advances to credit institutions 23,969 31,300
Reverse repurchase agreement 23,938 31,286
Loans and advances to customers 16,089 15,543
Reverse repurchase agreement 15,791 15,262
Total assets 6.1 91,391 105,391

LIABILITIES
Derivatives 30,954 27,054
Short positions 11,408 13,148
Deposits 38,492 37,657
Deposits from central banks 2,161 8,946
Repurchase agreement 2,161 8,946
Deposits from credit institutions 28,107 14,821
Repurchase agreement 27,738 14,260
Customer deposits 8,224 13,890
Repurchase agreement 8,116 13,740

Total liabilities

(1) The variation is mainly due to the evolution of exchange rate derivatives.

(2) The variation is mainly due to sales for the first six months of the year.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 “Short positions” include €10,602 and €12,348 million, respectively, held with general
governments.

8.2 Derivatives

The derivatives portfolio arises from the Bank's need to manage the risks it is exposed to in the normal course of business and also to
market products amongst the Bank's customers. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, trading derivatives were mainly contracted in
over-the-counter (OTC) markets, with counterparties, consisting primarily of credit institutions and other financial corporations, and
are related to foreign-exchange, interest-rate and equity risk.

Below is a breakdown by type of risk and market, of the fair value and notional amounts of derivatives recognized in the
accompanying balance sheets, divided into organized and OTC markets:
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Derivatives by type of risk / by product or by type of market (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Assets Liabilities am::r?to-n'?:)tal Assets Liabilities amtr:::to-n'?:)tal
Interest rate 14,685 1,327 4,016,211 14,595 12,304 3,680,441
oTC 14,685 1,327 4,010,398 14,595 12,304 3,664,808
Organized market — — 5,814 — — 15,633
Equity instruments 3,125 2,803 75,457 2,780 3,435 72,025
oTC 1,869 1,161 52,245 758 1,245 48,469
Organized market 1,256 1,642 23,211 2,023 2,190 23,556
Foreign exchange and gold 16,920 16,542 627,899 10,777 11,061 564,167
oTC 16,920 16,542 627,899 10,777 11,061 564,167
Organized market — — — — — —
Credit 293 282 41,704 236 254 18,081
Credit default swap 293 282 41,704 236 254 18,081
Credit spread option — — — — — —
Total return swap — — — — — —
Other — — — — — —
Commodities - - - - - -
Other - - - - - -
DERIVATIVES 35,023 30,954 4,761,271 28,389 27,054 4,334,714
Of which: OTC - credit
institutions 23,370 22,269 1,041,648 18,686 19,969 937,429
Of which: OTC - other
financial corporations 7,042 3,192 3,573,051 4,893 2,270 3,247,925
Of which: OTC - other 3,356 3,851 117,647 2,788 2,626 110,172
9. Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss

The breakdown of the balance under this heading in the accompanying balance sheets is as follows:

Non-trading financial assets mandatorily at fair value through profit or loss (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021
Equity instruments 522 438 172
Debt securities 522 107 125
Loans and advances to customers 522 — 140
Total 6.1 546 437

(1) In 2022 an agreement was announced with Neon Payments Limited for the subscription of preferred shares representing approximately 21.7% of its share capital. Despite
owning more than 20% of the share capital, BBVA's ability to influence the financial and operating policy decisions of this company is very limited, and therefore this shareholding
has been recorded under this caption.

10. Financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 there was no balance in the heading “Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or
loss, has no balance (See Note 5.2.2).

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021 the heading “Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss" included customer
deposits for an amount of €1,859 and €2,238 million respectively.

The recognition of assets and liabilities in these headings is made to reduce inconsistencies (asymmetries) in the valuation of those
operations and those used to manage their risk.
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1. Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

11.1. Breakdown of the balance

The breakdown of the balance by the main financial instruments in the accompanying balance sheets is as follows:

Financial assets designated at fair value through other comprehensive income (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021

Equity instruments 522 977 1,103
Debt securities 23,877 27,102
Total 6.1 24,854 28,205
Of which: loss allowances of debt securities 21) (5)

During financial years 2022 and 2021, there have been no significant reclassifications from the heading “Financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income” to other headings or from other headings to “Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income”.

11.2. Equity instruments

The breakdown of the balance under the heading "Equity instruments" of the accompanying financial statements as of December 31,
2022 and 2021, is as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. Equity instruments (Millions of Euros)

2021 2020
Unrealized Unrealized Fair Unrealized Unrealized .
Cost . Cost . Fair value
gains losses value gains losses

Listed equity instruments
Spanish companies shares 2,215 - (1,269) 946 2,215 - (1,138) 1,077
Foreign companies shares — — — — — — — —

Subtotal listed equity instruments (1,138) 1,077

Unlisted equity instruments

Spanish companies shares 5 6 - n 4 6 - 10
Credit institutions — — — — — — — —
Other entities 5 6 . N 4 6 — 10
Foreign companies shares 9 n — 20 9 7 — 16
The United States — — — — — — —
Other countries 9 n — 20 9 7 — 16
Subtotal unlisted equity instruments 14 17 = 31 13 13 = 26

Total 2,229 17 (1,269) 977 2,228 13 RED) 1,103
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11.3. Debt securities

The breakdown of the balance under the heading “Debt securities” of the accompanying financial statements as of December 31,
2022 and 2021, broken down by issuers, is as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income. Debt securities (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
cost gains losses value cost gains losses value
Domestic debt
securities
Government and other 10,675 45 (466) 10,254 8,396 302 — 8698
government agency
Central banks — — — — — — —
Credit institutions 222 2 - 224 422 4 — 426
Other issuers 146 2 m 147 206 4 m 209
Subtotal 11,043 49 (467) 10,625 9,024 310 (1) 9,333
Foreign debt
securities
Mexico 160 1 M 160 195 3 - 198
Government and other
— — — — 21 — — 21
government agency
Central banks — — — — — — — —
Credit institutions — — — — — — — —
Other issuers 160 1 m 160 174 3 — 177
The United States 3,472 21 (235) 3,258 2,433 36 14) 2,455
Government and other 1,647 - 233) 1414 957 5 a4) 948
government agency
Central banks — — — — — — — —
Credit institutions 55 1 — 56 85 2 — 87
Other issuers 1,770 20 2) 1,788 1,391 29 — 1,420
Other countries 9,867 75 (108) 9,834 14,961 167 (12) 15,116
Other foreign
governments and 6,373 48 9N 6,330 11,435 116 an 11,540
government agency
Central banks 89 — — 89 106 — — 106
Credit institutions 715 2 2) 715 772 10 — 782
Other issuers 2,690 25 15) 2,700 2,648 41 m 2,688
Subtotal 13,499 97 (344) 13,252 17,589 206 (26) 17,769

Total 24,542 146 (811) 23,877 26,613 516 (4)) 27,102
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The credit ratings of the issuers of debt securities as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, are as follows:

Debt securities by rating

2022 2021
Fair value % Fair value %
(Millions of Euros) (Millions of Euros)

AAA 1,469 6.2% 1,015 3.7%
AA+ 80 0.4% 180 0.7%
AA 289 1.2% 376 1.4%
AA- 220 0.9% 148 0.6%
A+ 3,527 14.7 % 5,773 21.3%
A 1,282 5.4% 1,163 4.3%
A- 1,437 47.9% 9,506 35.1%
BBB+ 1,192 5.0% 1,541 5.7%
BBB 4,138 17.4% 7110 26.2%
BBB- nz 0.5% 151 0.6%
BB+ or below 9 —% — —%
Unclassified 18 0.5% 141 0.5%
Total 23,877 100.0% 27,102 100.0%

11.4. Gains/losses

The changes in the gains/losses (net of taxes) in December 31, 2022 and 2021 of debt securities recognized under the equity heading
“Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) — Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss — Fair value changes of debt
instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” and equity instruments recognized under the equity
heading “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) — Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss —Fair value changes of
equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income” in the accompanying balance sheets are as follows:

Other comprehensive income - Changes in the gains / losses (Millions of Euros)

Debt securities Equity instruments
Notes
2022 2021 2022 2021
Balance at the beginning 342 352 (1,127) (1,294)
Valuation gains and losses (1,148) 49 129) 167
Amounts transferred to income 4) (63) — —
Income tax and other 346 4 — —
Other reclassifications — — — —
Balance at the end 27 (464) 342 (1,256) (1,127)

In 2022 and 2021, equity instruments presented a decrease of €129 million and a increase of €167 million, respectively, in the heading
“Gains and losses from valuation - Accumulated other comprehensive income - Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss -
Fair value changes of equity instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income”, mainly due to changes in
Telefonica's share price.
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12. Financial assets at amortized cost

12.1.Breakdown of the balance

The breakdown of the balance under this heading in the balance sheets, according to the nature of the financial instrument, is as
follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021

Debt securities 25,313 22,312
Government 24,016 21,110
Credit institutions 220 17
Other financial and non-financial corporations 1,077 1,185
Loans and advances to central banks 10 254
Loans and advances to credit institutions 9,329 8,371
Reverse repurchase agreements 1,429 150
Other loans and advances 7,900 8,221
Loans and advances to customers 5.2.2 212,297 200,339
Government 12,697 12,974
Other financial corporations 11,507 9,554
Non-financial corporations 94,332 82,629
Other 93,761 95,182
Total 6.1 246,950 231,276
Of which: impaired assets of loans and advances to customers 525 7,461 8,137

Of which: loss allowances of loans and advances 525 (4,830) (5,254)

Of which: loss allowances of debt securities (6) (8)

During financial years 2022 and 2021, there have been no significant reclassifications from the heading “Financial assets at amortized
cost” to other headings or from other headings to “Financial assets at amortized cost”.
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12.2. Debt securities

The breakdown of the balance under the heading “Debt securities” in the balance sheets, according to the issuer of the debt
securities, is as follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost. Debt securities (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
cost gains losses value cost gains losses value

Domestic debt securities

Government and other government
agencies 18,379 10 (1,330) 17,059 17,681 1,326 @) 19,000
Central banks - - — - - - — -

Credit institutions — — _
Other issuers 144 1 (18) 127 337 10 (6) 341

Subtotal 18,523 Ll (1,348) 17,186 18,018 1,336 (<)) 19,341
Foreign debt securities

The United States 1,891 - (%] 1,884 29 - - 28
Government and other government

agencies 1,860 — 5) 1,855 — — — —
Central banks — — — — — — — —
Credit institutions 19 — Q) 17 17 — — 17
Other issuers 12 — m n n — — n
Other countries 4,899 n (313) 4,597 4,265 289 (V) 4,554
Other foreign governments and

government agencies 3,777 3 (299) 3,481 3,429 257 1) 3,686
Central banks — — — — — — — —
Credit institutions 202 — 2 200 — — — —
Other issuers 920 8 12) 917 836 32 — 868
Subtotal 6,790 Ll (320) 6,481 4,294 289 (V) 4,582
Total 25,313 22 (1,668) 23,667 22,312 1,625 () 23,923

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the distribution according to the credit quality (ratings) of the issuers of debt securities classified
as financial assets at amortized cost, was as follows:

Debt securities by rating

2022 2021

Carrying amount % Carrying amount %

(Millions of Euros) (Millions of Euros)
AAA 2,634 10.0% - —%
AA+ 172 1.0% 16 0.1%
AA — —% - —%
AA- — —% - —%
A+ — —% — —%
A 501 2.0% 569 2.6%
A- 17,032 67.0% 16,300  73.1%
BBB+ 1,006 4.0% 1,008 45%
BBB 3,656 12.0% 3,685 16.5%
BBB- 101 —% 332 1.5%
BB+ or below 233 3.0% 277 1.2%
Unclassified 79 —% 126 0.6%
Total 25,314 100.0% 22,312 100.0%
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12.3. Loans and advances to customers
The breakdown of the balance under this heading in the accompanying balance sheets, according to their nature, is as follows:

Loans and advances to customers (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
On demand and short notice 284 242
Credit card debt 2,674 2,478
Trade receivables 21,604 15,818
Finance leases 5,491 5,039
Reverse repurchase agreements 102 2
Other term loans 177,642 171,272
Advances that are not loans 4,500 5,488
Total 212,297 200,339

The heading “Financial assets at amortized cost — Loans and advances to customers” in the balance sheets also includes certain
secured loans that, as mentioned in Appendix X and pursuant to the Mortgage Market Act, are linked to long-term mortgage covered
bonds.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 41,2% and 39.2%, respectively, of "Loans and advances to customers" with maturity greater than
one year have fixed-interest rates and 58,8% and 60.8%, respectively, have variable interest rates.

This heading also includes some loans that have been securitized and not derecognized since the risks or substantial benefits related
to them are retained because the Bank granted subordinated loans or other types of credit enhancements that substantially keep all
the expected credit losses for the transferred asset or the probable variation of its net cash flows. The balances recognized in the
accompanying balance sheets corresponding to these securitized loans are as follows:

Securitized loans (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Securitized mortgage assets 23,290 23,664
Other securitized assets 5,495 6,546
Total 28,784 30,210

13. Hedging derivatives and fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges
of interest rate risk

The balance of these headings in the accompanying balance sheets is as follows:

Derivatives — Hedge accounting and fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedge of interest rate risk
(Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
ASSETS
Derivatives — Hedge accounting 1,169 841
Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk (148) 5
LIABILITIES
Derivatives — Hedge accounting 2,599 2,126

Fair value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk — —
As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the main positions hedged by the Bank and the derivatives designated to hedge those positions
were:

—  Fair value hedging:

a. Fixed-interest debt securities at fair value through other comprehensive income and at amortized cost: The interest
rate risk of these securities is hedged using interest rate derivatives (fixed-variable swaps) and forward sales.

b. Long-term fixed-interest debt securities issued by the Bank: the interest rate risk of these securities is hedged using
interest rate derivatives (fixed-variable swaps).

c. Fixed-interest loans: The equity price risk of these instruments is hedged using interest rate derivatives (fixed-variable
swaps).
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d. Fixed-interest and/or embedded derivative deposit portfolio hedges: it covers the interest rate risk through fixed-
variable swaps. The valuation of the borrowed deposits corresponding to the interest rate risk is in the heading "Fair
value changes of the hedged items in portfolio hedges of interest rate risk”.

—  Cash-flow hedges: Most of the hedged items are floating interest-rate loans and asset hedges linked to the inflation of the
amortized cost portfolio and the financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income portfolio. This risk is
hedged using foreign-exchange, interest-rate swaps, inflation and FRA (Forward Rate Agreement).

—  Net foreign-currency investment hedges: These hedged risks are foreign-currency investments in the Group's foreign
subsidiaries. This risk is hedged mainly with foreign-exchange options and forward currency sales and purchases.

Note 5 analyzes the Bank’'s main risks that are hedged using these financial instruments..

The details of the net positions by hedged risk of the fair value of the hedging derivatives recognized in the accompanying balance

sheets are as follows:

Derivatives - Hedge accounting. Breakdown by type of risk and type of hedge. (Millions of Euros)

2022

2021

Assets

Liabilities

Assets

Liabilities

Interest rate

576

138

553

273

oTC
Organized market
Equity instruments

576

138

553

273

Foreign exchange and gold

Credit

Commodities

Other

FAIR VALUE HEDGES

576

138

553

273

Interest rate

373

2,426

72

1,562

oTC

Organized market

Equity instruments
Foreign exchange and gold

373

2,426

72

1,562

oTC
Organized market
Credit

Commodities

Other

CASH FLOW HEDGES

373

2,426

72

1,562

HEDGE OF NET INVESTMENTS IN A FOREIGN
OPERATION

213

26

198

196

PORTFOLIO FAIR VALUE HEDGES OF INTEREST
RATE RISK

18

95

PORTFOLIO CASH FLOW HEDGES OF INTEREST
RATE RISK

DERIVATIVES-HEDGE ACCOUNTING

1,169

2,599

841

2,126

Of which: OTC - credit institutions
Of which: OTC - other financial corporations
Of which: OTC - other

1,091
78
415

2,228
371

646
195

1,796
330
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Below there is a breakdown of the items covered by fair value hedges:

Hedged items in fair value hedges (Millions of Euros)

Remaining adjustments

for discontinued micro Hedged items in
hedges including portfolio hedge of
H)edges of net positions interest rate risk

Hedge adjustments
included in the carrying
amount of assets/
liabilities

Carrying amount

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
ASSETS

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 4,331 7,796 (384) 228 - - 1,179 1,997

Interest rate 4,331 7.796 (384) 228 _ 1179 1,997
LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities measured at amortized costs 31,564 19,492 1,314 (682)

(1) The balance of discontinued hedges is not significant.

1,881 18,133 (1,007) (75) - - - -

The following is the breakdown, by their notional maturities, of the hedging instruments as of December 31, 2022

Calendar of the notional maturities of the hedging instruments (Millions of Euros)

3 months or From 3 months From1to5 Morethan5

Total
less to 1year years years

FAIR VALUE HEDGES 2,455 5,462 25,616 12,342 45,875
Of which: Interest rate 2,455 5,462 25,616 12,342 45,875
CASH FLOW HEDGES 4,430 17,900 23,482 2,625 48,437
Of which: Interest rate 4,430 17,900 23,482 2,625 48,437
HEDGE OF NET INVESTMENTS IN A FOREIGN
OPERATION 5,292 4,738 — — 10,030
PORTFOLIO FAIR VALUE HEDGES OF
INTEREST RATE RISK 87 27 1.609 1.067 2,790
PORTFOLIO CASH FLOW HEDGES OF _ _ _ _ _
INTEREST RATE RISK
DERIVATIVES-HEDGE ACCOUNTING 12,264 28,127 50,707 16,034 107,132

In 2022 and 2021, there was no reclassification in the accompanying income statements of any amount corresponding to cash flow
hedges that was previously recognized in equity (see Note 37).

The amount for derivatives designated as accounting hedges that did not pass the effectiveness test in the years ended December 31,
2022 and 2021 were not material.

IBOR Reform

The transition from IBOR indices to the new risk free rates (RFR) (see Note 5.3.3) may cause uncertainty about the future of some
references or its impact on the contracts held by an entity, which could cause uncertainty about the term or the amounts of the cash
flows of the hedged instrument or the hedging instrument. Due to such uncertainties, in the period before the benchmark rate reform
actually takes place, some entities may be forced to discontinue hedge accounting, or not be able to designate new hedging
relationships.

To avoid this, Circular 5/2020, in line with the international accounting standards issued, made a series of transitory modifications to
those providing temporary exceptions to the application of certain specific hedge accounting requirements that are applicable to all
hedging relationships that are affected by the uncertainty derived from the IBOR Reform. These exceptions should end once the
uncertainty is resolved (rates to be modified according to the new RFRs) or the hedge ceases to exist.
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The nominal amount of the hedging instruments for hedging relationships directly affected by the IBOR reform as of December 31,
2022 is the following:

Hedges affected by the IBOR reform (Millions of Euros)
LIBOR USD LIBOR GBP Other Total

Cash flow hedges

Fair value hedges 1,453 316 — 1,769

14. Investments in joint ventures and associates

14.1. Investments in subsidiaries

The heading “Investments in subsidiaries, joint venture and associates- Subsidiaries” in the accompanying balance sheets includes
the carrying amount of the shares of companies forming part of the BBVA Group. The percentages of direct and indirect ownership
and other relevant information on these companies are provided in Appendix II.

The breakdown, by currency and listing status, of this heading in the accompanying balance sheets is as follows:

Investments in subsidiaries (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021

Subsidiaries
By currency 37,621 33,970
In euros 19,933 18,829
In foreign currencies 17,688 15,141
By share price 37,621 33,970
Listed 8,037 6,567
Unlisted 29,584 27,403
Loss allowances (15,977) (16,744)

Garanti Bank
During 2022 and 2021 the negative evolution of the Turkish economy has caused a depreciation of the Turkish lira.

In accordance with the accounting standards applicable to individual financial statements, the Bank maintains a stake in Garanti
BBVA A.S. valued at historical cost (weighted average price in euros of the different acquisitions made since 2011) and at each closing
the recoverability of the investment in euros is evaluated in the event of signs of impairment.

At the end of 2021, BBVA estimated that there was an impairment in the stake in Garanti BBVA A.S. and that affected the individual
financial statements of the Bank as of December 31, 2021. This estimate had a net negative impact on the individual result of the Bank
of €877 million, mainly due to the depreciation of the Turkish Lira and the Net Equity of the Bank was reduced by the same amount. At
the end of the 2022 financial year, however, although the Turkish lira continued to depreciate, the shares acquired in the voluntary
tender offer of May 18, 2022 at a price below BBVA's average book value, together with the Garanti's good performance and good
growth expectations in Turkey have led to a recovery of part of the impairment previously recorded. This recovery has had a positive
impact on the Bank's individual result of €647 million. Thus, as of December 31, 2022, the total impairment of the stake in Garanti is
€2,577 million.

These impairments or recoveries of the interest in the Bank's individual financial statements had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the BBVA Group, since foreign currency translation differences are recorded under the heading "Other
accumulated comprehensive income" of the Group's Consolidated Net Equity, in accordance with the accounting standards
applicable to the consolidated financial statements, therefore the depreciation of the Turkish Lira was already recorded, reducing the
consolidated Total Equity of the Group.
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Movements

The changes in 2022 and 2021 in the balance under this heading in the balance sheets, disregarding the balance of the loss
allowances, are as follows:

Investments in subsidiaries: changes in the year (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Balance at the beginning 33,970 33,755
Acquisitions and capital increases 3,444 103
Merger transactions — —
Disposals and capital reductions (943) (403)
Transfers — 467
Exchange differences and others 1,150 48
Balance at the end 37,621 33,970

(1) In 2022, the movement corresponded mainly to refunds of contributions from Anida Grupo Inmobiliario, S.L. in the amount of €269 million, PECRI Inversién, S.L. in the amount
of €155 million, Catalunya Caixa Inmobiliaria, S.A. Unipersonal in the amount of 111 million euros, Unnim Sociedad para la Gestion de Activos Inmobiliarios, S.A. Unipersonal in the
amount of €87 million and BBV América S.L. in the amount of €79 million..

Changes in the holdings in Group entities

The most notable transactions performed in 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

Significant transactions in 2022

Investments

Purchase of Tree Inversiones Inmobiliarias SOCIMI, S.A. (Tree) to Merlin Properties SOCIMI, S.A

On June 15, 2022, BBVA acquired from Merlin Properties SOCIMI, S.A., the shares representing the entire share capital of Tree
Inversiones Inmobiliarias SOCIMI, S.A (hereinafter, “Tree") for an amount of €1,988 million. This company has 662 properties leased
to BBVA S.A., which were part of the group of properties that BBVA sold between 2009 and 2010 under a sale and leaseback contract
and which are registered as “Rights of use” in the assets of the Balance of BBVA and, in liabilities, the payment obligation is reflected
in the heading "Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Other financial liabilities", in accordance with Regulation 33 of Bank of Spain

Circular 4/2017.

BBVA has recorded the purchase of this company under the heading "Investments in Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates" in
Assets on the Balance Sheet for its cost, which amounts to €1,988 million.

Also, given that BBVA maintains the lease contract with Tree, it continues to reflect the right of use and the lease liability for the lease
contract it maintains with it, as it had been doing up to now.

Voluntary takeover bid for the entire share capital of Turkiye Garanti Bankasi A.S (Garanti BBVA)

On November 15, 2021, BBVA announced a voluntary takeover bid (hereinafter "VTB") addressed to the 2,106,300,000 shares' not
controlled by BBVA, which represented 50.15% of the total share capital of Turkiye Garanti Bankasi A.S (hereinafter "Garanti BBVA").
BBVA submitted for authorization an application of the VTB to the supervisor of the securities markets in Turkey (Capital Markets
Board, hereinafter "CMB") on November 18, 2021.

On March 31, 2022, CMB approved the offer information document and on the same day BBVA announced the commencement of the
VTB acceptance period on April 4, 2022. On April 25, 2022 BBVA informed of an increase of the cash offer price per Garanti BBVA
share from that initially announced (12.20 Turkish lira) to 15.00 Turkish lira.

On May 18, 2022, BBVA announced the finalization of the offer acceptance period, with the acquisition of 36.12% of Garanti BBVA's
share capital. The total amount paid by BBVA was approximately 22,758 million Turkish lira (equivalent to approximately €1,390
million? including the expenses associated with the transaction and net of the collection of the dividends corresponding to the stake
acquired).

Following the completion of the VTB on May 18, the percentage of the total share capital of Garanti BBVA owned by BBVA is 85.97%.
Significant transactions in 2021

Divestitures

Sale of BBVA's U.S. subsidiary to PNC Financial Service Group

! All references to “shares” or “share” shall be deemed made to lots of 100 shares, which is the trading unit in which Garanti BBVA shares are listed at Borsa Istanbul.
Using the effective exchange rate of 16.14 Turkish lira per euro.
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On June 1, 2021, after obtaining all the required authorizations, BBVA completed the sale to The PNC Financial Services Group, Inc. of
100% of the capital stock of its subsidiary BBVA USA Bancshares, Inc., which in turn owned all the capital stock of the bank, BBVA
USA.

The consideration received in cash by BBVA, as a consequence of the referred sale, amounted to approximately USD 11,500 million
(price provided in the agreement minus the agreed closing price adjustments) equivalent to approximately €9,600 million (with an
exchange rate of 1.20 EUR / USD).

BBVA continues to develop an institutional and wholesale business in the United States that it currently carries out through its broker-
dealer BBVA Securities Inc. and the New York branch. BBVA also maintains its investment activity in the fintech sector through its
participation in Propel Venture Partners US Fund I, L.P.

Sale of the BBVA Group's stake in Paraguay

On January 22, 2021 and once the mandatory authorizations were obtained, BBVA completed the sale of its direct and indirect
shareholding of 100% of the capital stock of Banco Bilbao Vizcaya Argentaria Paraguay, S.A. ("BBVA Paraguay”) to Banco GNB
Paraguay S.A., a subsidiary of the Gilinski Group.

The total amount received by BBVA amounted to approximately USD 250 million (approximately €210 million). The transaction has
generated a capital loss net of taxes of approximately €9 million. However, this transaction has a positive impact on the Common

Equity Tier 1 (fully loaded) of the BBVA Group of approximately 6 basis points, which is reflected in the capital base of the BBVA
Group in the first half of 2021.

14.2. Investments in joint ventures and associates

The breakdown, by currency and listings status, of this heading in the accompanying balance sheets is as follows:

Joint ventures and associates (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Associates
By currency 585 536
In euros 280 302
In foreign currencies 305 234
By share price 585 536
Listed 249 272
Unlisted 336 264
Loss allowances (305) (311)
Subtotal 280 225
Joint ventures
By currency 36 55
In euros 36 55
In foreign currencies — —
By share price 36 55
Listed — —
Unlisted 36 55
Loss allowances — (1)

Subtotal 36 54
Total 316 279

The investments in associates as of December 31, 2022 as well as the most important data related to them, can be seen in Appendix
M.

The following is a summary of the gross changes in 2022 and 2021 under this heading in the accompanying balance sheets:

Joint ventures and associates: changes in the year (Millions of Euros)

2022 2021
Balance at the beginning 591 1,158
Acquisitions and capital increases 72 28
Disposals and capital reductions 42) (50)
Transfers - (545)

Exchange differences and others — —
Balance at the end (4] 591
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During the 2021 financial year, the most significant changes under the heading "Investment in joint ventures and associates"
corresponds to the sale of the 20% stake in Divarian Property SA, which was previously reclassified under the heading "Non-current
assets and disposal groups that have been classified as held for sale" in July 2021 and sold in October 2021

14.3. Notifications about acquisition of holdings

Appendix IV provides notifications on acquisitions and disposals of holdings in associates or jointly-controlled entities, in compliance
with Article 155 of the Corporations Act and Article 125 of the Securities Market Act 4/2015.

14.4. Impairment

The breakdown of the changes in loss allowances in 2022 and 2021 under this heading is as follows:

Impairment (Millions of Euros)

Notes 2022 2021
Balance at the beginning 17,057 16,532
Increase in loss allowances charged to income 43 56 933
Decrease in loss allowances credited to income 43 (698) 22)
Companies held for sale — (25)
Amount used (133) (361)
Balance at the end 16,282 17,057

(1) During the year 2021, the movement corresponded mainly to the transfer of the impairment of the 20% stake in Divarian Property, S.A.U. as a result of their reclassification
under the heading "Non-current assets and disposal groups that have been classified as held for sale" in July 2021 and their subsequent sale in October 2021.

15. Tangible assets

The breakdown and movement of the balance and changes of this heading in the accompanying balance sheets, according to the
nature of the related items, is as follows:

Tangible assets. Breakdown by type of assets and changes in the year 2022 (Millions of Euros)
Right to use asset

Landand Work in Furniture, Tangible Investment  Investment  Total
Notes o Fixtures and asset of own ) )
Buildings Progress N Properties Properties
Vehicles use

Revalued cost

Balance at the beginning

Additions 1 1 59 285 19 - 365
Retirements - (@) (103) (22) — —  (126)
Transfers (20) (@) (55) (32) 33 2) 77)

Exchange difference and other — — — — — — _

Balance at the end

Accrued depreciation

Balance at the beginning 185 — 2,180 592 46 2 3,005
Additions 40 12 — 88 190 18 - 308
Retirements — — (99) 19) — — (M8)
Transfers (10) — (35) 5) 5 — (45)
Exchange difference and other - - 2 — — — 2
Balance at the end 187 — 2,136 758 69 2 3,152
Impairment

Balance at the beginning 70 — — a7 34 6 527
Additions 44 - - 4 34 16 - 54
Retirements 44 — — — (75) — — (75)
Transfers - - - @ - M ®)
Exchange difference and other - - (4) — — — 4)
Balance at the end 70 — — 369 50 5 494
Net tangible assets

Balance at the beginning 792 1 520 2,083 81 6 3,482

Balance at the end 771 — 465 2,196 94 5 3,531



95

Translation of Financial Statements originally issued in Spanish and prepared in accordance with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, and as amended thereafter,
which adapts the EU-IFRS for banks (see notes 1 to 51). In the event of a discrepancy, the original Spanish-language version prevails.

Tangible assets. Breakdown by type of assets and changes in the year 2021 (Millions of Euros)
Right to use asset

Landand  Workin Furniture, Tangible Investment  Investment  Total
Notes P, Fixtures and asset of own . N
Buildings Progress Vehicles use Properties Properties

Revalued cost

Balance at the beginning

Additions 1 - 55 124 1 - 181
Retirements — Q) (222) (54) — — 277)
Transfers (109) - (26) (35) 35 2) (137)
Exchange difference and other — — 5 — — — 5
Balance at the end 1,047 1 2,700 3,092 161 14 7,015
Accrued depreciation

Balance at the beginning 193 — 2,301 414 26 2 2,936
Additions 40 14 — 96 195 15 — 320
Retirements — — (204) an — — (215)
Transfers (22) — (16) 5) 5 — (38)
Exchange difference and other — — 3 — — - 3
Balance at the end 185 — 2